
  DNO 2012 // 1

DNO INTERNATIONAL ASA 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 

2012

2P RESERVES (MMboe)

SALES (NOK million)

2,842

2011 201220102009

500

1 000

1 500

2 000

2 500

3 000 

520.3

38,354
PRODUCTION (boepd)

“We are thrilled to have 
surpassed the billion NOK 

mark in net profits”
 Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani,  

DNO’s Executive Chairman.

THE KURDISTAN REGION OF IRAQ,  
THE REPUBLIC OF YEMEN, THE 

SULTANATE OF OMAN, THE UNITED 
ARAB EMIRATES, THE TUNISIAN

REPUBLIC AND SOMALILAND.

18 LICENSES

1 5
  8 OFFICES

GROSS PROFIT (NOK million)

OPERATOR-
SHIPS

1,040
NET PROFIT/-LOSS (NOK million)

800

1 000

1 200

600

400

-200

0

200

2009 2010 2011 2012

846
WORKFORCE

COUNTRIES CONTINENTS

8 3

SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT

40%

20%

0%

-20%

MARCH MAY JULY SEP NOV

DNO OSLO BØRS BENCHMARK INDEX_GI



Content

Highlights
DNO delivered record financial results in 2012, driven primarily by strong 
 production performance at the Company’s assets in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, 
Oman and  Yemen. During the period, we further consolidated our position as a 
leading operator in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and expanded gross production 
capacity at the world class Tawke field to 100,000 bopd. In Oman, we success-
fully drilled two new production wells that more than doubled daily output at 
the West Bukha field. In Yemen and Ras Al Khaimah we continued to make good 
progress with our ongoing production and development work programs. 

The Company also recorded significant exploration and appraisal (E&A) drilling 
success in 2012 at its assets in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, helping grow net 
company working interest (CWI) 2P reserves to 520.3 MMboe at year-end. 

DNO combines proven operational capabilities with a track record of delivery, 
 financial strength and a strong regional identity. This puts DNO in an excellent 
 position to capitalize on future organic and inorganic growth opportunities, 
and further establish itself as a leading Middle East and North Africa (MENA) 
 focused independent exploration and production (E&P) company.

Highlights 2
Key figures 3
Board of directors 4
Board of directors report 5
Consolidated accounts 18
Parent company accounts 56
Auditors report 68

2 // DNO 2012

Highlights
2012 Results

2 // DNO 2012



  DNO 2012 // 3

Condensed tables Key figures

NOK mill 2012 2011

Statement of comprehensive income  
Sales 2,841.8 2,070.2
Gross profit 1,629.2 904.5
Profit from operating activities 1,416.9 657.7
Net profit 1,039.6 653.2

Statement of financial position  
Non-current assets 4,918.3 3,000.7
Current assets 2,424.6 2,035.8
Total assets 7,343.0 5,036.5
Equity 4,013.3 2,157.7
Non-current liabilities 2,293.4 1,634.9
Current liabilities 1,036.2 1,243.9
Equity and liabilities 7,343.0 5,036.5

Cash flow  
Net cash from operating activities 1,582.8 879.2
Net cash from/-used in investing activities -1,256.3 134.2
Net cash from/-used in financing activities -386.4 -776.3
Net increase/-decrease in cash -60.0 237.1
Cash at beginning of the period 1,644.8 1,384.7
Exchange gain/-losses on cash -76.6 23.0
Cash at end of the period 1,508.1 1,644.8

NOK mill 2012 2011

Key financials  
EBITDA 2,059.9 1,418.6
Netback 1,900.3 1,321.6
Acquisition and development cost 1,147.3 421.6
Exploration cost expensed 78.0 103.1
  
Production and reserves  
Gross production (boepd) 67,238 64,185
CWI production (boepd) 38,354 39,966
CWI reserves and resources (MMboe) 603.0 393.5
  
Key performance indicators  
Lifting cost (USD/bbl) 7.48 4.29
Netback (USD/bbl) 23.84 16.35

Key figures
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Introduction
2012 full-year results highlights
•	 Net profit of NOK 1,040 million from 

operating revenues of NOK 2,842 million, 
representing a set of record financial results 
for the Company

•	 Average full-year company working inter-
est production 38,354 boepd (operated 
production capacity increased to 85,000 
boepd net, 140,000 boepd gross)

•	 Exploration and development spending 
increased to NOK 1,225 million, fully funded 
from operating cash flow

•	 Conservative capital structure, with NOK 
1,508 million cash at bank and a net cash 
position of NOK 184 million at year-end

•	 Merger of RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA 
operating subsidiaries into DNO completed 

•	 Company working interest 2P reserves at 31 
December 2012 increased to 520.3 MMboe

Our vision and strategic priorities
DNO’s vision is to be a leading independent 
E&P company in each of the areas in which 
we operate, with our primary objective being 
to create value for all of our shareholders and 
other stakeholders. To achieve this we have 
identified key strategic priorities focused on 
running our business and delivering sustain-
able growth in a responsible way, namely:
•	 Increasing production strength and capa-

city through the development of our exist-
ing reserves base

•	 Creating organic reserves and contingent 
resource growth through a focused E&A 
drilling campaign 

•	 Maintaining operational control, financial 
flexibility and the efficient allocation of 
capital in line with DNO’s full-cycle business 
model to deliver growth at a low unit cost  

•	 Encouraging an entrepreneurial culture, 
retaining and attracting the best talent in 
the industry

•	 Pursuing materially accretive acquisitions
•	 Recognizing our corporate responsibili-

ties and effectively managing risks to the 
business
In 2012 and 2013 year-to-date, the Com-

pany has continued to make good progress 
against each of these strategic priorities. 

Production strength
Developing and growing DNO’s produc-
tion enables us to generate reliable cash 

flows for the Company. This in turn helps 
to ensure we have the necessary financial 
resources to execute our forward work 
program and capitalize on new business 
opportunities. In 2012 we achieved full year 
average company working interest (CWI) 
production of 38,354 boepd, and at the end 
of 2012 had established CWI production 
capacity of 85,000 boepd (140,000 boepd 
gross) across the Company’s portfolio. 
With CWI proved plus probable recoverable 
reserves of 520.3 MMboe, we have in place 
today a portfolio of production and devel-
opment assets capable of sustaining a long 
term outlook of production growth. 

Organic reserves  
and resource growth
Successful E&A drilling can be one of the 
most cost efficient methods of delivering sig-
nificant reserves growth and associated value 
creation, if done well and in a structured way. 
We aim to undertake our E&A activities on a 
sustainable and internally funded basis, and 
believe that it is important to have a prospect 
inventory that offers a balanced exposure to 
different play types and geologies that are 
independent of one another. 

At DNO, we focus our efforts on areas 
where we have an in-depth knowledge of 
the subsurface, playing to our technical and 
operational strengths as a fracture carbon-
ate specialist within the MENA region. The 
technical maturity of an asset is key to 
unwinding risk and uncertainty, and we seek 
to use available technologies to minimize 
pre-drill risks and maximize our chances of 
a successful drilling outcome. We also look 
to actively manage our portfolio from a risk/
reward perspective, and will benchmark each 
prospect in the context of the wider portfolio 
to make sure that capital deployed to E&A 
activities is allocated to only the opportuni-
ties that meet our technical, commercial and 
strategic requirements. 

DNO’s exploration credentials are clearly 
demonstrated through the success it has 
achieved in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and 
Yemen in particular. In 2013, we will actively 
continue to pursue selective E&A oppor-
tunities in high potential basins across the 
MENA region, with a clear focus on trans-
forming resources into reserves at a low unit 
cost. We made an encouraging start to our 
2013 drilling campaign with the Tawke-17 
(Tawke Deep) exploration well, and look 

forward to the outcome of our other current 
and planned wells throughout the remainder 
of the year.

Operational control  
and financial flexibility
DNO is an established operator of upstream 
oil and gas assets, and is able to bring a 
wealth of experience and leverage its track 
record in the role of operator. We operate 
over 80 percent of our asset base and have 
in place the necessary operational and finan-
cial management processes to safely deliver 
our work program, ensuring the optimal 
allocation of capital across the business. 

 As an agile independent company, it is 
important we maintain the financial strength 
and flexibility to fund the range of growth 
opportunities available to us, both organic 
and inorganic. In order to do this we will 
utilize available funding sources including 
operating cash flow and debt. 

In 2012, the Company delivered a net 
profit of NOK 1,040 million from operat-
ing revenues of NOK 2,842 million, a set of 
record financial results that emphasize the 
profitability of DNO’s underlying platform of 
producing assets. 

As at 31 December 2012 we had NOK 
1,508 million cash at bank and gross debt of 
NOK 1,325 million, representing a net cash 
position of NOK 184 million. Importantly, in 
2012 our capital investment program of NOK 
1,225 million was fully funded from internally 
generated cash flow and we expect our 2013 
investments to be similarly funded. 

During the period the Company achieved 
an average lifting cost of USD 7.48 per boe, 
indicating the excellent levels of operational 
efficiency with which our assets are man-
aged. On a three-year rolling average basis 
our finding and development (F&D) costs 
are USD 1.50 per boe, demonstrating the 
efficient deployment of DNO’s capital and 
ability to deliver growth at a low unit cost.

An entrepreneurial team culture
DNO’s growth and success revolves first and 
foremost around the quality and commit-
ment of our people. We are an entrepre-
neurial company with a flat organizational 
structure, which means we can make deci-
sions quickly, execute flexibly, and manage 
risk effectively in real time. We continued 
to grow the DNO team in 2012 to a total 
workforce of 846 people. We are committed 
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to developing local talent in each of our op-
erating areas, and will continually evolve our 
employment practices and policies to make 
sure all of our staff realize their full potential 
and that we attract and retain the very best 
talent in the industry. 

Mergers and acquisitions
In 2012, DNO completed the merger of RAK 
Petroleum PCL’s MENA operating subsidiaries 
into the Company. Following completion of the 
merger, a reorganization of the Company’s cor-
porate management structure was undertaken 
and key appointments made. This has created 
a larger, stronger and more diversified com-
pany that is now better positioned than ever to 
leverage the combined skills and talent of both 
teams to deliver market-leading growth. 

On 5 July 2012, DNO announced its inten-
tions to make an all cash offer to acquire 
Calgary based Calvalley Petroleum Inc. 
(Calvalley). Following meetings with members 
of the Calvalley Special Committee, and con-
tinued analysis of publicly available informa-
tion regarding Calvalley, DNO announced on 
23 August 2012 that it would not pursue any 
further the offer to acquire Calvalley. 

In addition to our organic growth ambi-
tions, DNO will actively seek to engage in 
mergers, acquisitions and consolidation of the 
upstream oil and gas sector throughout the 
MENA region in 2013 and beyond.

Corporate responsibility  
and risk management
One of our key priorities is to ensure that 
DNO is a responsible and transparent busi-
ness. We are committed to the highest 
standards of corporate governance, envi-
ronmental management, health and safety 
performance. We consider this critical for up-
holding the business integrity that allows us 
to work effectively across the MENA region.

Underpinning the business is a compre-
hensive risk management process, which is 
focused on the early identification of risks 
and the effective implementation of mitigat-
ing measures so we can continue to operate 
safely and effectively. At the same time, we 
continually map out our response and plans 
should events go wrong. We will continue 
to develop our risk management processes 
to ensure that DNO is fully equipped to deal 
with the constantly evolving operating and 
business environment of the upstream oil 
and gas industry.

Operations review
Annual statement of reserves
As at 31 December 2012, an independent 
reserves and resources evaluation report pre-
pared by international petroleum consultants 
DeGolyer and MacNaughton has confirmed 
DNO’s remaining 2P company working interest 
reserves to be 495.4 MMbbls of oil (including 
condensate and other liquids) and 140.1 Bcf of 
gas, equivalent in aggregate to 520.3 MMboe. 
These volumes represent the Company’s com-
mercial reserves, class 1-3, under the Norwe-
gian Petroleum Directorate classification. The 
equivalent figure as of 31 December 2011 was 
371.9 MMboe. The 40 percent year-on-year 
increase was mainly driven by an upward revi-
sion in estimates of the ultimately recoverable 
reserves at the Tawke field in the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq and reserve additions following 
the merger of RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA 
operating subsidiaries into the Company. The 
full Annual Statement of Reserves published in 
accordance with Oslo Stock Exchange Circular 
no. 9/2009 is available for download at the 
Company’s website (www.dno.no).

Kurdistan region of Iraq
EXPLORATION
Tawke license
The Peshkabir-1 exploration well reached a 
total depth of 4,092 meters during the first 
quarter of 2012. The well was targeting a 
large, separate structure located to the west 
of the producing Tawke field. Oil shows were 
encountered throughout Cretaceous, Jurassic 
and Triassic intervals, and six zones were 
tested. The Jurassic Sargelu formation tested 
27–29° API oil and water at varying rates of 
oil and water cut. The Triassic Kura Chine A 
and B intervals and the Cretaceous Mushora, 
Quamchuqa and Shiranish intervals produced 
formation water. A 200 km2 3D seismic acqui-
sition program was subsequently undertaken. 
This will provide important new information 
to influence the future E&A strategy at this 
exciting new discovery.

The dual-purpose Tawke-18 well was 
originally planned with an exploration tail 
to explore a previously undrilled area of the 
Tawke footwall section. This was in addition 
to being completed as a new Cretaceous 
production well. Due to drilling difficulties, 
the well was completed before reaching the 
footwall section, and successfully secured 

as a Cretaceous producer as planned during 
November 2012.

The Tawke-17 exploration well was spudded 
in the third quarter with the primary objec-
tive to test the deeper prospective resource 
potential of Jurassic and Triassic reservoirs 
underlying the currently productive Creta-
ceous intervals at the Tawke main structure. 
Gross unrisked prospective resources of 200 
to 300 MMboe have been ascribed to the 
target formations. A secondary objective 
of the well is to add additional Cretaceous 
production capacity. At 4,775 meters, the well 
is the deepest drilled by the Company in the 
Tawke field and has encountered oil and gas 
shows in the target formations. An extensive 
test program has been initiated and will focus 
on seven newly identified reservoir intervals 
with production potential. 

Dohuk license
Following the Summail oil and gas discovery 
made previously at the Dohuk license during 
May 2011, a 160 km2 3D seismic campaign 
covering the entire Summail structure was 
completed in June 2012. A Declaration of 
Commerciality and Appraisal Report were 
submitted to the Kurdistan Regional Govern-
ment (KRG) on 15 October 2012, and the 
Company is currently preparing a field devel-
opment plan (FDP) for a gas development.

We expect to drill additional wells to fur-
ther appraise both the Peshkabir and Sum-
mail discoveries in 2013 and future years.

 
APPRAISAL AND FIELD DEVELOPMENT
Tawke license
The Tawke-14, -16 and -19 wells have all been 
drilled as Cretaceous producers, but each also 
had an added exploration component to it. 

Tawke-14 was drilled as a producer on the 
Tawke North Flank, but the main well bore 
failed to encounter the targeted Cretaceous 
producing interval. The Tawke-14A sidetrack 
was subsequently kicked-off from a depth 
of 1,159 meters. It successfully reached the 
planned target depth of 2,587 meters in 
Cretaceous reservoir, and was completed as 
a producer. 

In March 2012, the Tawke-16 appraisal well 
successfully encountered a 350 meter gross 
oil column in the previously undrilled north 
flank area of the Tawke field, confirming sig-
nificant additional in place oil volumes at this 
location. The well was successfully tested at 
an aggregate gross rate in excess of 25,000 
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bopd of 26–27° API gravity oil from the tar-
geted Cretaceous reservoir intervals, proving 
to be the most productive well drilled on 
the field to date. The well was subsequently 
completed as a producer.

Tawke-19 is located at the central north flank 
area of the field, and was also drilled and suc-
cessfully completed as a Cretaceous producer.

Erbil license
The Benenan-3 well, which was completed in 
November 2012, encountered an additional 
210 meter oil column in the lower Najmeh 
reservoir, materially increasing the oil in place 
estimates for Benenan to between 600–700 
MMbbls. The Company now plans to complete 
the well as a deviated producer, capable of 
exploiting multiple intervals within the Najmeh 
formation and Bekhme formation.

At the Bastora field, the Bastora-1A well 
is currently undertaking a long-term test 
of the heavy oil potential in the Bekhme 
formation. The Benenan and Bastora field 
development program will continue with 
new wells in 2013.

 The Bastora-2 well is being drilled to 
appraise the Qamchuga reservoir and the 
planned Bastora-2A well will be drilled as a 
horizontal well to test the Bekhme reservoir. 
The Company also plans to drill the Ben-
enan-4 well to appraise the Najmeh reservoir 
that was successfully tested previously with 
the Benenan-3 well.

 
PRODUCTION
Gross full-year average daily production at 
the Tawke field was 45,477 bopd in 2012 
(28,466 bopd on a company working interest 
basis to DNO). 

On 1 April 2012, the Ministry of Natural 
Resources of the KRG instructed DNO to 
halt delivery of that portion of crude oil 
produced from the Tawke oil field that was 
destined for export through Turkey via the 
Iraqi national pipeline system. 

During July 2012, the Company reached 
agreement with the KRG to fully apply the 
fiscal terms and conditions of the Production 
Sharing Contract (PSC) covering the ongoing 
development of the Tawke license, replacing 
temporary arrangements that had been in 
place since the start up of production opera-
tions. Exports of crude oil from the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq subsequently recommenced 
during early August 2012 at an average gross 
rate of 40,000 bopd as requested by the KRG. 

In December 2012, DNO received USD 160 mil-
lion for distribution to the foreign members of 
the Tawke joint venture in partial payment for 
past exports of oil from the Tawke field. DNO’s 
share of the payment was USD 116 million. 
DNO was then instructed by the KRG to again 
halt deliveries of Tawke oil destined for export. 
Throughout 2012 the Company continued 
to sell Tawke production into the domestic 
market, and continues to do so in 2013. 

RESERVES
As at 31 December 2012, total 2P CWI 
reserves for the Kurdistan region of Iraq are 
467.3 MMboe.

Tawke license
Gross remaining 2P reserves for the Tawke 
field are 722.2 MMbbls, however, it is 
estimated that a further 5.6 MMbbls will be 
produced beyond 2031 according to current 
production forecasts. This is outside the 
approved license period and consequently 
not a part of the reserves for Tawke. These 
volumes are currently classified as con-
tingent resources (class 4). However, the 
Company expects that the wells necessary 
to produce these volumes will ultimately be 
drilled within the license period.

Erbil license
The Bastora and Benenan discoveries are 
both estimated to contain large volumes of 
oil in place. However the heavy nature of the 
oil and current limited information on reser-
voir properties has resulted in the Company 
adopting a comparatively low recovery fac-
tor estimate at this stage. Bastora reserves 
are currently estimated to be 11.3 MMbbls 
on a gross basis, with 5.3 MMbbls estimated 
as net to DNO on a CWI basis. The Benenan 
reserves are currently estimated to be 30.8 
MMbbls on a gross basis, with 14.4 MMbbls 
net to DNO on a CWI basis.

Yemen
After a period of more than a year of 
suspended drilling activities in Yemen, DNO 
resumed active drilling operations in July 
2012 following the return to the country of 
service contractors and rig personnel.

EXPLORATION
Block 43
Exploration efforts are focused on evaluating 
the further potential of the deeper Nabrajah 

reservoirs and preparation of a proposal for an 
exploration well to be drilled in 2013 targeting 
the Shuqra dolomite and basement forma-
tions. The Company also plans to acquire 
a new 3D seismic survey over the southern 
area of Block 43, covering a prospect trend 
extending from the Raydah field in Block 14 
that could possibly result in the drilling of an 
additional exploration well in 2013.

Block 32 and Block 72
At Block 32, the Hadba prospect has been 
matured to drill-ready status. At Block 72, the 
operator Total has confirmed its plans to drill 
the Gabdain-3 exploration well in mid 2013.

 
APPRAISAL AND FIELD DEVELOPMENT
Block 32
Following the resumption of drilling opera-
tions, the Tasour-27 infill development well 
was spudded in early July 2012 as the first 
in a new drilling campaign, using the ZPEB 
905 rig. The well was successfully brought 
onstream with an electrical submersible 
pump (ESP) in late July and at year-end was 
the most productive well at the Tasour field, 
producing 360 bopd.

Block 43
Nabrajah-21, the first horizontal well in the 
Qishn producing reservoir, was drilled as an 
infill well in the eastern part of the Nabrajah 
field. Initial production was approximately 
1,000 bopd. Following this positive outcome, 
the Nabrajah-20 well was drilled as a second 
horizontal infill producer at the western part 
of the field. These two wells have substan-
tially increased output from the Nabrajah 
field. Nine gas fuelled generators were also 
installed and commissioned at the Nabrajah 
field during the first half of 2012 which are 
expected to result in annual diesel purchase 
savings of approximately USD 10 million. 

The Nabrajah-9S3 appraisal well was 
spudded during April 2013, and is being 
drilled as a sidetrack from the existing 
Nabrajah-9 production well. The well is 
targeting the deeper Shuqra and Basement 
formation intervals at the southwest portion 
of the field area.

Block 47
Development work recommenced in 2012 
with the establishment of a joint operating 
company, South Hood, whose charter was ex-
ecuted by the parties in Sana’a in June 2012. 
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Following completion of Nabrajah-20, the 
drilling rig was mobilized to drill the Yaalen-4 
and Yaalen-5 appraisal wells in November 
2012. Both wells have now been drilled and 
temporarily suspended and development 
of the Yaalen field is continuing with first oil 
expected late 2013/early 2014 at a projected 
gross initial rate of 5,000 bopd utilizing early 
production facilities.

Block 53
Dove Energy Ltd. drilled three production 
wells on the Bayoot field during 2012. All 
three wells were drilled into the fractured 
Basement formation with open-hole, high 
angle/near horizontal sections of 950–1,000 
meters in length. The Bayoot-8ST well, drilled 
as a sidetrack from the original Bayoot-8 
wellbore, was put on production in May 2012 
and at year-end was producing 455 bopd. 
Bayoot-11 was put on production in August 
2012, and at year-end was producing 420 
bopd. Bayoot-12 was brought into production 
during late November 2012 and at year-end 
was producing 650 bopd. 

PRODUCTION

Gross production (bopd);

License (operator) Actual 2012 Actual 2011
Block 32 (DNO) 2,922 3,675
Block 43 (DNO) 1,988 2,240
Block 53 (Dove) 5,362 6,605
Total 10,272 12,520

Company working interest (bopd);

License (operator) Actual 2012 Actual 2011
Block 32 (DNO) 1,162 1,462
Block 43 (DNO) 1,286 1,449
Block 53 (Dove) 1,695 2,089
Total 4,143 4,999

The lower production year-on-year in 2012 
was due primarily to natural decline and the 
delayed resumption of drilling activities, both 
at the DNO and non-DNO operated blocks, 
due to civil unrest in the country.

RESERVES
Total 2P CWI reserves for Yemen at 31 
 December 2012 are 8.4 MMboe.

Block 32
As at end 2012, remaining recoverable 2P 
reserves for the Tasour field have been esti-
mated to be 1.8 MMbbls on a gross basis, and 
0.7 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis. 

As at end 2012, remaining recoverable 2P 
reserves for the Godah field, have been esti-
mated to be 1.2 MMbbls on a gross basis, and 
0.5 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis. 

Block 43
Oil is produced at the Nabrajah field from 
both the Qishn formation sandstone reser-
voirs and from the deeper Shuqra formation 
of fractured carbonates and fractured base-
ment. As at end 2012, remaining recoverable 
2P reserves for the Qishn reservoir have been 
estimated to be 2.3 MMbbls on a gross basis, 
and 1.5 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis. 
Remaining recoverable 2P reserves for the 
deeper formations have been estimated to be 
1.2 MMbbls on a gross basis, and 0.8 MMbbls 
net to DNO on a CWI basis.

Block 47
As at end 2012, recoverable 2P reserves for 
the Yaalen field have been estimated to be 
7.5 MMbbls on a gross basis, and 3.6 MMbbls 
net to DNO on a CWI basis. 

Block 53
Block 53 is operated by Dove Energy Ltd. No 
new wells were drilled at the Sharyoof field 
in 2012, meaning that an increase in the pro-
duction decline rate has led to a downward 
revision to the remaining reserves estimate. 
Gross remaining recoverable 2P reserves at 
end 2012 are estimated to be 1.1 MMbbls, and 
0.4 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis. 

Gross remaining recoverable reserves for 
the Bayoot field at end 2012 are estimated to 
be 2.9 MMbbls, and 0.9 MMbbls net to DNO 
on a CWI basis.

Oman
EXPLORATION
DNO holds two licenses onshore Oman. Block 
30 contains several small gas discoveries, 
which currently are deemed sub-commercial 
due to high nitrogen content in the gas. In 
Block 31, a re-evaluation of the Al Jariya pros-
pect has been initiated ahead of a possible 
drilling decision. DNO is actively pursuing 
new acreage in Oman through license rounds 
and farm-in opportunities.

APPRAISAL AND FIELD DEVELOPMENT
At Block 8 offshore Oman, the West Bukha-5 
development well was drilled in the first 
half of 2012 and subsequently completed 
as a horizontal producer in the Thamama 

reservoir at an oil production rate of approxi-
mately 5,000 bopd. After producing around 
0.5 MMbbls of oil, the well was shut-in at the 
beginning of April 2013 to permit another 
previously identified interval to be brought 
into production.

Drilling of the West Bukha-4 develop-
ment well commenced in July 2012 and 
was completed in the fourth quarter of 
2012. The longest reach well drilled off-
shore Oman at nearly 6,000 meters, West 
Bukha-4 targeted an area not penetrated 
by previous drilling and was successfully 
completed in the Wasia formation as a 
producer. The well was tested and flowed 
at 7,000 bopd of 39° API oil and 15 MMcfd 
of gas through a test separator and is cur-
rently on production contributing around 
5,700 bopd.

An attempt will be made during the sec-
cond quarter of 2013 to initiate oil produc-
tion from an as yet unperforated interval in 
the West Bukha-3 well. 

PRODUCTION
In April 2012, production from the Company’s 
two operated fields was temporarily shut-in as 
a result of a blockage in the pipeline between 
the West Bukha and Bukha production plat-
forms which occurred during routine pigging 
operations. Production from the Bukha field 
was quickly re-started and production from 
West Bukha recommenced in September 
2012 following a highly successful fast-track 
repair that included the replacement of a 4.3 
km section of the twelve-inch pipeline. In 
November 2012, production from Block 8 had 
increased to a record rate of 20,000 bpd of oil 
and condensate and 60 MMcfd of gas. These 
rates represented a near tripling of oil and con-
densate production and a near doubling of gas 
production from the block. As a result, produc-
tion from Block 8 reached the capacity limit of 
the existing onshore processing facilities. 

Gross full-year average daily production at 
the West Bukha and Bukha fields was 5,714 
bopd and 32.4 MMcfd (5,776 boepd) in 2012 
(5,745 boepd on a CWI basis to DNO). 

RESERVES 
As at end 2012, gross remaining recover-
able reserves for the West Bukha and Bukha 
fields are estimated to be 22.3 MMbbls of 
oil, condensate and other liquids and 148.8 
Bcf of gas (26.5 Mmboe), of which 24.4 
MMboe is net to DNO on a CWI basis. 
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Ras Al Khaimah
EXPLORATION
There were no exploration wells drilled in 
2012. Ongoing geological studies continue to 
focus on the RAK Onshore license, and map-
ping/evaluation of the Al Hamra prospect.

APPRAISAL AND FIELD DEVELOPMENT
Following an extensive review of the Saleh 
field redevelopment plan in 2012, drilling of 
the Saleh-8 well commenced in April 2013 
and is expected to take approximately 130 
days to drill, stimulate, test and complete.

The well is seeking to test the previ-
ously undeveloped Thamama reservoir with 
the intention of ultimately completing it 
as a producer via the existing infrastruc-
ture already in place at the field location. 
Produced volumes will be processed at RAK 
Gas’ onshore processing facility. Following 
completion of the Saleh-8 well, the Company 
will consider whether to drill an initial well on 
the nearby undeveloped RAK B oil field as a 
satellite tieback to the existing infrastructure.

 
PRODUCTION
Although no production was budgeted for 
2012, by flowing the depleted Wasia reservoir 
on an intermittent basis, 12,000 bbls of con-
densate and 100 MMscf of gas were produced 
net to the Company. 

RESERVES
As at end 2012, gross remaining recoverable 
reserves for the Saleh and RAK B fields are 
estimated to be 13.8 MMbbls of oil, conden-
sate and other liquids and 105.5 Bcf of gas 
(18.8 Mmboe), of which 20.3 MMboe is net to 
DNO on a CWI basis.

Tunisia
EXPLORATION
Fkirine Prospecting Permit
The award of the Fkirine Prospecting Permit 
to DNO Tunisia AS was officially gazetted on 
25 January 2012, for a period of two years. 
The Company subsequently undertook a 
site survey and comprehensive geochemical 
studies in March and April 2012, the results 
of which led to an expanded scope of the 
planned 200 km 2D seismic acquisition 
campaign to 260 km. The survey was ac-
quired during August and September 2012, 
and processing of the new data had been 
completed by year-end. During the year, the 
Company also reprocessed 300 km of exist-

ing vintage 2D seismic data.
The successful completion of the seismic ac-

quisition and processing work fulfills the work 
obligations of the Prospecting Term of the 
license and will allow the Company to proceed 
to the Initial Exploration Period if the ongoing 
work confirms sufficient prospectivity.

Hammamet Offshore Permit
Chinook Energy operates this permit, with 
DNO holding a 30 percent participating inter-
est. The Permit entered its First Renewal Period 
in September 2012 for a period of three years 
and carries a one well drilling commitment.

Office structure
Headquarters in Oslo
The Company’s corporate headquarters is in 
Oslo, and hosts the corporate management, 
other corporate functions and subsurface 
teams.

Dubai
The Dubai office is DNO’s Middle Eastern 
hub with technical functions, various project 
teams and administrative staff.

London
DNO’s London office is focused on investor re-
lations activities and other corporate functions.

Erbil
DNO has been present in Erbil since 2004. The 
Erbil office hosts the General Manager of Kurd-
istan, project teams and administrative staff.

Muscat
DNO’s office in Muscat hosts the General 
Manager of Oman and administrative staff.

Sana’a
DNO’s office in Sana’a hosts the General Man-
ager of Yemen, local Yemen management, 
project teams and administrative staff. 

Tunis
A Tunis office was established in 2012 hosting 
the General Manager of Tunisia and adminis-
trative staff.

Ras Al Khaimah
The Ras Al Khaimah office hosts the General 
Manager of Ras Al Khaimah, project teams, op-
erations management and administrative staff.

Business development
The MENA opportunity set is attractive to us 
on many levels. On the most fundamental 
basis, there is an abundance of oil and gas 
reserves and resources. The region is an 
important source of oil and gas supply to 
some of the world’s largest and most energy 
hungry economies, and accounts for ap-
proximately 52 percent of global proved oil 
and 46 percent of global proved gas reserves. 
The region also has much to offer in terms 
of exploration potential. Although some 
basins have been extensively drilled, there 
are several areas that have until now received 
limited attention from or been overlooked by 
the industry, but offer tremendous potential 
for new discoveries to be made in the future. 

It is not just the scale of opportunity that 
makes the MENA region such a compelling 
opportunity for us. Its long and established 
history of oil and gas exploration, develop-
ment and production means that there is 
highly developed infrastructure and estab-
lished industry frameworks in place which 
provide a platform for international contrac-
tors such as DNO to work constructively 
with host governments and other stake-
holders today, and to plan for tomorrow. 

The Company has an active pipeline of 
new business development opportunities in 
both new and existing territories within the 
MENA region, and is strategically very well 
positioned to leverage its strong regional 
identity, subsurface knowledge and industry 
track record to access growth opportunities 
across the full-cycle exploration and pro-
duction value chain on competitive terms.  

Financial performance in 2012
Revenues, profits and cash flow
Revenues increased to a record level of NOK 
2,842 million in 2012, up from NOK 2,070 
million in 2011. The third payment for export 
deliveries from the Tawke field was received 
in December 2012. DNO’s share of this pay-
ment was NOK 651 million (USD 116 million) 
which was recorded as revenues in the fourth 
quarter 2012. In 2011, an amount of NOK 917 
million was recorded as revenues from two 
payments for past export deliveries from 
the Tawke field. Revenues from oil and gas 
production from the West Bukha and Bukha 
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fields at Block 8 offshore Oman contributed 
NOK 724 million for the full year. 

Profit from operations increased to an 
all-time high of NOK 1,417 million for the full 
year (NOK 658 million in 2011), while net 
profit increased to NOK 1,040 million (NOK 
653 million in 2011). 

The cash position at year-end 2012 was 
NOK 1,508 million, down from NOK 1,645 
million a year earlier. The operating cash 
flow was NOK 1,583 million for 2012, includ-
ing the export payment from Kurdistan of 
NOK 651 million.

Cost of goods sold 
In 2012, the total cost of goods sold increased 
to NOK 1,213 million from NOK 1,166 million 
for 2011, reflecting for the first time the 
inclusion of cost of goods sold for the Oman 
operations of NOK 398 million. Lifting costs 
were NOK 596 million compared to NOK 405 
million in 2011, with NOK 197 million attribut-
able to the Oman operations. Lifting costs for 
the Kurdistan operations were USD 3.0 per 
bbl compared to USD 1.5 per bbl in 2011. Lift-
ing costs per barrel for Yemen increased in 
2012 mainly due to lower production volumes 
during the period. 

Total costs for depreciation, depletion 
and amortization (DD&A) for 2012 were 
NOK 616 million compared to NOK 761 mil-
lion for 2011. The 2011 figure included NOK 
126 million in previously capitalized produc-
tion expenses related to the Tawke export 
production from 2009.

Exploration costs expensed
Total expensed exploration for the full year 
was NOK 78 million, down from NOK 103 
million in 2011. The reduction is mainly due to 
there being no dry well costs in 2012.

Acquisition and development costs
Significant investments were made in 2012 
to increase production capacity and progress 
field development projects. Total invest-
ments increased to NOK 1,147 million in 2012, 
compared with NOK 422 million the previous 
year. The majority of costs are related to 
the Company’s ongoing development work 
programs in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and 
offshore Oman.

Impairment charges
The Company did not recognize any impair-
ment charges in 2012.

Assets, liabilities and equity
Total assets at year-end were NOK 7,343 
million, up from NOK 5,036 million at year-
end 2011. Both non-current and current 
assets increased in 2012 as a result of the 
merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA 
subsidiaries. The equity ratio was 54.6 per-
cent and the ratio between current assets 
and current liabilities was 233 percent. The 
Company was in a net cash position at year-
end of NOK 184 million.

Going concern
The board finds that the assumptions for fu-
ture and continued operations have not been 
changed as the basis for approval of the 2012 
accounts. As a consequence these annual 
accounts are based on the going concern 
assumption, in accordance with section 3–3a 
of the Norwegian Accounting Act.

Corporate governance
DNO’s corporate governance policy is to 
meet international capital markets’ expecta-
tions with respect to corporate governance 
by complying with the recommendations of 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance (the Code of Practice). To the ex-
tent that DNO does not follow the recommen-
dations, the reasons for this are given below 
and information on how DNO has otherwise 
arranged its corporate governance is provided. 

The articles of association and the Nor-
wegian Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act form the corporate legal framework for 
DNO’s business activities. In addition, DNO is 
subject to, and complies with the require-
ments of Norwegian securities legislation.

Pursuant to the articles of association, 
the objective of the Company is to carry out 
petroleum, shipping, offshore, transport, trade, 
industrial and financing activity and other 
related activities, and to participate as a share-
holder or in other ways in other enterprises.

The Company regularly reports on its 
strategy and the status of its business activi-
ties through its annual report, quarterly pre-
sentations and other market presentations.

Equity and dividends
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
It is DNO’s policy to maintain a strong credit 
profile and robust capital ratios. DNO moni-
tors capital on the basis of its book equity 

ratio, and has a policy that this ratio should 
be 30 percent or higher. As of 31 December 
2012, this ratio was 55 percent. The board of 
directors considers this figure to be satisfac-
tory given the Company’s business objec-
tives, strategy and risk profile. 

DIVIDEND POLICY
The board of directors assess on an annual 
basis whether dividend payments should 
be proposed for approval at the annual 
general meeting. The assessment is done 
on the basis of planned capital expenditure, 
cash flow projections and DNO’s objective 
of maintaining a strong credit profile and 
robust capital ratios. 

 
AUTHORIZATIONS TO  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
At the annual general meeting in 2012, the 
board of directors was authorized to buy 
treasury shares with a total nominal value 
of up to NOK 25,000,000. The maximum 
amount to be paid per share is NOK 50 and 
the minimum amount is NOK 0.25. Purchases 
of treasury shares are made on Oslo Børs. 
The authorization is valid until the earlier of 
30 June 2013 and the AGM in 2013.

As of 31 December 2012, DNO held 
13,050,000 treasury shares. 

At the AGM in 2012, the board of direc-
tors was further authorized to increase 
the Company’s share capital by up to 
NOK 38,372,972, which corresponds to 
153,491,888 new shares in the Company. The 
authorization is valid until the earlier of 30 
June 2013 and the AGM in 2013.

Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates
DNO has one class of shares and each share 
represents one vote at general meetings. 
The articles of association do not limit any 
voting rights.

It is the Company’s policy that all transac-
tions between the Company and its share-
holders, directors, senior executives or their 
close associates must be on arm’s length 
terms. Members of the board of directors 
and executive personnel are required to no-
tify the board if they have any material direct 
or indirect interest in any transaction entered 
into by the Company.

For more information about related party 
transactions, please refer to Note 22 in the 
consolidated financial statements for 2012.
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Freely negotiable shares
DNO’s shares are listed on Oslo Børs and are 
freely negotiable. The articles of association 
do not contain any restrictions on the nego-
tiability of the DNO shares.

General meetings
The general meeting is the Company’s high-
est authority. 

The annual general meeting is to be held 
by the end of June each year. The minutes 
of general meetings are available on the 
Company’s website.

General meetings are convened by writ-
ten notice to all shareholders with a known 
address and published on the Company’s 
website together with all appendices, includ-
ing the recommendation of the nomination 
committee. The notice is sent and published 
no later than 21 days prior to the date of the 
general meeting. Any person who is a share-
holder at the time of the general meeting 
can attend and vote at the general meeting 
provided the person has been registered as 
a shareholder no later than on the fifth work-
ing day before the general meeting. 

Shareholders who are unable to attend 
a general meeting have the opportunity of 
voting through a proxy. 

In accordance with the Norwegian Public 
Limited Liability Companies Act, the Com-
pany’s auditor or a shareholder representing 
at least five percent of the share capital may 
request an extraordinary general meeting 
to deal with specific matters. The board of 
directors shall ensure that the meeting is 
held within one month after the request has 
been submitted. 

Board of directors;  
composition and independence
The Company’s articles of association require 
that the board of directors consist of three to 
seven members. All members of the board of 
directors, including the Chairman, are elected 
by the general meeting of the Company for a 
period of two years. 

As of 31 December 2012 the board of di-
rectors was composed of six members, all of 
whom have relevant and broad experience. 

Four board members are independent 
from the Company’s main shareholders. 
There are three women on the board. The 
majority of the board members are indepen-
dent from the Company’s executive manage-
ment and material business contacts. 

The board members’ shareholdings are 
specified in the notes to the annual accounts.

The work of the board of directors
The role of the board of directors is to 
supervise the Company’s management and 
strategic development in accordance with the 
long-term interests of all shareholders and 
other stakeholders of the Company.

 The board of directors is subject to a set 
of rules of procedures, which among other 
things define its responsibilities and the 
matters to be discussed at board level. It also 
annually prepares its scope of work for the 
coming year, particularly emphasizing on its 
goals, strategy and execution, and subse-
quently performs a review of this work. The 
board of directors also regularly establishes 
work directives for the managing director. 

The board committees
AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee consists of the two 
board members, Ms Shelley Watson and Ms 
Marit Instanes, both of whom have exten-
sive financial and accounting expertise. The 
mandate of the audit committee includes 
undertaking quality control of the Company’s 
financial reporting. The committee is also 
responsible for monitoring internal control 
and risk evaluation systems. 

HSSE COMMITTEE
The HSSE (Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment) committee consists of two 
members, Mr Lars Arne Takla and Ms Karen 
Sund, both of whom have significant oil and 
gas industry experience in dealing with HSSE 
matters. The mandate of the HSSE commit-
tee is to prepare, instruct and evaluate the 
management of HSSE internal controls and 
reporting within the Company, and to report 
on these matters to the board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee consists of two 
board members, Mr Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani 
and Mr Gunnar Hirsti. The mandate of the 
remuneration committee is to consider 
questions relating to compensation of senior 
management and report to the board of 
directors accordingly. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 
DNO’s articles of association require the 
Company to establish a nomination com-

mittee. The nomination committee consists 
of Mr Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Mr Gunnar 
Hirsti and Mr Kåre Tjønneland. The mandate 
of the nomination committee is to propose 
candidates for the board of directors and its 
various committees to the general meeting. 
The nomination committee also proposes 
on the level of the directors’ remuneration. 
Furthermore, it provides recommendations 
for the election and remuneration of its own 
members, which is subsequently voted on by 
the general meeting. 

Remuneration of the  
board of directors
The remuneration of the board of directors 
and its sub-committees is decided by the 
annual general meeting based on a recom-
mendation from the nomination committee, 
and is considered to reflect the board of di-
rectors’ responsibility, competence, workload 
and the complexity of the business. Fees are 
determined separately for the Chairman of 
the board of directors, the Deputy Chairman 
and other board members. Additional fees 
are applied on a uniform basis for each direc-
tor’s participation in the board of director’s 
sub-committees. 

Further information about the remunera-
tion of the board of directors is presented 
in the parent company financial statements, 
Note 3.

Remuneration of senior management
The remuneration of DNO’s senior manage-
ment, including the managing director, is 
subject to the evaluation and recommenda-
tion of the remuneration committee. The 
remuneration of the Company’s managing 
director is evaluated annually and approved 
by the board of directors.

The remuneration of key management 
is presented in the notes to the annual ac-
counts, Note 5.

The guidelines for remuneration of the 
senior management are presented to the 
annual general meeting in accordance with 
the provisions of the Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act. 

Risk management  
and internal control 
Risk management is an integral part of all 
business activities of the Company. Each se-
nior manager is responsible for continuously 
monitoring and managing risk within the 

Report 2012
Board of directors



relevant business area. Any material decision 
is preceded by an evaluation of applicable 
business risks. 

The Company’s risk management policy 
requires the early identification, assess-
ment, rating and mitigation (including 
through corrective measures and barriers) 
of the key risks to which it is subject and 
also reflects the Company’s value base and 
guidelines for ethics and social responsibil-
ity. A centralized function has responsibility 
for analyzing and evaluating the group’s 
total risk exposure. This function is also 
responsible for facilitating and streamlining 
processes across business units, so as to 
promote a unified and standardized ap-
proach to risk management. 

Reports on the Company’s risk exposure 
and reviews of its risk management are 
regularly undertaken and presented to the 
Company’s senior management and board of 
directors. The audit committee has an impor-
tant role in monitoring key risks and control-
ling the Company’s risk management. The 
main risk factors identified in the Company’s 
risk review and reporting become the main 
focus of the coming year’s audit plan. 

For internal control purposes the group 
has established policies and procedures that 
form part of an integrated business manage-
ment system. The aim of these policies and 
procedures is to improve internal processes 
and strengthen control systems across the 
Company. The Company also has an internal 
audit function that undertakes annual audits 
of the main business units. Supervision 
of the internal control activities related to 
financial reporting is another mandate of the 
audit committee. 

Information and communication
DNO is committed to treating all of its inves-
tors equally and ensuring that it provides 
material information to all of its shareholders 
in a timely fashion.

DNO’s financial accounts are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and industry 
standards relevant to the oil and gas sector. 
Interim reports and other relevant informa-
tion are published on DNO’s website and 
through Oslo Børs.

DNO also publishes an annual financial 
calendar setting out key dates and events, 
such as quarterly presentations. 

DNO’s investor relation policy encourages 

open communication with the capital markets 
and shareholders. DNO regularly holds 
presentations for investors and analysts in ad-
dition to scheduled quarterly presentations. 

Takeover
The board of directors has a responsibility 
to ensure that all shareholders are treated 
equally in all circumstances, including in a 
takeover bid situation, and that business 
activities are not disrupted unnecessarily 
and do not hinder or complicate a bid for 
the Company or its shares. The board of 
directors has a particular responsibility to 
ensure that shareholders are provided with 
sufficient information and time to assess the 
bid. Should such a situation arise, the board 
of directors would undertake an evaluation of 
the proposed bid terms and provide a recom-
mendation to the shareholders as to whether 
the proposal should be accepted or not. The 
recommendation statement should clearly 
state whether the evaluation from the board 
of directors is unanimous and the reasons for 
any dissent.

Auditor
DNO’s external auditor is elected at the an-
nual general meeting, which also approves 
the auditor’s fees for the parent company. 

The auditor annually presents an audit 
plan to the audit committee and participates 
in each audit committee meeting to review 
the Company’s internal control and risk 
management system. 

The auditor participates in board meetings 
where the financial statements are discussed 
and other meetings where it is considered 
appropriate.

Information about the auditor’s fees, 
including a breakdown of audit related fees 
and fees for other services are included 
in the notes to the financial statements in 
accordance with the Norwegian Account-
ing Act.

DNO’s external auditor is Ernst & Young AS.

Risk management
DNO has an integrated system for risk 
management, which is described in a risk 
management policy approved by the board 
of directors. The principles for risk manage-
ment are based on the framework in COSO 
(Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 

the Treadway Commission) and recognized 
international industry standards within the 
area of internal control and risk manage-
ment. Due to the nature of DNO’s business, 
several of the identified risks, such as politi-
cal and security issues, are outside of the 
Company’s direct control.

Financial risk
Risks related to oil price, interest rates and 
currency exchange rates constitute financial 
risks for the group. Financial risk manage-
ment is carried out by a central treasury 
function and seeks to minimize the potential 
adverse effects on the group’s financial 
performance.

Derivative financial instruments are some-
times used to hedge certain risk exposures.

Entitlement risk
DNO has interests in three licenses in the 
Kurdistan region of Iraq through Production 
Sharing Contracts (PSCs) with the KRG, and 
has based its entitlement calculations on the 
terms in these PSCs. Although DNO’s man-
agement believes that DNO has good title 
to its oil and gas assets and the rights to ex-
plore for and produce oil and gas from these 
assets in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, the 
Federal Government of Iraq has historically 
challenged the validity of the PSCs entered 
into by the KRG, and thereby also the right 
and title of DNO to its oil and gas assets. 

In July 2012, DNO reached agreement 
with the KRG to fully apply the fiscal terms 
and conditions of the existing PSC covering 
the Tawke license moving forward, replac-
ing temporary arrangements in place since 
start of the operations. The agreement also 
provided for a reconciliation of past accounts 
and application of contract fiscal terms from 
inception until 1 June 2012.

To the extent that DNO is limited in its 
ability to export oil from the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq as a result of continuing 
disagreements between the Federal Govern-
ment of Iraq and the KRG, there can be no 
guarantee that oil can be delivered to the 
local market in sufficient quantities or at 
reasonable prices to sustain operations and 
growth plans. There is a risk that the Federal 
Government of Iraq will continue to chal-
lenge the validity of the contracts entered 
into by the KRG, and the establishment of a 
new federal oil and gas law may be delayed. 
Any change to existing contract terms could 
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have an adverse effect on the value of DNO’s 
assets and revenue stream.

Political risk
The stability in parts of the Middle East dete-
riorated in 2011 due to political protests, but 
has improved in 2012. In the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq, the political situation has remained 
stable and security has been maintained at a 
satisfactory level. In Yemen, there has been 
an extended period of social unrest, mainly in 
the capital Sana’a, but also in other parts of 
the country.

DNO has taken several measures to 
improve security for its employees in Yemen. 
Some projects were delayed as a result 
of the unrest, but operating conditions 
improved measurably in the second half of 
2012. To protect the Company’s employees 
and operations, security conditions in Yemen 
are closely monitored, both at business unit 
level and at corporate level. 

In January 2012, DNO merged RAK Pe-
troleum PCL’s MENA operating subsidiaries 
into the Company. Assets acquired through 
the merger are located in Ras Al Khaimah 
(United Arab Emirates), Oman and Tunisia. 
Operating conditions in these countries are 
considered by DNO to be favorable; hence 
the merger has contributed to mitigating 
political risk through diversification of the 
group’s operations. For further information 
about the financial risk management objec-
tives and policies and other risks, see Note 9 
in the consolidated accounts.

Corporate responsibility
DNO’s Corporate Responsibility (CR) 
principles are based on the idea of Creating 
Shared Value (CSV). We believe that in order 
to create long-term value for shareholders 
it is also necessary to create value for the 
society. CR is a strategic business response 
directly tied to the development of the local 
societies in which we operate.

ØKOKRIM fine
The Norwegian National Authority for Investi-
gation and Prosecution of Economic and En-
vironmental Crime (ØKOKRIM) has imposed 
a fine of NOK 27 million on the Company for 
alleged failures to comply with the Securities 
Trading Act.

ØKOKRIM has charged the Company with 
lack of disclosure to the market in respect 
to the sale of 43,873,960 treasury shares in 

October 2008. This charge was reviewed and 
dismissed by the Stock Exchange Appeals 
Committee in 2009, although the Company 
was fined NOK 800,000 for failure to pro-
vide required information to the administra-
tion of the Oslo Stock Exchange.

DNO is of the opinion that the new 
ØKOKRIM fine and the reopening of a 
previously settled case are in violation of 
fundamental legal provisions against double 
jeopardy. Furthermore, the Company dis-
putes the allegation that it has engaged in 
market manipulation.

Organization and personnel
At the end of 2012, DNO had a total work-
force of 846 people, consultants included. 
Of these 57 are based in Norway and 789 in 
our international operations. This compares 
with a total number of 580 employees at the 
end of 2011. Following the RAK Petroleum 
PCL’s MENA subsidiaries, merger the total 
number of employees at the end of March 
2012 was 649. 

DNO has a strong cultural and national 
diversity amongst the workforce, with 35 na-
tionalities represented across the Company. 

Changes to corporate management
On 28 December 2012 it was announced 
that DNO’s long-serving Managing Director, 
Helge Eide, was stepping down effectively 
from 31 December 2012. DNO has insti-
gated a search for a replacement and in 
the interim period appointed Bjørn Dale, its 
General Counsel, to the additional position 
of Acting Managing Director. 

Presentation of  
corporate management
BJØRN DALE
Acting President/ 
Managing Director
Mr Dale was appointed 
the additional position of 
Acting Managing Direc-
tor in December 2012. Mr 
Dale joined DNO in 2011 
as its General Counsel 
and Board Secretary. Mr 
Dale holds a law degree from the Faculty of 
Law at the University of Oslo, and an Execu-
tive MBA in Financial Management from the 
Stockholm School of Economics.

MAGNE NORMANN
Senior Vice President 
Development
Mr Normann has been 
with DNO since 1999 
and was responsible for 
the commencement of 
DNO in Yemen being the 
initial entry to the Middle 
East region. From 2004 
until 2012 he was Business Unit Manager for 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq. Mr Normann has 
more than 30 years of experience in the oil 
industry. From 1974 to 1999, Mr Normann held 
various senior administrative and operational 
positions in Smedvig, Mobil Exploration and 
Saga Petroleum. Mr Normann holds Master of 
Science Degrees in both Mechanical and Pe-
troleum Engineering from NTNU in Trondheim.

TROND MYRSETH
Vice President 
 Operations
Mr Myrseth joined DNO 
in 2011. During the course 
of his 30-year career, 
he has held several 
positions within drilling 
and production in Statoil 
ASA and Norsk Hydro 
ASA. Prior to DNO, Mr Myrseth’s most recent 
positions were as VP for International Drill-
ing, and Well Department and Production 
Manager for the Grane field. Before joining 
Statoil/Norsk Hydro in 1991, he worked in 
Saga Petroleum ASA and Gulf Oil Norway. 
Mr Myrseth holds a Mechanical Engineering 
degree from Bergen Technical College.

TORE LILLOE-OLSEN
Vice President  
 Exploration
Mr Lilloe-Olsen joined 
DNO in 2007. During his 
career that has spanned 
over 30 years in the oil 
and gas industry, Mr Lilloe-
Olsen has held several key 
positions within explora-
tion and business development in Norsk Hydro 
ASA. Prior to DNO, his most recent position was 
as Exploration Manager, NCS. Before joining 
Norsk Hydro in 1985, he worked in Elf Aquitaine 
Norge AS. Mr Lilloe-Olsen holds a Master of Sci-
ence Degree in Geology and Geophysics from 
the University of Oslo, Norway.
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HAAKON SANDBORG
Vice President Chief 
Financial Officer
Haakon Sandborg 
joined DNO in 2001. Mr 
Sandborg has 30 years 
of experience in the oil 
industry and in bank-
ing. Mr Sandborg holds 
a Masters Degree in 
Business Administration from the Norwe-
gian School of Business Administration in 
Bergen, Norway.

Health, safety, security and 
environment (HSSE)
DNO is committed to ensuring the safety of 
its operations and to protecting its people, 
the natural environment and assets from 
harm. We consider HSSE as an integral 
element of our business and we strive to 
improve our HSSE performance. We have 
throughout the year of 2012 strengthened 
the HSSE team in the Company through 
recruitment of experienced and qualified 
HSSE professionals. The constitution of the 
HSSE Committee is a milestone in the Com-
pany’s continuous process to improve and 
strengthen HSSE risk management.

Health and safety
Our people are in all aspects our most im-
portant resource for success. We continually 
strive to create a healthy and safe environ-
ment for employees, contractors and for 
the communities in which we operate. The 
application of acknowledged risk reduction 
principles is intended to eliminate or mini-
mize any exposure to people’s safety.

At year-end 2012, the status within the 
HSSE performance was as follows (incident 
frequency per one million man-hours):

Lost time incident frequency  
(LTIF goal 0.8): 0.64 compared to 0.63 in 2011

Total recordable incident frequency  
(TRIF goal 2.6): 1.75 compared to 3.17 in 2011

Vehicle incident frequency 
(VIF goal 1.0): 1.12 compared to 1.75 in 2011

Sickness absence in DNO was 4.3 percent 
in 2012, compared to 1.9 percent in 2011.

Climate and environment
We recognize that our operations represents 
risks to the natural environment. Accessing 
new energy resources safely depends on our 
ability to manage risks effectively. We strive 
to explore and develop these resources 
without adversely affecting people and the 
environment and we endorse international 
and country specific environmental obliga-
tions relevant to the activities we perform.

DNO registered nine environmental 
incidents during 2012, none of which were of 
serious character by volume or toxicity. Any 
unplanned discharges to the natural environ-
ment are reported and managed to prevent 
recurrence.

 For all of our projects we aim to assess 
relevant environmental and social issues 
and to minimize the negative impact. DNO 
has continuously developed Environmental 
Impact Assessments (EIA) for all licenses. 
The EIAs produced comply with the standard 
developed by the World Bank, and identify 
sensitivities and risks relevant to the licenses. 
The risks identified are mitigated through 
specially designed environmental programs.

 DNO reports environmental performance 
in accordance with local regulations, Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) and rating agen-
cies like Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP).

Main events since year-end
On 10 April 2013, the Company provided an 
operational update, noting that the Tawke-17 
(Tawke Deep) exploration well in the Kurd-
istan region of Iraq had encountered oil and 
gas shows in previously untested Triassic and 
Jurassic intervals underlying the main Cre-
taceous zones that have been developed to 
date. In order to further assess the potential 
of the Tawke Deep structure an extensive 
testing program has been initiated. Elsewhere 
in its portfolio, the Company confirmed 
that operations were continuing in line with 
expectations.

On 23 April 2013, the Company an-
nounced that it had entered into a Produc-
tion Sharing Contract (PSC) covering Block 

SL18 onshore Somaliland. The 12,000 km2 
block adds substantial exploration acreage 
to DNO’s portfolio in an area that is both 
prospective and undrilled. Having been 
active across the Gulf of Aden in Yemen 
since the late 1990’s, the opportunity falls 
within the Company’s geographical and 
geological sphere of expertise. Studies have 
commenced ahead of an extensive seismic 
program planned for 2014.

Outlook
The Company expects to maintain high levels 
of drilling and field development activities 
across the portfolio in 2013.

In the Kurdistan region of Iraq, the Tawke 
production enhancement program delivered 
100,000 bopd of gross production capacity 
at year-end 2012. Plans are in place to fur-
ther increase production capacity at the field 
to 200,000 bopd by the end of 2014.

Development work at the Benenan and 
Bastora fields will continue throughout 2013 
with several new wells planned during the 
year. A development plan for the Summail 
gas discovery is being compiled that could 
enable field development work to be initi-
ated in 2013 subject to approval by the KRG.

The re-development of the Saleh field 
commenced in the second quarter of 2013 
and the Company is considering further drill-
ing or well stimulation opportunities at the 
West Bukha field.

The Yaalen development in Yemen is on 
track with first oil expected end 2013/early 
2014 and the Company is in the final stages 
of concluding a new Production Sharing 
Agreement for Block 48.

 DNO will continue to pursue further or-
ganic growth through the drill bit. The exten-
sive field development program underway in 
four countries is expected to add significant 
production capacity and new reserves.

The Company will seek further diversifica-
tion through asset level farm-ins and bolt-on 
MENA acquisitions in areas of interest, and 
plans to pursue new opportunities through-
out the region in the years ahead.
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Parent company
The parent company reported a net loss in 
2012 of NOK 127 million compared to a net 
loss of NOK 215 million for 2011. The net loss 
in 2012 is highly influenced by write down 
of shares and receivables on subsidiaries of 
NOK 18 million and loss from sale of the asset 
in Equatorial Guinea of NOK 30 million. Total 
assets as of 31 December 2012 were NOK 
4,964 million. The long-term intercompany 
receivables were NOK 588 million at year-end 
2012. The Company’s cash balance at year-
end 2012 was NOK 1,352 million compared 
to NOK 1,528 million for 2011, mainly due to 
repayment of debt and purchase of treasury 

shares. Total shareholders’ equity at year-end 
2012 was NOK 2,415 million compared to 
NOK 1,446 million for 2011, highly influenced 
by the share issue in January 2012 following 
the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA 
operating subsidiaries. The equity ratio 
increased to 48 percent from 30 percent in 
2011. No ordinary dividend is proposed for 
2012 as the board of directors believes that 
investment in the Company’s exploration and 
development program will deliver increased 
shareholder returns in the future.

The Company’s unrestricted equity as of 
31 December 2012 totalled NOK 1,232 million. 
The board of directors proposes that the 
annual loss of NOK 127 million is transferred 
from other equity.
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Responsibility statement 
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consoli-
dated financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 
December 2012 have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS and give a fair view of DNO International ASA’s and 
the group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results 
for the period viewed in their entirety, and that the board 
of directors report includes a fair review of any significant 
events that arose during the period and their effect on the 
financial report, any significant related parties’ transactions 
and a description of the significant risks and uncertainties 
for the group.

Oslo, 30 April 2013

Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani
Executive Chairman

Marit Instanes
Board Member

Gunnar Hirsti
Deputy Chairman

Shelley Watson
Board Member

Karen Sund
Board Member

Lars Arne Takla
Board Member

Bjørn Dale
Acting President/ 
Managing Director
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
 1 January–31 December
NOK mill        Note 2012 2011
   
Sales        2, 3  2,841.8   2,070.2 
Cost of goods sold        4  -1,212.7   -1,039.5 
Expensing of capitalized 2009 production costs       4  -     -126.2 
Gross profit          1,629.2   904.5 
   
Other operating income          10.4   7.2 
Tariffs and transportation          -15.6   -8.8 
Administrative expense/Other operating expenses       5  -102.4   -132.1 
Impairment/Reversal impairment oil and gas assets       10  -     -10.1 
Exploration cost expensed        6  -78.0   -103.1 
Net gain/-loss from sale of PP&E       10  -26.7   -   
Profit/-loss from operating activities         1,416.9   657.7 
   
Financial income        7  23.4   361.0 
Financial expenses        7  -117.9   -290.6 
Profit/-loss before income tax         1,322.5   728.2 
   
Income tax expense        8  -282.8   -74.9 
Net profit/-loss          1,039.6   653.2 
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Currency translation differences       15  -279.9   39.7 
Fair value changes available-for-sale financial assets       12  -   -86.4 
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax       8  -279.9   -46.7 
Total comprehensive income, net of tax         759.8   606.5 
   
Net profit/-loss attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent          1,039.6   653.2 
   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent          759.8   606.5 
   
Earnings per share, basic        20  1.02   0.70 
Earnings per share, diluted        20  1.02   0.70
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NOK mill        Note 2012 2011

ASSETS   

Non-current assets   
Goodwill        10  258.2   -   
Deferred income tax assets        8  42.9   50.1 
Other intangible assets        10  728.8   691.5 
Property, plant and equipment       10  3,885.9   2,259.2 
Available for sale investments       12  2.5   -   
Total non-current assets          4,918.3   3,000.7 
   
Current assets   
Inventories        4  227.7   93.5 
Trade and other receivables        13  688.8   297.6 
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted       14  10.2   7.7 
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted       14  1,497.9   1,637.1 
Total current assets          2,424.6   2,035.8 
   
TOTAL ASSETS          7,343.0   5,036.5 
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES            
 
Equity   
Share capital        15  252.6   217.5 
Other reserves        15  1,055.9   275.1 
Retained earnings        15  2,704.8   1,665.2 
Total equity          4,013.3   2,157.7 
   
Non-current liabilities   
Interest-bearing liabilities        16  1,324.6   1,377.4 
Deferred income tax liabilities       8  781.7   84.0 
Retirement benefit obligations         2.7   -   
Provisions for other liabilities and charges       17  184.5   173.6 
Total non-current liabilities          2,293.4   1,634.9 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables        19  222.6   85.8 
Income taxes payable        8  41.4   23.6 
Current interest-bearing liabilities       16  -     265.0 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges       17  772.2   869.5 
Total current liabilities          1,036.2   1,243.9 
   
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         7,343.0   5,036.5

Consolidated statements of financial position 

Oslo, 30 April 2013

 Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani  Gunnar Hirsti  Shelley Watson
 Executive Chairman Deputy Chairman  Board Member

Marit Instanes  Karen Sund  Lars Arne Takla Bjørn Dale
 Board Member  Board Member  Board Member Acting President/ 
   Managing Director

As at 31 December
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Consolidated cash flow statements 
          Years ended 31 December
NOK mill        Note 2012 2011
   
OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Profit/-loss from operating activities before income tax        1,322.5   728.2 
Adjustments to add (deduct) non-cash items:   
+/- Net interest expense (-income)         94.4   99.1 
Previously capitalized exploration and evaluation expenses      6  0.6   49.0 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       4  616.4   760.9 
Impairment loss/Reversal of impairment loss on oil and gas assets      10  -     10.1 
Loss/-gain on property, plant and equipment       10  26.7   -   
Loss/-gain on shares        7  -0.3   -259.5 
Impairment/Reversal impairment of financial assets       12  -     0.3 
Other *          311.6  91.5 
Changes in working capital and provisions:   
-  Inventories        4  -134.7   -8.0 
- Trade and other receivables       13  -391.2   -7.3 
- Trade and other payables        19  136.9   -466.5 
- Provisions for other liabilities and charges         -97.3   120.3 
Cash generated from operations         1,885.6   1,118.1 
Income taxes paid          -159.6   -97.0 
Interest paid        7  -143.2   -141.9 
Net cash from/-used in operating activities         1,582.8   879.2 
   
INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Acquisition of subsidiary (net of cash acquired)       11  -115.5   -   
Purchases of intangible assets       10  -249.7   -191.8 
Purchases of tangible assets        10  -897.6   -229.5 
Proceeds from sale of tangible assets         2.3   -   
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets       12  -3.9   -13.8 
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets      12  1.7   549.6 
Interest received          6.5   19.8 
Net cash from/-used in investing activities         -1,256.3   134.2 
   
FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from borrowings        16  -     1,309.1 
Repayment of borrowings        16  -279.3   -1,527.4 
Purchase of treasury shares, including options       16  -107.1   -558.0 
Net cash from/-used in financing activities         -386.4   -776.3 
   
Net increase/-decrease in cash and cash equivalents        -60.0   237.1 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period         1,644.8   1,384.7 
Exchange gain/-losses on cash and cash equivalents         -76.6   23.0 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period       14  1,508.1   1,644.8 
   
Hereof restricted cash         10.2 7.7

* Included in the line Other under Operating activities are foreign currency related to interest-bearing loans and equity, acquisition/disposals of PP&E  with non-cash effect, 
change in accruals of long-term liabilities with non-cash effect and other non-cash items from investing and financing activities.   
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       Share Other Retained Total
NOK mill      Note capital reserves earnings equity
     
Balance at 1 January 2012       217.5 275. 1 1,665.2 2,157.7
     
Fair value gains, net of tax:     
 - available-for-sale financial assets       -    -  -    -
Currency translation differences       -    -279.9  -    -279.9
Other comprehensive income/-loss       -    -279.9  -    -279.9
Profit for the period        -     -    1,039.6 1,039.6
Total comprehensive income       -    -279.9 1,039.6 759.8
     
Issue of share capital, net of transaction costs      18.4 557.3  -    575.6
Purchase of treasury shares       -3.3 -103.9  -    -107.1
Consideration shares merger      11 20.0 607.2  -    627.2
       35.1 1,060.6  -    1,095.7
     
Balance at 31 December 2012     15 252.6 1,055.9 2,704.8 4,013.3
     
     
       Share Other Retained Total
NOK mill      Note capital reserves earnings equity
     
Balance at 1 January 2011        237.5   870.1   1,001.6   2,109.1 
     
Reclassification within equity         -10.4   10.4   -   
Fair value gains, net of tax:     
 - available-for-sale financial assets       -     -86.4   -     -86.4 
Currency translation differences       -     39.7   -     39.7 
Other comprehensive income/-loss       -     -46.7   -     -46.7 
Profit for the period        -     -     653.2   653.2 
Total comprehensive income       -     -46.7   653.2   606.5 

    
Purchase of treasury shares        -20.0   -537.9   -     -557.9 
        -20.0   -537.9   -     -557.9 
     
Balance at 31 December 2011     15  217.5   275.1   1,665.2   2,157.7

Consolidated statements of changes in equity 
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Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2012Note 01

Principal activities and corporate information
DNO International ASA (DNO) is an international exploration and 
production company engaged in the acquisition, exploration, develop-
ment and operation of oil and gas properties. 

DNO is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled 
in Norway at Stranden 1, Aker Brygge, N-0113 Oslo. DNO Interna-
tional ASA is the ultimate parent of the DNO group (DNO and its 
subsidiaries) and the Company’s shares are listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange. DNO International ASA has its registered office in Oslo. 
The group’s operating activities are mainly undertaken in the Middle 
East and North Africa.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the DNO group have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). The consoli-
dated financial statements were approved by the board of directors 
on 30 April 2013.

Basis for preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a his-
torical cost basis, with the following exemption: 
•   Liabilities related to share-based payments, financial assets that are 

classified as available-for-sale and inventories as a result of the net 
entitlement method, are recognized at fair value.

As permitted by IAS 1, the statement of comprehensive income is 
presented on a mixed basis as a blend of expenses by nature and 
function, as this gives the most relevant and reliable presentation for 
the group. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on 
a going concern assumption.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year. There are no new or amended standards and 
interpretations that impact either the financial position, financial 
results, disclosures or stated accounting policies of the DNO group.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assump-
tions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  

Accounting estimates are employed in the financial statements 
to determine reported amounts, including revenue recognition, the 
possibility for realization of certain assets, the useful lives of tangible 
and intangible assets, and income taxes. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of historical experience, cur-
rent events and actions, actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Changes in estimates will be recognized when new 
estimates are available and at least every balance sheet date.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty for DNO relate to the 
 following:
•   Revenue recognition
•   Estimates of proven and probable reserves
•   Timing of export payments for production from the Tawke field and 

payments related to the Water Purification Project (WPP) liability 
•   Operating costs, including asset retirement costs, and other expenses
•   Deferred tax assets and liabilities
•   Impairment assumptions such as WACC, timing of cash flows and 

future investments
• Exploration wells in suspense
• Acquired exploration rights

In addition to the above, there is general uncertainty related to seismic 
and geological models. Risk related to political issues in the countries 
the DNO group operates may also influence management judgments 
and estimates. 

See below for further details on important areas affected by esti-
mation uncertainty or judgment;

Revenue recognition – The payment mechanism for oil export sales in 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq is under development, and currently does 
not follow the Production Sharing Contract (PSC) terms. As a result of 
this, there is uncertainty related to both timing of export revenue and 
receipt of payments. The recognition of export revenues is therefore 
made upon receipt of payment until a payment mechanism is well 
established.

Reserves and resources estimates – Oil and gas production proper-
ties are depreciated on a unit of production basis at a rate calculated 
by reference to total proved and probable developed and undevel-
oped reserves determined in accordance with Society of Petroleum 
Engineers (SPE) rules and incorporating the estimated future cost of 
developing those reserves. 

All estimates of oil and gas reserves and resources involve uncer-
tainty. In its estimation, the DNO group has applied deterministic or 
scenario based methods. The figures represent a most likely quantity 
of oil and gas that will be recovered from a field or reservoir given the 
information available at the end of the year (refer to Note 24), calcu-
lated as the DNO group’s entitlement to reserves under the PSCs.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from the 
estimates include among others: technical, geological and geotech-
nical conditions, economic and market conditions, oil prices and 
changes in governmental regulations, interest rates and fluctuations 
in currency exchange rates. Specific parameters of uncertainty related 
to the field/reservoir include, but are not limited to: reservoir pressure 
and porosity, recovery factors, water-cut development and production 
decline rates, gas/oil ratios and oil properties. 

Analogy to similar fields and reservoirs has been applied when 
production history and information is limited and/or the field/reservoir 
has a complex structure. It is important to underline that the uncertainty 
span is larger for fields/reservoirs with limited field information and 
production history, compared to fields/reservoirs with longer produc-
tion history. The contractors’ entitlement to annual production is deter-
mined based on the PSCs and subject to audit and confirmation by the 
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Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2012 continues

relevant government authority in each country of operation.
The estimates for reserves and resources are made in accor-

dance with the guidelines advised by the SPE and are in conformity 
with requirements from the Oslo Stock Exchange for reporting of 
reserves.

Future development costs (both committed and uncommitted) are 
estimated using assumptions as to the number of wells required to 
produce the commercial reserves, the cost of such wells and associ-
ated production facilities, and other capital costs.

Contingencies, provisions and litigations – By their nature, con-
tingencies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future 
events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of the existence, and 
potential quantum, of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of 
significant judgment and the use of estimates regarding the outcome 
of future events. Management must use also judgment to evaluate 
certain provisions and litigations, in order to ensure the correct ac-
counting treatment. This includes the evaluation of future asset retire-
ment obligations, contingent payments, payments under the Water 
Purification Project (WPP) (see Note 17) and the timing of the export 
payments in the Kurdistan region of Iraq.

Impairment of oil and gas assets – Management must determine 
whether there are circumstances indicating a possible impairment of 
the DNO group’s oil and gas assets. The estimation of the recoverable 
amount for the oil and gas assets include evaluations in relation to 
expected future cash flows and future market conditions, including 
entitlement production and oil price and risk factors (discount rate). 
Also refer to Risks associated with operating in the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq.

Risks associated with operating in the Kurdistan region of Iraq – As 
a result of the historical and legal position of the Kurdistan region of 
Iraq and the relationships of the KRG with the FGI and with neighbor-
ing countries such as Turkey, the DNO group and other international 
E&P companies operating in the Kurdistan region of Iraq face a num-
ber of risks specific to the Kurdistan region of Iraq as set forth below. 
The FGI has historically disputed the validity of the PSCs entered into 
by E&P companies with the KRG and there can be no assurance that 
the DNO group can protect its interests in assets in the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq. This dispute has not been resolved.

The DNO group holds interests in three license areas in the Kurd-
istan region of Iraq, pursuant to PSCs with the KRG. Article 112 of the 
Iraqi Constitution of 15 October 2005 (the Iraqi Constitution) provides 
for joint management of oil and gas extracted from present fields by 
the FGI and regional governments. Article 141 of the Iraqi Constitution 
provides that contracts entered into by the KRG prior to the adoption 
of the Iraqi Constitution in 2005 shall be considered valid unless they 
are amended or annulled pursuant to the laws of and by the compe-
tent entity in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, provided that they do not 
contradict with the Iraqi Constitution. What is required under Article 
112, particularly in respect of PSCs entered into prior to the adoption 
of the Iraqi Constitution, is unclear. All of the DNO group’s PSCs were 
entered into by the KRG prior to the adoption of the Iraqi Constitution, 
but the fields were not producing at the time of adoption, however 

there can be no assurance that the DNO group’s PSCs are protected 
by the express grandfathering provisions of Article 141 read in light of 
Article 112. Further development of its assets in the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq is a long-term key strategic priority for the DNO group. Should 
the FGI attempt to revoke or materially alter the PSCs held by the 
DNO group in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, it could disrupt or halt 
the DNO group’s operations in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, lead to 
administrative fines or penalties, subject the DNO group to contrac-
tual damages or delay or prevent the DNO group’s execution of its 
strategy, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on the 
DNO group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects. There can be no assurance that the DNO group will receive 
payments for its hydrocarbon exports.

The majority of export sales from the Kurdistan region of Iraq 
have been conducted by the State Oil Marketing Organization of Iraq 
(SOMO), and the proceeds of hydrocarbon exports have been collect-
ed, held and administered by the FGI Ministry of Finance. Payments 
held by the FGI are supposed to be remitted to regional authorities 
for onward remittance to international contractors. To date, the FGI 
has not passed on oil contractors’ full entitlements to the proceeds of 
export sales in the Kurdistan region of Iraq to the KRG, including pro-
ceeds to which the Company believes the DNO group is entitled under 
its PSCs, and has at times withheld payments to the KRG in respect of 
hydrocarbon exports entirely. 

In 2009, the DNO group and other international E&P companies 
halted exports from the Kurdistan region of Iraq after not receiv-
ing payment for any of the oil they exported in 2009. In total, 3.74 
MMbbls of oil was exported from the Tawke field between June and 
September 2009 and no payment has been made to the DNO group 
in respect of its share in these volumes. The DNO group and other 
international E&P companies recommenced exports from the Kurdis-
tan region of Iraq in February 2011 after the FGI and the KRG agreed 
a protocol regarding payment to oil contractors under PSCs, and the 
DNO group received partial payment for the oil it exported beginning 
in February 2011. It received a payment of USD 103.7 million from the 
KRG in June 2011 and a further USD 60 million in September 2011. One 
partial payment of USD 116 million has been received in 2012. The DNO 
group does not believe that the payments received to date provide a 
basis for assessing or estimating future trends in relation to whether 
future payments will be reconcilable to what the DNO group believes 
should be paid for oil exports. 

There remains substantial uncertainty relating to the receipt of 
proceeds from oil that is exported from the Kurdistan region of Iraq, 
and there can be no assurance that the FGI will not withhold further 
payments from the KRG in the future, that payments made to the 
DNO group will correspond with the revenue to which the DNO group 
is entitled under its PSCs, that the DNO group will be able to export 
and/or that it will be paid its entire entitlement for exports from the 
Tawke field or any future producing fields. Any of these risks could 
result in a loss of production revenue to the DNO group and materi-
ally adversely affect the DNO group’s business, results of operations 
and recoverability of capitalized intangible assets and PP&E, financial 
condition and prospects.

Deferred tax assets and liability – Deferred tax assets are recognized 

Note 01
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for the carry-forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax asset 
to be recognized. Specifically, the uncertainty is related to the timing 
and value of tax planning activities, as well as the general uncertainty 
related to the budgeting process. Assumptions about the generation 
of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future 
cash flows. These estimates of future taxable income are based on 
forecast cash flows from operations (which are impacted by produc-
tion and sales volumes, oil prices, reserves, operating costs, decom-
missioning costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital 
management transactions) and judgment about the application of ex-
isting tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows 
and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of 
the group to realize the net deferred tax assets recorded at the report-
ing date could be impacted. In addition, future changes in tax laws in 
the jurisdictions in which the group operates could limit the ability of 
the group to obtain tax deductions in future periods. Deferred tax is 
also calculated for the activities in Yemen and Oman. To the extent 
that the government take includes a portion assigned to cover the 
group’s corporate tax eligible for classification as tax according to the 
IAS 12 definition, the group presents this element as an income tax 
expense with a corresponding increase in revenue. A deferred tax li-
ability is also recorded. Currently, deferred tax is not calculated for the 
activities in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, as there is uncertainty related 
to the tax laws of the Kurdistan region of Iraq and yet no well estab-
lished tax regime for this region. As such, it has not been possible to 
measure the corporate tax paid on behalf of the group, and it is the 
judgment of the management that until a well established tax regime 
is in place, the group will not record a deferred tax liability. For further 
details on the potential liability, see Note 8. 

Group accounting and consolidation principles
Basis for consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statement 
of DNO and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Con-
trol is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the finan-
cial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. DNO currently has 100 percent interest in all its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date 
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent ac-
counting policies. Where necessary, the accounting policies of the 
subsidiaries have been adjusted to ensure consistency with the poli-
cies adopted by DNO. 

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated 
upon consolidation.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the con-
sideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 

amount of any non-controlling interest (NCI) in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the acquirer measures the NCI in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The acquisition date is the date on which the 
acquirer obtains control of the acquiree. This is generally the date that 
the consideration legally is transferred and the assets are acquired and 
liabilities are assumed (the closing date). However, the actual control 
might be obtained at an earlier or later stage than the closing date, e.g. 
written agreement that provides control at an earlier date. DNO consid-
ers all facts and circumstances when determining the acquisition date. 

The purchase consideration is allocated to the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities (identifiable net assets) on the basis 
of fair value at the date of acquisition. These provisional estimates are 
finalized within 12 months of the acquisition date with any adjust-
ments being recorded against goodwill. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the ag-
gregate consideration transferred and the amount recognized for NCI 
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. Technical goodwill will arise as a result of deferred tax on 
any excess values.

If the fair value attributable to DNO’s share of the identifiable net 
assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration, DNO reassesses 
whether it has correctly identified and measured the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed. Any additional assets or liabilities that are 
identified in that review are recognized. If excess over fair value of the 
consideration remains after reassessment, DNO recognizes the result-
ing gain in the profit or loss on the acquisition date. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any ac-
cumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to each of DNO’s cash generating units that are ex-
pected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 
those units. 

Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed 
and included in administrative expenses. Transaction costs include 
costs related to the transaction, such as corporate advisors’ fees, legal 
fees, due diligence fees, stamp duties, and accounting services. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair 
value as at the acquisition date (being the date the acquirer gains 
control) through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will 
be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes 
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be 
an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either 
in profit or loss or as change to other comprehensive income. If the con-
tingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be re-measured. 
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances, 
where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.

Acquisitions made by the DNO group that do not qualify as a busi-
ness combination under IFRS 3 Business Combinations, are accounted 
for as asset acquisitions.

Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2012 continues
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Interest in jointly controlled operations (assets)
IFRS defines joint control as the contractually agreed sharing of 
control over an economic activity, and this only exists when the 
strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the 
venturers).

The group’s activities in the exploration and production segment 
are conducted through joint ventures, where the ventures have direct 
ownership in, and jointly control the assets of the venturer.

The group accounts for jointly controlled operations (oil and 
gas licenses), by recording its share of the arrangement’s assets, 
liabilities and cash flows. The group combines its share of the joint 
ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and 
cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the group’s 
financial statements. 

The group does not recognize its share of profits or losses from 
the joint venture that result from the group’s purchase of assets from 
the joint venture until it divests the assets to an independent party. 
However, if a loss on the transaction provides evidence of a reduction 
in the net realizable value of current assets or an impairment loss, the 
loss is recognized immediately.

Foreign currency translation and transactions 
Functional currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian 
Kroner (NOK), which is the parent company’s functional currency.

Items included in the financial statements of each subsidiary in the 
group are initially recorded in the functional currency, i.e. the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events 
and circumstances relevant to that subsidiary. 

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional cur-
rency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transac-
tions. Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated 
into functional currency at the balance sheet date exchange rates. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit 
or loss. Those arising in respect of financial assets and liabilities are 
recorded net as a financial item.

Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair 
value of financial investments classified as available-for-sale, are rec-
ognized directly in other comprehensive income until the investment 
has been disposed of. 

Group companies
Income statements and cash flows of subsidiaries, associated com-
panies and joint ventures, whose functional currency is not NOK, are 
translated to NOK at average exchange rates each month. Balance 
sheets are translated at the balance sheet date exchange rate, and 
the translation differences are taken directly to other comprehensive 
income. When a foreign entity is sold, such translation differences are 
recognized in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Balance sheet classification
Current assets and short-term liabilities include items due less than 
a year from the balance sheet date, and items related to the operat-
ing cycle, if longer. The current portion of long-term debt is included 
under current liabilities. Investments in shares held for trading are 
classified as current assets, while strategic investments are classified 
as non-current assets. Other assets and other liabilities are classified 
as non-current assets and non-current liabilities.

Property, plant and equipment 
General
Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) acquired by group compa-
nies are recognized at historical cost and adjusted for depreciation, 
depletion and amortization (DD&A) and impairment charges, if any. 
The carrying value of the PP&E in the statement of financial posi-
tion represents the cost less accumulated DD&A and any impairment 
charges. Other fixed assets in use (excluding oil and gas properties) 
are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis, at rates varying from 
three to five years. Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and, where there are changes in estimates, depreciation 
periods are changed accordingly. Any change is accounted for pro-
spectively. For oil and gas properties, expected useful life is the period 
of estimated production.

Ordinary repairs and maintenance costs, defined as day-to-day servic-
ing costs, are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred. The costs of major work overs are included in the as-
set’s carrying amount when it is probable that the group will derive future 
economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of perfor-
mance of the existing asset. Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
included in operating profit. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the 
lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less selling costs. 

Borrowing costs
Interest costs directly attributable to financing construction of PP&E 
are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use, which is defined as the 
development phase. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that the group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. The capitalization 
of borrowing costs is recorded monthly based on the average interest 
rate for the group in the period. 

The basis for the monthly capitalization is accumulated average 
capitalized assets for each project. The capitalized borrowing costs 
cannot exceed the actual borrowing costs in each period.

Exploration and development costs for oil and gas properties 
The DNO group uses the successful efforts method to account for 
exploration, appraisal and development costs, where exploration costs 
are charged to expense as incurred. 

However, drilling costs of exploration wells are temporarily capital-
ized pending the determination of oil and gas reserves. These costs 
include directly attributable employee remuneration, materials and 
fuel used, rig costs and payments made to contractors. If reserves 
are not found, or if discoveries are assessed not to be technically and 
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commercially recoverable, the drilling costs of exploration wells are 
expensed. Geological and geophysical costs are recognized in profit or 
loss as incurred.

Costs of acquiring licenses are capitalized within intangible assets 
and amortized over the period of the license using the unit-of-produc-
tion method. An assessment for impairment is made at each reporting 
date. This assessment includes confirming that exploration drilling is 
still under way or firmly planned, or that it has been determined, or 
work is under way to determine, that the discovery is economically 
viable. If no future activity is planned, the carrying value of the license 
acquisition costs is written off through profit or loss. Upon recognition 
of proved reserves and internal approval for development, the relevant 
expenditure is transferred to oil and gas properties. 

3D seismic acquisition over a discovery area is capitalized if it 
relates to drilling a well, and the objective is to learn more about the 
reservoir and to support the determination of new well locations 
within the discovery area. 

For accounting purposes, the field enters into the development 
phase when the partners in the license make the commercial decision. 
All costs of developing commercial oil and/or gas fields are capital-
ized, including direct costs. Pre-operating costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred. Capitalized development costs are 
classified as tangible assets.

Oil and gas properties
Capitalized costs for oil and gas properties are depreciated using 
the unit-of-production method. The rate of depreciation is equal to 
the ratio of oil and gas production for the period over the estimated 
remaining proved and probable reserves (expected to be recovered 
during the concession or contract period) at the beginning of the 
period. The reserves are calculated as the DNO group’s entitlement to 
reserves under the PSAs/PSCs. The future development expenditures 
necessary to bring those reserves into production are included in the 
basis for depreciation, and are estimated by the management based 
on current period end un-escalated price levels. Any changes in the 
reserves and cost estimates that affect unit-of-production rates, are 
dealt with prospectively.

Component cost accounting/decomposition
The group allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an 
item of PP&E to its significant parts and depreciates separately each 
such part over its useful life. For oil and gas assets, the group uses 
field as the level of aggregation as this represents the lowest level 
where separate cash flows can be identified. This means that there is 
no decomposition beyond field level. A plan for development is usu-
ally defined for each field, taking into consideration both exploration 
wells, production wells and infill wells. The field reserves are evaluated 
according to the chosen production plan.

Intangible assets 
The useful lives of intangibles assets are assessed as either finite or 
infinite. Amortization of intangible assets is based on the expected 
useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset might be impaired. The impair-
ment review of intangible assets with infinite lives is made annually.

Exploration and evaluation assets
IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources requires 
exploration and evaluation assets to be classified as tangible or intan-
gible according to the nature of the assets. 

Some exploration and evaluation assets should be classified as 
intangible, for example license acquisition costs and capitalized 
exploration assets. When technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of the assets are decided upon, the assets are reclassified to  tangible 
assets and depreciated. The exploration and evaluation assets which 
are classified as intangible are assessed for impairment before reclas-
sification. No amortization is charged during the exploration and 
evaluation phase.

Other intangible assets
Payments related to acquisition of licenses and subsequent payments 
are capitalized as license acquisition costs and depreciated using the 
unit-of-production method.

Impairment of non-current assets 
PP&E and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment an-
nually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Indications 
of impairment may be a decline in oil price, changes in future invest-
ments or changes in reserve estimates. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows. An oil and gas field is considered one cash generating unit. An 
impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
assets exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The value 
in use is determined by reference to discounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset. Cash flows are discounted us-
ing a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time-value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Technical 
goodwill as a result of deferred tax on excess values is tested as part 
of the belonging cash generating unit.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit 
or loss only if there has been a change in the estimates used to de-
termine the recoverable amount. It is not reversed to a higher amount 
than if no impairment loss had been recognized. After such a reversal, 
the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a system-
atic basis over its remaining useful life.

Farm-in and farm-out
A farm-in/farm-out is when the owner of a working interest (the 
farmor) transfers all or a portion of its working interest to another 
party (the farmee) in return for the farmee’s performance of some 
agreed upon action. If the farmee agrees to undertake exploration, 
drill well(s), or develop the property, the farmor transfers all or a por-
tion of the working interest in the property to the farmee.

The farmee capitalizes or expenses the exploration, drilling and 
development costs as incurred according to the accounting method 
it is using. The farmee does not record any receivable nor any of its 
costs assigned to the acquisition of the license interest. The farmee 
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will thereby have capitalized wells and equipment costs but no capi-
talized property acquisition costs. The farmor does not record any well 
and equipment costs. There are no accruals for future commitments in 
farm-in/farm-out agreements in the exploration and evaluation phase, 
and no profit or loss is recognized by the farmor. In the development 
or production phase, a farm-in/farm-out agreement will be treated as 
a transaction recorded at fair value as represented by the costs carried 
by the farmee. Any gain or loss arising on the farm-in/farm-out is 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

License swaps/asset swaps
A situation where one or more items of PP&E is exchanged for a 
non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and 
non-monetary assets, should be measured at fair value unless the 
transaction lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither 
the asset received nor the asset given up is reliably measurable. The 
cost of the acquired asset is measured at the fair value of the asset 
given up, unless the fair value of the asset received is more clearly 
evident. 

Oil companies may exchange license interests as part of a portfolio 
structuring. License swaps are measured at fair value at the time of 
the transaction, with recognition of gain or loss.

Financial instruments 
Financial instruments, which are not derivatives, consist of investments 
in debt and equity instruments, trade receivables and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, loans, trade payables and other payables. 
These are initially recognized at fair value, which in most cases will be 
identical to cost. After initial recognition, the measurement and ac-
counting treatment depend on the type of instrument and classification. 

Cash and bank deposits – including deposits on special terms, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less, and bank overdrafts – form cash and cash 
equivalents. Bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Investments and other financial assets 
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized at the trans-
action date. 
•  Investments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair val-

ue. Adjustments to fair value are recognized as other comprehensive 
income until the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed 
of, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in 
other comprehensive income is included as part of net result in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Impairment of available-for-
sale investments is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Any 
subsequent reversal of the impairment is not recognized in profit or 
loss, but as a fair value adjustment to other comprehensive income. 

•  Investments classified at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value, with adjustments to fair value recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 

•  Investments classified as loans and receivables are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. This clas-
sification is used for non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Gains and losses 

are recognized when the loans and receivables are derecognized or 
impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

•  Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the 
group has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost. For investments that 
are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is deter-
mined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted market prices at the 
close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where 
there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by using 
generally accepted valuation techniques. The valuations are primarily 
collected from external parties (banks, other financial institutions) or, 
if not available, performed by the group. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition over the years to maturity. For investments 
carried at amortized cost, gains and losses are recognized in the state-
ment of comprehensive income when the investments are derecog-
nized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

Impairment of financial assets 
The group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any ob-
jective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets needs 
to be impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recogni-
tion of the asset and that this event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated.

If there is objective evidence of impairment for financial assets 
carried at amortized cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying value and the present value 
of future cash flows. The present value of the future cash flows are 
discounted using the asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan 
has a variable interest rate (floating interest rate), the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset is derecognized when: 
•  The group no longer has the right to receive cash flows from it 
•  The group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but 

has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay 
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement, or

•  The group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained 
 substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has trans-
ferred the control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. A bond loan is derecog-
nized when it is repurchased.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
As of 31 December 2012, the group has no hedging instruments for 
accounting purposes.

Note 01 Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2012 continues
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Other long-term receivables
Other long-term receivables are measured at net present value when 
the payments are expected later than 12 months from the transaction 
date and these are not interest bearing.

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognized and carried at their anticipated 
realizable value, which is the original invoice amount less an estimated 
valuation allowance for any uncollectible amounts or for extended 
payment terms. A provision is made when there is objective evidence 
that the group will not be able to collect the recoverable amount. Bad 
debts are written off when identified and recognized in the income 
statement.

The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding construc-
tion work in progress, is estimated as the present value of future cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position 
comprise cash at banks and at hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less.

Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognized as a reduction of equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased, the amount 
of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, is 
net of any tax effects and is recognized as a deduction in equity. Re-
purchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented 
as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares subsequently 
are sold or reissued, the amount received is recognized as an increase 
in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit of the transaction is trans-
ferred to/from retained earnings.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested (includ-
ing available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest 
income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest method. Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the 
date that the group’s right to receive payment is established, which in 
the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, impair-
ment losses recognized on financial assets and losses on financial 
assets that are recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are reported as financial income 
or financial expenses.

Note 01

Inventories 
Inventories, other than inventories of oil, are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress 
comprises of raw materials, direct labor, other direct costs and related 
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but 
excludes borrowing costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and estimated selling expenses.

Petroleum products and overlift/underlift of crude oil are recorded 
at net realizable values. 

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is 
determined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and sale and a 
reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and 
sell the inventories.

Interest-bearing liabilities 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at cost, being the fair 
value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with 
the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the 
interest-bearing liabilities. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into ac-
count any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognized in net profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amorti-
zation process.

Revenue recognition 
Revenues from the production of oil and gas properties are recog-
nized on the basis of the group’s net working interest in those proper-
ties, regardless of whether the production is sold (the entitlement 
method). The revenue recognition according to the net entitlement 
method is based on actual production in the period. The entitlement 
method assumes observable market prices and the risk for the seller 
to be minimal related to sale and distribution. To the extent that the 
entitlement method cannot be applied, the sales criteria from IAS 
18 must be fulfilled in order to recognize revenues. Using the sales 
method, a liability (overlift) arises when the group sells more than the 
group’s share of the production, and an asset (underlift) when the sale 
is less than the group’s share of the production.

Local sales – the Kurdistan region of Iraq
The significant risks and rewards of ownership (title) are deemed to 
have passed on delivery of the crude oil to the customer at loading 
point. Revenue is recognized at this point. 

Export sales – the Kurdistan region of Iraq
For export sales, the significant risks and rewards of ownership (title) 
are considered to have passed on delivery of crude oil to the export 
pipeline. However, since no payment mechanism is yet in place for the 
export sale, DNO does not consider it possible to measure the revenue 
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reliably at the delivery point. DNO therefore recognizes the revenue at 
the point of cash receipt.

Overlift and underlift of oil and gas using the entitlement method 
is valued at its net realizable value on the balance sheet date. Overlift 
and underlift are calculated as the difference between the group’s 
share of production and its actual sales and are classified as other 
current liabilities/assets. Under the sales method, overlift and underlift 
are recorded to cost. 

Revenues from services are recorded when the service has been 
performed. 

Production Sharing Agreements/Contracts (PSAs/PSCs)
In many countries ownership of unexploited petroleum resources 
remains with the state, whereas exploration, development and produc-
tion is carried out by private contractors under a specific Production 
Sharing Agreement/Contract, or PSA/PSC. The PSA/PSC typically is a 
contract between an oil-producing company and the host government 
that governs the rights and duties of both parties in respect of the 
operations of a block. In particular it governs how the revenues from 
oil produced are to be shared between the government and the con-
tracting oil producers. The DNO group operates currently under PSAs/
PSCs in Yemen, Oman and in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. 

Under the PSAs/PSCs, the DNO group, along with other work-
ing interest holders, typically bears all risk and costs for exploration, 
development and production. In return, if exploration is successful, the 
group recovers the sum of its investment and operating costs (cost 
oil) from a percentage of the production and sale of the associated 
hydrocarbons. The group is also entitled to receive a share of produc-
tion in excess of cost oil (profit oil). The sharing of cost oil and profit 
oil varies between the working interest holders and the government 
from PSA/PSC to PSA/PSC. 

The sum of cost oil attributable to the group’s share of costs and 
share of profit oil represents the group’s entitlement to oil produced 
under a PSA/PSC.

Under a PSA/PSC the government typically receives portions of 
oil produced in several steps. Normally, there is a fraction of gross oil 
production (a royalty), before any attribution to cost oil and profit oil, 
payable to a governmental body. As described above, the government 
will also have a specified share of profit oil and in some instances a 
government controlled enterprise will have its share as well. The sum 
of royalties and governmental share of profit oil, including that of a 
government controlled enterprise, represents the ‘government take’ of 
oil produced under a PSA/PSC.

The DNO group presents its operations governed by PSAs/PSCs 
according to the net entitlement method. The net entitlement method 
means that the group recognizes as revenue only its working interest 
of oil produced, after deduction of the government take.

According to the group’s PSAs/PSCs, the ownership of the property, 
plant and equipment is transferred to the government when the costs of 
the property, plant and equipment are fully recovered. The contractors 
are granted a free right of use for the remaining duration of the contract. 

Income taxes
 The tax expense consists of taxes payable and changes in deferred tax. 

 Taxes payable are provided based on taxable profits at the cur-

rent tax rate. 
 Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on all taxable temporary 

differences, except to the extent that both of the following conditions 
are satisfied:
•   The group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the tempo-

rary differences; and
•  It is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets related to tax losses carried forward are recog-
nized when it is probable that the group will have a sufficient profit for 
tax purposes to utilize the tax asset. At each balance sheet date, the 
group carries out a review of its unrecognized deferred tax assets and 
the value it has recognized. The group recognizes formerly unrecog-
nized deferred tax assets to the extent that it has become probable 
that the group can utilize the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the group 
will reduce its deferred tax assets to the extent that it can no longer 
utilize these. 

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis 
of the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date applicable to the 
companies in the group. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are set 
off within the same tax regime only if the use of group contribution is 
available.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognized irrespective 
of when the differences will be reversed. They are recognized at their 
nominal value and classified as non-current assets (long-term liabili-
ties) in the statement of financial position. 

Taxes payable and deferred tax are recognized directly in equity to 
the extent that they relate to items that are charged directly to equity. 

Production Sharing Agreements/Contracts (PSAs/PSCs)
The DNO group presents its operations governed by PSAs/PSCs ac-
cording to the net entitlement method. For more information see the 
description under section Revenue recognition.

A PSA/PSC may also affect payment of corporate taxes. Normally, 
the contractor is liable for national corporate tax on taxable profits, 
which will be a function of its share of profit oil (taking into account 
that costs over time will be recovered through cost oil). However, 
some PSAs/PSCs include clauses for corporate taxes to be paid out of 
the government take. To the extent that the government take includes 
a portion assigned to cover the DNO group’s corporate tax eligible 
for classification as tax according to the IAS 12 definition, the group 
presents this element as an income tax expense with a correspond-
ing increase in revenue. Currently, this only applies to the activities in 
Yemen and Oman, as there is no well established tax regime in place 
yet in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. See also the section on significant 
accounting estimates and assumptions and Note 8.

Employee benefits 
Pension obligations 
The group currently has defined contribution plans only. For defined 
contribution plans, contributions are paid to pension insurance plans 
and charged to profit or loss in the period to which the contributions 
relate. Once the contributions have been paid, there are no further 
payment obligations.

Note 01 Summary of IFRS accounting principles applicable for 2012 continues
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Share option program
The group has a synthetic share option program for employees in the 
parent company. The share options are settled in cash and are recorded 
at fair value by use of the Black Scholes model. The share options are 
expensed over the vesting period. The program ended on 30 June 2012. 

Incentive program
An employee share-saving plan has been introduced in 2013, where 
employees can save parts of their salary in Company shares.
 
Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognized when the group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Where the group expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense related to any 
provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 

The amount of the provision is the present value of the risk-ad-
justed expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, 
determined using the estimated risk-free interest rate as the discount 
rate. Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of the provision 
increases in each period to reflect the unwinding of the discount by 
the passage of time. This increase is recognized as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized, but are disclosed unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic ben-
efits is remote. 
 
Asset retirement obligations (decommissioning)
Provisions for decommissioning liabilities for oil and natural gas 
production facilities are recognized in full. The amount recognized is 
the present value of the estimated future expenditure determined in 
accordance with local conditions and requirements. A corresponding 
tangible fixed asset of an amount equivalent to the provision is also 
recognized. This is subsequently depreciated as part of the capital 
costs of the production and transportation facilities. The decommis-
sioning provision is accreted to the discounted liability, with the accre-
tion of the discount being classified as interest expense. 

The provision and the discount rate are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date. According to IFRIC 1.5, changes in the measurement of 
the decommissioning liability that result from a change in the timing 
or amount of the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
required to settle the obligation, or a change in the discount rate, are 
added to or deducted from the cost of the related asset in the current 
period. Changes in estimated asset retirement obligations will impact 
both the cost of the asset and profit or loss in the period in which the 
estimate is revised.

Segment reporting 
The group identifies and reports its segments based on the reporting 
to the corporate management and the board of directors, which are 

defined as the chief decision makers. Management monitors the oper-
ating results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assess-
ment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit 
or loss and other key performance indicators. For the DNO group, the 
operating segments equal the reportable segments.

The reportable segments provide products or services within a 
particular economic environment subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of components operating in other economic 
environments. The group has identified its reportable segments based 
on the nature of the risk and return within its business and by the 
geographical location of the group’s assets and operations. 

Transfer prices between the segments and companies are set on an 
arm’s length basis, in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders using the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year after deduction of the 
average number of treasury shares held over the period. The calcula-
tion of diluted earnings per share is consistent with the calculation 
of basic earnings per share while giving effect to all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period. 

Related parties
Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly, jointly or indi-
rectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over 
the party in making financial and operating decisions. Key manage-
ment is also considered to be a related party. Transactions between 
related parties are transfers of resources, services or obligations, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. All transactions between the 
related parties are recorded at market value.

For more information about related parties, see Note 22.

IFRS and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective 
Standards issued but yet not effective up to the date of issuance of the 
group’s financial statements are listed below. The listing of standards 
and interpretations issued are those that the group reasonably expects 
will have an impact on disclosures, financial position and/or financial 
performance, when applied at a future date. The group intends to adopt 
those standards (where applicable) when they become effective. 

•  IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

•  The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in 
OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at 
a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settle-
ment) would be presented separately from items which will never be 
reclassified. The amendment affects presentation only and therefore 
will have no impact on the group’s financial position or performance.

•  The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2012.

•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
•  IFRS 9 (as issued) reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the 
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replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measure-
ment of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. 
The standard is currently effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2015. 

In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting 
and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase 
of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement 
of the group’s financial assets, but will potentially have no impact 
on classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The group 
will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when 
issued, to present a comprehensive picture.

•  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrange-
ments, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

•  In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12.
 
•  IFRS 10 provides a single consolidation model that identifies control 

as the basis for consolidation for all types of entities. IFRS 10 
replaces IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. Based on the 
preliminary analysis performed, IFRS 10 is not expected to have any 
impact on the investments currently held by the group. The standard 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

•  
•  IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities 

(JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet 
the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the 
equity method. IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and 
SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by 
Venturers. Based on the preliminary analysis performed, IFRS 11 is 
not expected to have any impact on the investments currently held 
by the group as they meet the definition of joint operations and not 
joint ventures. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014.

•  IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 
27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all the 
disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28. 
These disclosures related to an entity’s interest in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new 
disclosures are also required but will have no impact on the group’s 
financial position or performance. The standard is effective for an-
nual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
•  IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all 

fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is 
required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to 
measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permit-
ted. The group has assessed that this standard will have no impact 
on the financial position and performance of the group. The standard 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

•  Annual Improvements May 2012
  These improvements include:

•  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: clarifies the difference 
between voluntary additional comparative information and the 
minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum 
required comparative period is the previous period.

•  IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: clarifies that major spare parts 
and servicing equipment that meet the definition of property, plant 
and equipment are not inventory.

•  IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation clarifies that income taxes 
arising from distributions to equity holders are accounted for in ac-
cordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes.

•  The improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

•  The group expects no impact on its financial position, performance, 
disclosures or stated accounting policies from the adoption of these 
amendments.

Note 01

Note 02

The DNO group identifies and reports its segments based on the 
information given to the chief decision makers, defined as the man-
agement and board of directors. Resources are allocated and deci-
sions are made based on this information. The reportable segments 
provide products or services within a particular economic environ-
ment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those 
of components operating in other economic environments. The 
group has identified its reportable segments based on the nature of 
the risks and returns within its business and by the location of the 
group’s assets and operations. The DNO group primarily produces 
and sells crude oil and gas.

Inter-segment sales are based on the principle of arm’s length and are 
eliminated on consolidation. Segment profit does include profit from 
inter-segment sales. 

The DNO group’s reporting segments up to 2012 consisted of Northern 
Europe (NE), Yemen (YEM), the Kurdistan region of Iraq (KUR) and Af-
rica (AFR), which were equal with the operating segments. The NE seg-
ment included operations in the UK. The AFR segment included both 
Equatorial Guinea and Tunisia where DNO participated in one block in 
each country. The group’s license in Mozambique expired during 2011 
and the license in Equatorial Guinea was disposed of during 2012.

Following the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiar-
ies on 10 January 2012,  the DNO group is reporting five operating 
segments; Yemen (YEM), Kurdistan (KUR), Oman (OMAN), Ras Al 
Khaimah (UAE) and Tunisia (TUN). The operating segments equal the 
reportable segments. 

All oil in Yemen is sold to one customer, which is responsible for the 
further distribution. During 2012, the oil from Kurdistan has been sold 
locally to several customers. The exported crude oil from the Tawke field 
has been sold by the State Oil Marketing Organization of Iraq (SOMO) 
to the international markets. The oil and gas from Oman is sold to two 
customers, which are responsible for the further distribution.

Segment information
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Note 02

NOK mill          
Twelve months ended        Total report.
31 December 2012 Note TUN YEM KUR OMAN UAE segment Unalloc. Elimin. GROUP
          
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION          
          
External sales 3   -     555.1   1,562.5   724.3   -     2,841.8   -     -     2,841.8 
Inter-segment sales   3.8   9.6   21.5   18.9   2.1   55.9   -     -55.9   -   
Cost of goods sold 4   -   -319.2   -491.8   -398.5   -     -1,209.5   -0.7   -2.5   -1,212.7 
Gross profit   3.8   245.5   1,092.2   344.6   2.1   1,688.3   -0.7   -58.5   1,629.2 
          
Other operating income   -     -     6.7   0.2   -     6.9   3.5   -     10.4 
Tariffs and transportation   -     -15.6   -     -     -     -15.6   -     -     -15.6 
Administrative expenses  5  -0.1   -1.2   -1.0   -10.6   -     -13.0   -77.4   -     -90.4 
Other operating expenses 5  -     -6.0   -5.9   -     -     -12.0   -   -     -12.0 
Exploration cost expensed 6  -37.8   -6.5   -24.3   -7.2   -2.1   -77.8   -0.2   -     -78.0 
Net gain/-loss from sale of PP&E   -     -     -     -     -     -     -26.7   -     -26.7 
Finance costs - net (excl. interest. 
gain/-loss on sale of shares)   -0.5   -14.3   -6.1   -2.1   -5.1   -28.2   24.3   -     -3.9 
Segment operating result    -34.7   201.9   1,061.6   324.9   -5.0   1,548.6   -77.2   -58.5   1,412.9 
          
Interest - net   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -90.8 
Gain/-loss on sale of shares   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     0.3 
Income tax expense   -     -94.8   -     -188.0   -     -282.8   -     -     -282.8 
Net profit            1,039.6 
          
          
BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION          
          
Capital expenditures this period   -     99.8   600.8   435.8   6.9   1,143.3   4.1   -     1,147.3 
          
Property. plant and equipment   -     415.9   1,884.7   1,133.5   446.1   3,880.1   5.8   -     3,885.9 
Inventories   -     8.7   107.9   75.8   35.5   227.7   -     -     227.7 
Other assets   59.0   260.2   821.1   704.0   10.2   1,854.6   1,374.8   -     3,229.4 
Total segment assets    59.0   684.8   2,813.6   1,913.3   491.7   5,962.4   1,380.5   -     7,343.0 
Unallocated corporate assets           -   
          
Consolidated total assets           7,343.0 
          
Total segment liabilities    3.1   133.9   965.1   945.8   230.1   2,278.1   -273.0   -     2,005.1 
Unallocated corporate liabilities           1,324.6 
          
Consolidated total liabilities           3,329.7 
          
          
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION          
          
Sale of petroleum products   3.8   564.7   1,584.0   743.1   2.1   2,897.8   -     -55.9   2,841.8 
Lifting cost   -     -224.0   -175.3   -197.1   -     -596.4   -     -     -596.4 
Lifting cost (USD/bbl)   -     -27.2   -5.3   -17.3   -     -11.4   -     -     -11.4 
Amortization and depreciation   -     -95.2   -316.5   -201.4   -     -613.1   -3.2   -     -616.3 
Netback. including asset sale proceeds *  -36.8   220.8   1,384.2   450.0   0.1   2,018.2   -117.8   -     1,900.3
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Note 02

NOK mill         
Twelve months ended        Total report.
31 December 2011  Note NE YEM KUR AFR segment Unalloc. Elimin. GROUP
         
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION         
         
External sales  3   -     637.7   1,432.5   -     2,070.2   -     -     2,070.2 
Inter-segment sales   -     9.7   17.6   1.8   29.0   -     -29.0   -    -
Cost of goods sold  4   -0.5   -345.4   -692.3   -0.3   -1,038.5   -     -1.0   -1,039.5 
Expensing of 2009 capitalized production costs 4   -     -     -126.2   -     -126.2   -     -     -126.2 
Gross profit    -0.5   301.9   631.6   1.5   934.5   -     -30.0   904.5 
         
Other operating income    -     -     7.2   -     7.2   -     -     7.2 
Tariffs and transportation    -     -8.7   -0.1   -     -8.8   -     -     -8.8 
Administrative expenses  5  -7.9   -     -19.7   -10.4   -37.9   -74.4   -     -112.4 
Other operating expenses  5  -     18.6   -19.7   -28.7   -29.7   -     -     -29.7 
Exploration cost expensed  6  -6.8   -31.9   -27.2   -37.2   -103.1   -     -     -103.1 
Net gain/-loss from sale of PP&E   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Finance costs - net (excl. interest. gain/
-loss on sale of shares)    -2.8   -1.8   -2.1   -2.8   -9.5   24.2   -     14.8 
Segment operating result     -17.9   278.2   570.1   -77.7   752.7   -50.2   -30.0   672.5 
         
Interest - net    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -203.7 
Gain/-loss on sale of shares    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     259.4 
Income tax expense    -     -74.9   -     -     -74.9   -     -     -74.9 
Net profit           653.2 
         
         
BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION         
         
Capital expenditures this period    2.3   78.0   337.9   2.8   421.0   0.6   -     421.6 
         
Property. plant and equipment    1.9   444.0   1,781.0   30.1   2,257.0   2.2   -     2,259.2 
Inventories    -     15.5   78.0   -     93.5   -     -     93.5 
Other assets    18.0   223.8   856.1   4.4   1,102.3   1,581.6   -     2,683.9 
Total segment assets     19.9   683.3   2,715.1   34.5   3,452.8   1,583.7   -     5,036.5 
Unallocated corporate assets          -   
         
Consolidated total assets           5,036.5 
         
Total segment liabilities     1.3   143.6   1,004.8   2.6   1,152.3   84.1   -     1,236.4 
Unallocated corporate liabilities           1,642.4 
         
Consolidated total liabilities           2,878.8 
         
         
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION         
         
Sale of oil    -     637.7   1,432.5   -     2,070.2   -     -     2,070.2 
Lifting cost    -     -241.5   -163.4   -     -404.9   -     -     -404.9 
Lifting cost (USD/bbl)    -     -24.9   -11.6   -     -17.1   -     -     -17.1 
Amortization and depreciation    0.5   -104.0   -655.1   -0.3   -759.8   -1.0   -     -760.9 
Netback. including asset sale proceeds *   -14.7   286.9   1,227.3   -74.6   1,425.0   -103.4   -     1,321.6 
         
* Netback is defined as EBITDA adjusted for taxes paid        
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DNO presents its operations governed by PSAs according to the net 
entitlement method except for the export sales for the Kurdistan 
region of Iraq (see below). For more information see accounting prin-
ciples on revenue recognition.    
    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Sale of petroleum products    2,841.8   2,070.2
Other income   -     -
Total sales    2,841.8   2,070.2 
   
During 2012 there have been both local sales and export sales from the 
Tawke field in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. The local sales have been 
based on short-term contracts. The payment mechanism for the export 
sales is not in place yet, and export revenues have only been recognized 
based on the payment of NOK 651 million (USD 116 million) received 
from the KRG in December. The payment was not specified related to 
period or volume, however, DNO recognized this as revenue based on 
the cash received, as the payment received is considered ad-hoc pay-
ment for historical costs. As the conditions for using the net entitlement 
method are not fulfilled, the method is not applied for the Kurdistan 
revenues, and according to DNO’s accounting principle, revenues from 
export sales will only be recognized based on cash received.
    
There are exported volumes that DNO has not received payment for, 
relating to the exported volumes from 2009, 2011 and for 2012. For 
2009, the gross exported volumes were 3.742 MMbbls. For 2011, the 
total gross exported volumes were 15.2 MMbbls. The first payment 
in 2011 of USD 103.7 million was related to the export volumes for 
February and March, a total of 2.1 MMbbls. There was no confirmation 
of price or volumes for the second payment in 2011 of USD 60 million. 
Gross exported volumes for 2012 were 7.4 MMbbls. No confirmation on 
price or volumes has been given for the payment of USD 116 million re-
ceived in December 2012. DNO’s entitlement to historical exports will 
be based on the PSC terms with allocation to profit oil and cost oil.

SalesNote 03

   Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Lifting costs*    -596.4   -404.9 
Depreciation. depletion and amortization   -616.3   -760.9 
Total cost of goods sold    -1,212.7   -1,165.7

* Lifting costs consist of expenses relating to the production of oil and gas, includ-
ing operation and maintenance of installations, well intervention and workover 
activities, insurances, CO2 taxes, royalties to the state and internal costs.

The capitalized production costs from 2009 related to the export 
production from the Tawke field in the Kurdistan region of Iraq were 
expensed in 2011 with NOK 126.2 million (DD&A of NOK 112.7 million 
and lifting cost of NOK 13.5 million). The expense was due to the fact 
that DNO had not received any payment for the 2009 export sale, while 
a partial payment for the first quarter of 2011 export sale had been 
received. Due to the uncertainty related to export payment, DNO ex-
pensed the 2009 capitalized production costs in 2011. In 2012 and 2011, 
production costs related to export have been expensed as incurred.
  
    Years ended 31 December 
NOK mill   2012 2011
Spare parts and drilling equipment   227.7   93.5 
Total inventory    227.7   93.5 

NOK 116.5 million is related to the Tawke field while NOK 111.2 mil-
lion relates to drilling and the offshore blocks in Oman and Ras al 
Khaimah. The inventory is not pledged. 

Cost of goods sold/inventoryNote 04

This note should be read in conjunction with Note 22 on related 
parties. 

    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Salaries and social expenses *  19.1 -2.7
General and administration expenses   -109.5 -109.6
Other operating expenses **   -12.0 -19.7
Total administrative/other expenses  -102.4 -132.1
  
* Salaries and social expenses directly attributable to operations are reclassified to 
lifting cost and exploration cost in profit or loss.  
** Other operating expenses in 2011 of NOK 19.7 million were mainly related to 
 accrual for license acreage fees for license areas in the Kurdistan region of Iraq.  
 

For 2012, other operating expenses are general and administration 
costs related to fields in development, which are not capitalized. 
 

Specification of salaries and social expenses  
    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Salaries, bonuses, etc.   -134.8 -65.2
Employer’s payroll tax expenses  -12.8 -13.2
Pensions   -3.7 -3.1
Other personnel costs   -18.4 -4.6
Reclassification of salaries and social expenses 
 to lifting costs and exploration costs  188.8 83.3
Salaries and social expenses   19.1 -2.7
Average man-year labour   44  38 

Salaries and social expenses in 2012 include an ordinary bonus and a 
syntetic share-based bonus scheme. Payment under the scheme was 
calculated based on share price development  in the bonus period, 
within specified share price intervals. No shares or ordinary options are 
granted under this bonus scheme and all employees in the parent com-

Administrative/other expensesNote 05

pany were included. The threshold for the payments under this scheme 
was set equal to the average daily closing price for DNO International 
ASA in the second quarter of 2011. Share price increase up to 30 percent 
over the threshold level was reflected in the value of the bonus scheme 
as of 30 June 2012. The share price increase was determined based on 
average daily closing prices in the second quarter of 2012. The share 
based bonus scheme ended on 30 June 2012. A total of NOK 2.5 million 
was expensed under the scheme in 2012 (2011: 0). All other ordinary 
bonus payments were deducted in the share-based bonus payment. 
   
Pensions 
DNO has a defined contribution scheme for employees in DNO Inter-
national ASA (parent company). In 2012, a total of NOK 3.7 million 
was expensed under the scheme (2011: NOK 3.1 million). The group’s 
obligations are limited to the annual contributions. DNO meets 
the Norwegian requirements for mandatory occupational pension 
 (obligatorisk tjenestepensjon).
 

Auditors’ fees
  
NOK mill (excluding VAT)   2012 2011
Auditors’ fee    2.58   2.68 
Other financial auditing    4.60   1.71 
   
Tax advisory services    4.29   1.68 
Other advisory services    0.07   0.14 
Total fees    11.55   6.21 
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Administrative/other expenses Administrative/other expenses 
continues

Note 05

Director and executive remuneration  
Expensed remuneration to Managing Director, key management and board 
of directors:  
    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Managing Director: *   
Remuneration       3.97   3.61 
Pension    0.06   0.06 
Bonus    1.55   0.99 
Other remuneration     0.64   0.36 
Total compensation paid to Managing Director   6.22   5.02 
   
Other key management:   
Remuneration    17.32   12.84 
Pension    0.42   0.40 
Bonus    3.73   4.20 
Other remuneration     0.94   5.49 
Total compensation paid to other key management   22.42   22.94 
   
Number of managers included   7   8 
   
Board of directors    5.40   1.37 
Total director and executive remuneration   34.03   29.33 
   
* Helge Eide’s employment as Managing Director terminated on 31 December 2012. 
His agreement on severance payment of three times annual salary has been carried 
forward in his new capacity as strategic advisor to the board of directors. General 
Counsel Bjørn Dale has been named to the additional position of Acting Managing 
Director.

For further specifications of remuneration to key management, 
 reference is made to Note 3 in the parent company accounts.  
  

Severance payment agreements (equal to one or two times annual 
 salary depending on the circumstance) also exist with the following 
executives in DNO International ASA: Bjørn Dale, Magne Normann, Tore 
Lilloe-Olsen, Trond Myrseth, Haakon Sandborg, Tom Bratlie and Anita 
Hjerkinn Aarnæs. 
  
The principles for remuneration to the board of directors were 
changed in 2012, resulting in both 2011 and 2012 fees paid in 2012.  
  
No loans have been granted and no guarantees have been issued 
for executives, shareholders or directors of the board.  
 

Shares and options held by directors, executives and key management personnel 
as at 31 December 2012  
  
Directors, executives and key management personnel Shares Options
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman *   -     -   
Gunnar Hirsti, Deputy Chairman (Hirsti Invest AS)   240,000   -
Shelley Watson, Board member *   -     -      
Marit Instanes, Board member   18,288   -   
Lars Arne Takla, Board member   10,000  -
Karen Sund, Board member     10,000   -   
Bjørn Dale, Acting President/Managing Director   -     -   
Magne Normann, SVP Development   1,771,996   -   
Tore Lilloe-Olsen, VP Exploration   100,000   -   
Trond Myrseth, VP Operations   -     -   
Haakon Sandborg, VP Chief Financial Officer   -     -   
Tom Bratlie, Director of Corporate Communications  
and Public Affairs    10,000   -   
Anita Hjerkinn Aarnæs, Director of Human Resources   -     -
Helge Eide, former Managing Director    1,515,000   -    
Total    3,675,284  -   
  
* Shelley Watson and Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani were nominated by RAK Petroleum 
PCL, the largest shareholder which as of 31 December 2012 holds 43.39 percent of 
the shares in DNO (adjusted for treasury shares, see Note 15).  
 

Exploration expensesNote 06

    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Exploration expenses (G&G and field surveys)   -50.4   -46.9 
Seismic costs    -18.3   0.3 
Exploration costs capitalized in previous years 
carried to cost   0.4   -2.0 
Exploration costs capitalized this year carried to cost   -1.0   -47.1 
Other exploration cost expensed   -8.7   -7.4 
Total exploration cost expensed    -78.0   -103.1 

   Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Interest received    6.5   19.8 
Other financial income *    0.5   263.1 
Exchange rate gain unrealized items   12.2   72.0 
Exchange rate gain realized items   4.1   4.2 
Reversal impairment of financial assets   -   1.9 
Financial income    23.4   361.0 
   
Interest expense    -138.5   -141.4 
Capitalized interest    41.2   19.2 
Exchange rate loss realized items   -13.0   -39.2 
Fair value gain/-loss on financial instruments – net   -     0.6 
Impairment of financial assets   -     -0.3 
Other financial expenses **    -7.6   -129.4 
Financial expenses    -117.9   -290.6 
Net finance    -94.4   70.4 
   

Financial income  
and financial expenses

Note 07

* Included in other financial income in 2011 was gain on sale of shares in Det norske 
oljeselskap ASA of NOK 255 million.   
 
** Included in other financial expenses in 2011 was unwinding of interest on the 
liability related to the Water Purification Project (WPP)  in the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq of NOK 101 million in 2011. For 2012, NOK 4.7 million has been charged as 
unwinding of interest. See also Note 17 for further details.  
 

Capitalized interest of NOK 41.2 million relates to development 
 projects in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and Yemen.  
 

Exploration costs capitalized this year carried to cost are related to 
adjustments to previous dry well cost. Seismic costs relate to 3D seis-
mic in the Dohuk license in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and 2D seismic 
on the Fkirine license in Tunisia.
   
In addition, there has been field studies and geology work in all 
 business segments.
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Note 08

Income taxes payable amounting to NOK 41.4 million (2011: NOK 23.6 
million) relate entirely to the company tax element in the production 
sharing agreements in Yemen and Oman. The taxes payable will be 
settled in kind. Reference is made to Note 1 Accounting principles.

The tax losses carry forward of NOK 376 million as of year-end 2012 is 
significantly influenced by historical hedging losses related to oil price 
contracts in the parent company. The unused tax losses can be carried 
forward indefinitely under Norwegian tax rules. The subsidiary DNO 
UK Ltd has a tax loss carry forward of approximately GBP 22 million 
where the main part of this can be carried forward indefinitely.

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities only if it has a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority. 

There are no tax consequences attached to items recorded in other 
comprehensive income.

The deferred tax asset of NOK 42.9 million at year-end 2012 relates to 
unused cost oil position in Block 47 in Yemen.

The DNO group is able to apply its income taxes paid in kind in Yemen 
as a credit (Norwegian kreditfradrag) against its income taxes due in 
Norway. On 7 May 2012, the DNO group received approval from the 
Norwegian Ministry of Finance to apply the credit method for oil paid 
in kind relating to export sales from Iraq. The decision established that 
DNO’s past treatment of export sales from the Kurdistan region of Iraq 
would have merited favorable tax treatment from a Norwegian tax 
perspective. For local sales in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, conditions 
to apply the credit method are currently not considered to be fulfilled. 

In DNO’s results for the period ended 31 December 2012, no presenta-
tion of taxation expense with an equivalent gross up for revenue has 
been accounted for the Kurdistan operations in the period. This is be-
cause it has not been possible to reliably measure the amount of taxa-
tion paid on behalf of DNO due to uncertainties over how the amount 
of taxation should be calculated. This is an accounting presentational 
issue and there is no taxation to be paid. Contingent on the fulfilment 
of the criteria in IAS 12 Income Taxes DNO’s recorded revenues from 
the Kurdistan region of Iraq will be grossed up with a corresponding 
income tax expense (corporate tax), and a deferred tax liability will be 
recorded. As at 31 December 2012, the deferred tax would amount to 
approximately NOK 638 million (USD 114 million). 

There is an ongoing process to apply to the Norwegian Ministry of 
Finance for tax credit treatment for the results of operations in Oman 
and Ras Al Khaimah. For 2013 and onward, the credit method will be 
eliminated due to changes in legislation, as profits from oil activities 
in these countries are no longer taxable to Norway, and losses will not  
be deductible.

  
RECONCILIATION OF THE YEAR’S INCOME TAX  
    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
   
Profit before income tax    1,322.5   728.2 
   
Expected income tax according to nominal tax rate (28%)  -370.3   -203.9 
Taxes paid in kind under PSAs exceeding 28%   48.4   -30.7 
Adjustment of deferred tax assets not recorded   -43.3   -33.2 
Other items    82.4   192.9 
Total income taxes    -282.8   -74.9 
   
Effective income tax rate   21.4 % 10.3 %
   
Taxes charged to equity    -     -   

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES RELATE TO THE FOLLOWING ITEMS:  
   
 Years ended 31 December
Tax effect of temporary differences, NOK mill  2012 2011
Tangible assets    -738.4   -24.3 
Other fixed items (receivables. abandonment. etc.)   130.5   117.1 
Losses carried forward    376.4   301.9 
Total    -231.5   394.7 
Deferred tax asset allowance    -507.3   -428.5 
Total deferred taxes    -738.8   -33.9 
Capitalized deferred tax assets   42.9   50.1 
Capitalized deferred tax liabilities   -781.7   -84.0

Taxes
INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
Changes in deferred taxes    -154.6   31.8 
Income taxes payable related to Production 
Sharing Agreements (PSAs) in Yemen and Oman  -128.3   -106.7 
Total income tax expense    -282.8   -74.9 
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Note 09 Financial risk management objectives and policies

OVERVIEW 
As an international oil company, DNO is exposed to a range of risks affecting its financial performance including oil price risk, liquidity risk, 
 currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. DNO seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of such risks through sound business practice, risk 
management programs and use of derivative financial instruments. 

This note presents information about DNO’s exposure to main financial risks, as well as its objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing such risks.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury function (Group Treasury) under policies approved by the board of directors. Group Treasury 
identifies, evaluates and mitigates financial risks in close cooperation with DNO’s operating units. The board also approves principles for overall 
risk management, as well as business procedures covering specific areas.

The Audit Committee monitors compliance with DNO’s risk management policies and business procedures, including review of the risk manage-
ment framework in relation to risk exposure faced by the Company. 

OIL PRICE RISK  
Oil price fluctuations may have considerable impact on DNO’s earnings. The Company may from time to time enter into crude oil derivative 
 contracts to reduce cash flow volatility from its oil sales. 
  
LIQUIDITY RISK  
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances, marketable securities, credit facilities and other financial  resources 
to maintain financial flexibility under dynamic market conditions. 
 

DNO’s free cash position remained stable during most of 2012, ending at NOK 1,508 million at year-end. This was mainly due to positive cash flow 
from operations of NOK 1,583 million. It is expected that planned future investments will be funded from operational cash flow, cash balances and 
credit facilities. 
  

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

NOK mill      Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 
At 31 December 2012       3 months  months  years   years  Total
Interest bearing loans and borrowings     - - 1,324.4 - 1,324.4
Other liabilities      - - 1,503.6 2.7 1,506.3
Taxes payable      41.4 - - - 41.4
Trade and other payables      222.6 - - - 222.6
          3,094.7
     
NOK mill      Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 
At 31 December 2011       3 months  months  years   years  Total
Interest bearing loans and borrowings     - 265.0 1,377.4 - 1,642.4
Other liabilities      - - 1,597.6 - 1,597.6
Taxes payable      23.6 - - - 23.6
Trade and other payables      85.8 - - - 85.8
          3,349.4

CURRENCY RISK 
DNO’s commercial revenues are received in USD, while corporate operational costs are mostly in USD, NOK and EUR. The Company seeks to balance 
USD costs from USD income,  while corporate currency risk is on a transactional basis mainly related to non-USD costs. In addition, the Company has 
financial expenses in both USD and NOK, from its interest-bearing debt funding in both currencies. DNO is also exposed to conversion risk for assets 
and liabilities held in several currencies. There is further exposure arising from conversion from functional currencies of subsidiaries to presentation 
currency in NOK for the parent company.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a possible decrease/increase in the USD/GBP/EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held con-
stant, of the group’s profit before tax and equity.

    Decrease/increase  Effect on profit Effect on equity 
    in USD/GBP/EUR before tax (NOK mill) equity (NOK mill)
31 December 2012    -/+ 10% +/- 6.1 +/- 0.0 
31 December 2011    -/+ 10% -/+ 14.3  +/- 0.0

INTEREST RATE RISK    
DNO’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing debt issued at floating rates. 

At 31 December 2012, DNO has two bond loans with floating rates which both mature in 2016.
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Fixed interest rates are considered for large investments that have significant impact on the size of net liabilities. Factors such as the expected dura-
tion of the investment, its projected cash flow and DNO’s ability to withstand interest rate fluctuations following the new investment will determine 
whether the interest rate should be fixed in such cases. At 31 December 2012, DNO has no interest rate hedging instruments.   
    
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the group’s profit before tax.

    Decrease/increase  Effect on profit Effect on equity 
    in basis points before tax (NOK mill) equity (NOK mill)
2012    +/- 100  +/- 16.2  +/- 0.0 
2011    +/- 100  +/- 16.1  +/- 0.0

CREDIT RISK  
DNO has no significant concentration of credit risk for its oil and gas sales contracts. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are only made to 
customers with adequate credit strength. The group has one customer in Yemen and several customers in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. In Oman, 
the oil and gas is sold to two customers. The group has no recent historical losses on trade receivables. See Note 13 for details on trade receiv-
ables. Based on past history of export sales in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, DNO only recognizes revenue when payment is received.

DNO has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution. Cash deposits and derivative contracts are primarily main-
tained with investment grade financial institutions. 
   

The maximum credit risk per 31 December 2012 is NOK 689 million. 

ENTITLEMENT RISK 
Under the PSCs granted by the KRG, oil contractors such as the DNO group are entitled to a share of the proceeds from oil production in the 
Kurdistan region of Iraq. The KRG’s Ministry of Natural Resources advises DNO and other international oil companies on export volumes. All sales 
to  Kurdistan markets are also undertaken in consultation with the KRG’s Ministry of Natural Resources and are subject to overall guidance on 
volumes and prices.  
 

As there are unresolved issues between the KRG and the Federal Government of Iraq regarding the Company’s PSCs, there are uncertainties 
whether DNO will receive full payment for its entitlement in accordance with the PSCs for the hydrocarbons produced from the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq. 
 
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
DNO manages and adjusts its capital structure in light of actual and anticipated developments for its operations. The capital structure may be ad-
justed through equity or debt transactions, asset restructuring and several other measures.

DNO monitors capital on the basis of its book equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as book equity divided by total assets. It is the group’s policy that 
this ratio should be 30 percent or higher. As of 31 December 2012, the book equity ratio was 54.6 percent (2011: 42.8 percent).

           31 December 31 December
NOK mill         2012 2011
Total equity         4,013.3 2,157.7
Total assets         7,343.0 5,036.5
Book equity ratio         54.6 % 42.8 %

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Set out on the next page is a comparison by category for carrying amounts and fair values of all of the group’s financial instruments that are 
 carried in the financial statements. The following estimated fair values have been determined by the group, using appropriate market information or 
 accepted valuation methodologies. 

The carrying amount of bank deposits and current interest-bearing liabilities is a reasonable estimate for their fair values. DNO’s bond loans are 
listed on Oslo Børs. The fair values of the bond loans are based on market quotations for these loans.

Note 09 Financial risk management objectives and policies continues
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       31 December 2012 31 December 2011
       Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
NOK mill     Notes   amount   value   amount   value 
     
Financial assets     
Bank deposits     14  1,508.1 1,508.1 1,644.8 1,644.8
Derivative financial instruments (current)       -     -     -     -   
Derivative financial instruments (non-current)       -     -     -     -   
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   14   -     -     -     -   
Available-for-sale investments    12   2.5   2.5   -     -   
Other financial assets (current)    13  688.8 688.8 297.6 297.6
       2,199.4 2,199.4 1,942.3 1,942.3
     
Financial liabilities     
Current interest-bearing liabilities    16   -     -     265.0   263.7 
Derivative financial instruments       -     -     -     -   
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current)    16   1,324.6   1,362.9   1,377.4   1,298.6 
       1,324.6  1,362.9  1,642.4  1,562.3

Set out below are carrying values of the group’s financial assets and liabilities sorted by category according to IAS 39.

      Assets at
      fair value Held to  Available
      through maturity Loans and for sale
2012 - NOK mill     Notes profit or loss investments receivables investments Total 

Financial assets      
Bank deposits     14  -     -    1,508.1  -    1,508.1
Derivative financial instruments (current)      -     -     -     -     -   
Derivative financial instruments (non-current)      -     -     -     -     -   
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   14  -     -     -     -     -   
Available-for-sale investments    12  -     -     -     2.5   2.5 
Trade and other receivables     13  -     -    688.8  -    688.8
       -     -    2,196.9  2.5  2,199.4

        Liabilities
       Assets at fair measured at Non-
       value through amortized financial
2012 - NOK mill     Notes  profit or loss cost liabilites Total

Financial liabilities     
Current interest-bearing liabilities    16   -     -     -     -   
Derivative financial instruments       -      -     -   
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current)    16   -    1,324.6  -     1,324.6 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (current)    17   -     -    772.2  772.2 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (non-current)   17   -     -    187.2  187.2 
Trade and other payables     19   -     -    222.6  222.6 
        -    1,324.6 1,182.0 2,506.6

      Assets at
      fair value Held to  Available
      through maturity Loans and for sale
2011 - NOK mill     Notes profit or loss investments receivables investments Total 

Financial assets      
Bank deposits     14  -     -    1,644.8  -    1,644.8
Derivative financial instruments (current)      -     -     -     -     -   
Derivative financial instruments (non-current)      -     -     -     -     -   
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   14   -     -     -     -   
Available-for-sale investments    12  -     -     -     -     -   
Trade and other receivables     13  -     -    297.6  -    297.6
      -  -    1,942.3  -    1,942.3

        Liabilities
       Assets at fair measured at Non-
       value through amortized financial
2011 - NOK mill     Notes  profit or loss cost liabilites Total

Financial liabilities     
Current interest-bearing liabilities    16   -     265.0   -     265.0 
Derivative financial instruments       -      -     -   
Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current)    16   -    1,377.4  -     1,377.4 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (current)    17   -     -    869.5  869.5 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (non-current)   17   -     -    173.6  173.6 
Trade and other payables     19   -     -    85.8  85.8 
        -    1,642.4 1,128.9 2,771.3

Note 09 Financial risk management objectives and policies continues
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FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY    

As at 31 December 2012, the group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:
    
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: techniques that use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value which are not based on observable market data.  
  

Assets measured at fair value (NOK mill) 
       31 Dec 2012 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3 
Available for sale investments        2.5   2.5   -     -   
    

Assets measured at fair value  
       31 Dec 2011 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3 
Available for sale investments        -     -     -     -  

Note 09

Property, plant and equipment/intangible assetsNote 10

Depreciation is charged to cost of goods sold in the statement of comprehensive income.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
        Total
      Development Assets in oil & gas Other 
2012 – NOK mill       assets  operation properties PP&E  Total 
      
At 1 January 2012      
Cost       548.2   4,423.0   4,971.2   24.5   4,995.7 
Accumulated impairment       -28.7   -175.1   -203.8   -   -203.8 
Accumulated depreciation       -   -2 513.8   -2,513.8   -18.9   -2,532.7 
Net book amount       519.5   1,734.1   2,253.6   5.5   2,259.2 
      
Period ended 31 December 2012      
Opening net book amount       519.5   1,734.1   2,253.6   5.5   2,259.2 
Exchange differences       -51.2   -233.3   -284.5   -1.5   -286.0 
Additions       124.1   767.1   891.2   6.5   897.7 
Additions through business combinations      475.0   986.3   1,461.3   2.5   1,463.8 
Transfers       166.8   -   166.8   -   166.8 
Disposals       -27.9   -   -27.9   -   -27.9 
Impairment        -   -   -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment       -   -   -   -   - 
Depreciation charge       -   -582.9   -582.9   -4.7   -587.7 
Closing net book amount       1,206.3   2,671.3   3,877.6   8.3   3,885.9 
      
At 31 December 2012      
Cost       1,235.0   5,943.1   7,178.1   31.9   7,210.0 
Accumulated impairment       -28.7   -175.1   -203.8   -   -203.8 
Accumulated depreciation       -   -3,096.7   -3,096.7   -23.7   -3,120.4 
Net book amount       1,206.3   2,671.3   3,877.6   8.3   3,885.9 
      
Depreciation method       UoP   UoP   3–5 years 

Financial risk management objectives and policies continues
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Property, plant and equipment/intangible assets continues

INTANGIBLE ASSETS     
       License Exploration 
2012 – NOK mill       interest assets Goodwill  Total 
     
At 1 January 2012     
Cost        520.5   291.0   -   811.5 
Accumulated impairment        -4.2   -   -   -4.2 
Accumulated depreciation        -115.9   -   -   -115.9 
Net book amount        400.5   291.0   -   691.5 
     
Period ended 31 December 2012     
Opening net book amount        400.5   291.0   -   691.5 
Exchange differences        -31.4   -30.4   -20.8   -82.6 
Additions        1.4   248.3   -   249.7 
Additions through business combinations       44.9   -   279.0   324.0 
Transfers        -16.7   -150.1   -   -166.8 
Disposals        -   -   -   - 
Impairment        -   -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment        -   -   -   - 
Depreciation charge        -28.6   -   -   -28.6 
Closing net book amount        370.0   358.8   258.2   987.0 
     
At 31 December 2012     
Cost        513.1   358.8   258.2   1 130.1 
Accumulated impairment        -4.0   -   -   -4.0 
Accumulated depreciation        -139.1   -   -   -139.1 
Net book amount        370.0   358.8   258.2   987.0 
     
Depreciation method        UoP   UoP

The goodwill is technical goodwill as a result of dererred tax on excess values from the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries in 
2012. See Note 11 for furter details.    
     
There is no pledge over the oil and gas assets.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
        Total
      Development Assets in oil & gas Other 
2011 – NOK mill       assets  operation properties PP&E  Total 
      
At 1 January 2011      
Cost       55.5   4,296.4   4,351.9   20.1   4,372.0 
Accumulated impairment       -   -193.7   -193.7   -   -193.7 
Accumulated depreciation       -   -1,949.5   -1,949.5   -16.0   -1,965.5 
Net book amount       55.5   2,153.2   2,208.7   4.1   2,212.8 
      
Period ended 31 December 2011      
Opening net book amount       55.5   2,153.2   2,208.7   4.1   2,212.8 
Exchange differences       4.4   -8.6   -4.2   0.1   -4.1 
Additions       72.4   153.1   225.5   4.3   229.8 
Transfers       416.0   -18.0   398.0   -   398.0 
Disposals       -   -   -   -   - 
Impairment       -28.7   -   -28.7   -   -28.7 
Reversal of impairment       -   18.6   18.6   -   18.6 
Depreciation charge       -   -564.3   -564.3   -2.9   -567.3 
Closing net book amount       519.5   1,734.1   2,253.6   5.5   2,259.2 

     
At 31 December 2011      
Cost       548.2   4,423.0   4,971.2   24.5   4,995.7 
Accumulated impairment       -28.7   -175.1   -203.8   -   -203.8 
Accumulated depreciation       -   -2,513.8   -2,513.8   -18.9   -2,532.7 
Net book amount       519.5   1,734.1   2,253.6   5.5   2,259.2 
      
Depreciation method       UoP   UoP   3–5 years 
         linear  
    

Note 10
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Note 10

INTANGIBLE ASSETS    
        License Exploration 
2011 – NOK mill        interest assets  Total 
    
At 1 January 2011    
Cost         543.3   440.0   983.3 
Accumulated impairment         -4.2   -   -4.2 
Accumulated depreciation         -48.4   -   -48.4 
Net book amount         490.7   440.0   930.7 
    
Period ended 31 December 2011    
Opening net book amount         490.7   440.0   930.7 
Exchange differences         11.7   23.7   35.4 
Additions         -   191.9   191.9 
Transfers         -34.5   -364.6   -399.1 
Disposals         -   -   - 
Impairment         -   -   - 
Reversal of impairment         -   -   - 
Depreciation charge         -67.4   -   -67.4 
Closing net book amount         400.5   291.0   691.5 
    
At 31 December 2011    
Cost         520.5   291.0   811.5 
Accumulated impairment         -4.2   -   -4.2 
Accumulated depreciation         -115.9   -   -115.9 
Net book amount         400.5   291.0   691.5 
    
Depreciation method         UoP   UoP   
    
UoP= Unit of Production    

Acquisitions through business combinations 
DNO merged with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries on 10 January 2012. See Note 11 for further information related to the merger. 
 

Impairment testing 
DNO has performed impairment tests for its oil and gas assets at year-end 2012, according to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. IAS 36.9 requires that 
an entity shall assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If such indications exist, the recoverable 
amount of the asset shall be estimated. Booked values of the oil and gas assets have been compared to expected cash flows from the assets (values 
in use), calculated as the net present value (before tax) of the assets. DNO has defined field level as the lowest level where separate cash flows can 
be identified. Field level is thereby the aggregation level for depreciation purposes, and also when assessing impairment. Net present value per field 
is calculated by discounting the future cash flows and comparing them to the booked value. The following assumptions have been used in calculat-
ing net present value: cash flow based on best estimate production profiles (2P estimates), the oil price is based on the forward curve for BRENT as 
of 31 December 2012 as published by the Intercontinental Exchange (ICE) – adjusted for any discounts in oil quality applicable to each field. As the 
monthly price goes forward only to December 2017, a method of linear prediction (extrapolation) beyond this date has been used. The pre-tax dis-
count rate used is based on DNO’s Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) where 16.6 percent (2011: 15.7 percent) has been used for the assets in 
Yemen, 20.9 percent (2011: 20.9 percent) has been used for the Kurdistan assets, and 13.5 percent for the Oman assets. When calculating the WACC, 
a country specific risk premium has been added for Yemen and Iraq, based on the report International Cost of Capital from Morningstar. For Oman, 
13.5 percent was used in the purchase price allocation as of 1 January 2012, and has also been applied at year-end 2012. The estimated 2P reserves 
are calculated using management’s best estimate of production entitlement according to the PSCs. Based on the above assumptions, no impairment 
is necessary for the exploration, development or producing blocks in Yemen, the Kurdistan region of Iraq or Oman, or any of the other blocks. A 
sensitivity analysis shows that a decrease in oil price of 10 percent would result in an impairment charge of NOK 93 million for the producing assets. 
If expectations with regard to timing of cash flows are not met, this could also result in an impairment charge. 
 

Sale of license interest in Equatorial Guinea  
DNO finalized the sale of its 5 percent license interest in Block P in Equatorial Guinea to Crown Energy in the fourth quarter of 2012. A total of 
NOK 26.7 million has been charged to expense following the sale of the asset. There are several contingent payments in the sales agreement, 
however they are considered not virtually certain at the time of reporting and have therefore not been recognized. 
 

Capitalized interest 
Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment in the development phase are capitalized. In 2012,  
NOK 41.2 million has been capitalized related to the development projects in the Erbil PSC in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and Block 47 in Yemen 
(2011: NOK 19.2 million). The capitalization rate for 2012 was an average of 8.5 percent.  
 

License expiry 
In accordance with the production sharing agreements, the production facilities and the operating equipment will be transferred to the 
 authorities when the fields are no longer commercial. 

The producing licenses in Yemen expire in the period 2015 to 2025. Block 53 expires in 2015, Block 32 expires in 2020 and Block 43 expires in 
2025. All have the option to apply for a five year extension. The Tawke license in the Kurdistan region of Iraq expires in 2031 (including five year 
extension). Block 8 in Oman expires in 2029. 

Property, plant and equipment/intangible assets continues
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Business combinationsNote 11

In July 2011, DNO International ASA signed an agreement with RAK Petroleum PCL, DNO’s largest shareholder, to merge RAK Petroleum PCL’s sub-
sidiaries in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, into a subsidiary of DNO. As consideration for the merger, RAK Petroleum PCL would 
receive shares in DNO International ASA. The transaction value was based on a net asset value of both companies undertaken by an independent 
third party. A range for value in assets and the DNO share was agreed, where the value of the RAK Petrolium PCL’s assets would be between USD 
250 and 400  million and the share price of DNO would be between NOK 8.25 and NOK 10. 
 
The merger between DNO and RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries was approved by DNO’s shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting 
on 1 November 2011. The transaction was completed and registered at the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret, Brønnøy-
sund) on 10 January 2012. The  accounting completion date was also set to 10 January 2012. The merged companies have been included in DNO’s 
financial statements from this date. 
 
RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries consisted of six companies; Rak Petroleum Oman Limited (with the subsidiaries Rak Petroleum Oman 
Block 8 Limited and Rak Petroleum Oman Block 30 Limited), Rak Petroleum Tunisia Limited, Rak Petroleum Al Khaleej Limited and Rak Petro-
leum Technical Services Limited. All the companies have been renamed after the merger, using DNO instead of Rak Petroleum in the company 
names. The companies hold licenses in Oman, Ras Al Khaimah and Tunisia. 100 percent of the shares in the different companies have been 
acquired by a newly established subsidiary of DNO, DNO MENA AS. 
 
In accordance with the resolution approved by the EGM, the share capital in DNO International ASA was increased by NOK 18,355,585.75 by 
 issuing 73,422,343 new shares as a partial consideration for the merger. An additional 80,000,000 treasury shares were transferred from DNO to 
RAK Petroleum PCL as further consideration. The total consideration shares were 153,422,343. 
 
In January 2012, DNO also paid USD 31.2 million to RAK Petroleum PCL as a working capital adjustment according to the merger agreement. 
Total transaction costs amount to NOK 19 million. The transaction contributed with a total of NOK 72 million (USD 12 million) in cash from the 
acquired companies, resulting in the net cash payment to be NOK 115.5 million. 
 
A preliminary purchase price allocation (PPA) was presented in the prospectus equivalent document which was issued after the merger was 
announced. DNO updated the preliminary PPA based on the actual DNO share price on the acquisition date. This resulted in a fair value 
purchase  consideration of NOK 1,202 million (USD 199 million). The 12-month period following the acquisition has now ended and DNO has 
not identified any circumstances that indicate that the preliminary purchase price allocation should be amended. The PPA below is therefore 
considered to be final.
 
The identified excess value in the transaction is mainly related to the producing assets in Oman. No goodwill has been identified in the transac-
tion other than technical goodwill as a result of a deferred tax liability on excess values. The goodwill is not tax deductible. There are no changes 
to the preliminary purchase price allocation made.

     RAK MENA operations on Fair value Fair value of assets
NOK mill     DNO’s accounting principles adjustments and liabilities
   
ASSETS   
Goodwill     -    279.0 279.0
Other intangibles assets     282.5 44.1 326.6
Property. plant & equipment     674.6 507.4 1,181.9
Total non-current assets     957.1 830.5 1,787.6
   
Inventories     173.3  -    173.3
Other current assets     254.1  -    254.1
Total current assets     427.4  -    427.4
   
LIABILITIES   
Deferred tax     -318.9 -279.0 -597.9
Other non-current liabilities     -8.9  -    -8.9
Total non-current liabilities     -327.7 -279.0 -606.8
   
Total current liabilities     -405.4  -    -405.4

If the acquisition had occured on 1 January 2011, the combined entity would have had the following revenues and profit for 2011: 
 
  
NOK mill      Revenues  Net profit 
  
DNO International ASA      2,070.2 653.2
RAK MENA subsidiaries      546.7 442.7
Combined entity      2,616.9 1,095.9

Fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired (final purchase price allocation):
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Available-for-sale  
financial assets

Note 12

Available-for-sale financial assets are revalued at fair value (market 
price, where available) at the end of each period. Changes in fair value 
are included in other comprehensive income and are presented as 
valuation reserve under equity. Impairment will be charged to profit or 
loss, while reversal of impairment will be taken through other compre-
hensive income.

     Years ended 31 December  
NOK mill   2012 2011
Beginning of the period    -     360.0 
Additions *   3.9   13.8 
Sales/Reclassifications **    -1.3   -287.1 
Revaluation surplus/deficit transfer to other 
comprehensive income   -   -86.4 
Reclassification of fair value changes from 
other comprehensive income (impairment)   -     -0.3 
End of the period   2.5   -   
   
Non-current portion   2.5   -   
Current portion   -     -  

* Additions in 2012 are related to purchase of shares in Calvalley Petroleum Inc. 
 Additions in 2011 related to purchase of shares in Rocksource ASA.
** Sales in 2012 are related to sale of shares in Calvalley Petroleum Inc. Sales in 2011 
related to sale of remaining shares in Rocksource ASA, Petrolia ASA and Det norske 
oljeselskap ASA. 

Impairment charges of NOK 0.3 million in 2011 were related to the 
shares in Petrolia ASA. All shares in Petrolia ASA, Rocksource ASA and 
Det norske oljeselskap ASA were sold in 2011.

Trade and other receivablesNote 13

     Years ended 31 December  
NOK mill   2012 2011
Trade receivables    214.2   154.5 
Less: provisions for impairment of receivables   -     -   
Trade receivables - net    214.2   154.5 
Prepayments    17.3   10.3 
Underlift. entitlement method   244.7   40.4 
VAT receivable     -1.4   7.8 
Other short-term receivables    214.0   84.6 
    
Total trade and other receivables   688.8   297.6

Other short-term receivables mainly relate to working capital associ-
ated with the participation in oil and gas licenses.

The increase in underlift is mainly related to Block 8 in Oman, where 
not all production was lifted before year-end 2012.

The increase in other short-term receivables is related to the increase 
in the number of licenses following the merger with RAK Petroleum 
PCL.

    Neither                                Past due but not impaired 
NOK mill  TOTAL  past due   
    nor  
    impaired  
     <30 days 30–60 days  60–90 days   >120 days 
2012  214.2  - 214.2 - - -
2011  154.5  - 154.5 - - -

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 0–30 
days terms.

Cash and cash equivalentsNote 14

         Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
    
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted   10.2   7.7 
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted   1,497.9   1,637.1 
Total cash and cash equivalents   1,508.1   1,644.8 
   

Restricted cash relates to employees’ tax deduction.

Cash held in currency  
  31 December 2012  31 December 2011
 Amount in Amount in  Amount in Amount in
NOK mill currency NOK  currency NOK
NOK 70.8   70.8    471.6   471.6 
EUR 0.3   2.0    0.1   0.7 
USD  257.8   1,435.1    193.5   1,159.7 
GBP  - 0.2    1.4   12.8 
Total   1,508.1     1,644.8

As of 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
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EquityNote 15

SHARE CAPITAL     
       Number of Ordinary Treasury 
2011 – NOK mill       shares (1,000)  shares shares Total
     
At 1 January 2011        949,856   237.5   -   237.5 
Treasury shares purchased/sold       -   -   -20.0   -20.0 
Share issues        -   -   -   - 
At 31 December 2011        949,856   237.5   -20.0   217.5 

     
       Number of Ordinary Treasury 
2012 – NOK mill       shares (1,000)  shares shares Total

At 1 January 2012        949,856   237.5   -20.0   217.5 
Treasury shares purchased/sold       -   -   16.7   16.7 
Share issues        73,422   18.4   -   18.4 
At 31 December 2012        1,023,279   255.8   -3.3   252.6

The total number of ordinary shares at 31 December 2012 is 1,023,279,255 with a par value of NOK 0.25 per share. All issued shares are fully paid. 
All shares have equal voting and dividend rights.

In January 2012, DNO completed a share issue in accordance with the resolution approved by the EGM. The share capital was increased by  
NOK 18,355,585.75, by issuing 73,422,343 new shares as a partial consideration for the merger. Following the capital increase, the share capital in 
DNO International ASA is NOK 255,819,813.75 comprised of 1,023,279,255 shares of NOK 0.25 each. See Note 23 for further information about the 
capital increase.

At the annual general meeting in 2012, the board of directors was authorized to buy treasury shares with a total nominal value of up to  
NOK 25,000,000. The maximum amount to be paid per share is NOK 50 and the minimum amount is NOK 0.25. Purchases of treasury shares 
are made on Oslo Børs. The authorization is valid until the earlier of 30 June 2013 and the AGM in 2013. At 31 December 2012, the Company held 
13,050,000 treasury shares.

Purchases and sales of treasury shares are made when the board of directors regards such transactions to be favorable for the shareholders. 

OTHER RESERVES       
       Available-
     Share Other paid- for-sale Other Currency 
NOK mill     premium  in capital investm. reserves translation Total
       
Balance at 1 January 2011      369.8   347.4   96.8   213.2   -157.0   870.1 
Available-for-sale fair value. net of tax     -   -   -86.4   -   -   -86.4 
Reclassification within equity      -   -   -10.4   -   -   -10.4 
Treasury shares:       
 - Sale of treasury shares      -   -   -   -   -   - 
 - Purchase of treasury shares     -   -   -   -537.9   -   -537.9 
Issue of share capital      -   -   -   -   -   - 
Currency translation differences:       
 - Group      -   -   -   -   39.7   39.7 
Balance at 31 December 2011     369.8   347.4   -   -324.7   -117.3   275.1 

       
Balance at 1 January 2012      369.8   347.4   -   -324.7   -117.3   275.1 
Available-for-sale fair value. net of tax     -   -   -   -   -   -
Reclassification within equity      -   -   -   -   -   - 
Treasury shares:       
 - Sale of treasury shares      -   -   -   607.2   -   607.2 
 - Purchase of treasury shares     -   -   -   -103.9   -   -103.9 
Issue of share capital      557.2   -   -   -   -   557.2 
Currency translation differences:       
 - Group      -   -   -   -   -279.9   -279.9 
Balance at 31 December 2012     927.0   347.4   -   178.6   -397.2   1,055.9
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RETAINED EARNINGS   
  
NOK mill  
  
Balance at 1 January 2011           1,001.6 
  
Profit for the period           653.2 
Dividend           - 
Reclassified from other reserves          10.4 
Balance at 31 December 2011          1,665.2 
  
Balance at 1 January 2012           1,665.2 
  
Profit for the period           1,039.6 
Dividend           - 
Reclassified from other reserves          - 
Balance at 31 December 2012          2,704.8

Note 15

The Company’s shareholders at 31 December 2012        Shares % interest
RAK Petroleum Public Company Limited         438,379,418 43.39 %
JPMorgan Chase Bank          20,257,190 2.01 %
Clearstream Banking S.A.          19,976,704 1.98 %
J.P. Morgan Bank LUXEMBOURG S.A         15,820,396 1.57 %
Nordnet Bank AB          11,634,966 1.15 %
INCREASED OIL RECOVERY AS         10,762,070 1.07 %
Avanza Bank AB          8,810,723 0.87 %
State Street Bank and Trust CO.         8,577,229 0.85 %
Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge Selektiv        7,617,413 0.75 %
DnB NOR Bank ASA         7,122,229 0.71 %
Petrolia Invest AS         6,968,200 0.69 %
Goldman Sachs & CO - Equity        6,345,460 0.63 %
State Street Bank and Trust CO.         6,057,327 0.60 %
Nordea Bank Denmark AS          5,773,546 0.57 %
Statoil Pensjon         5,176,438 0.51 %
JP Morgan Clearing Corporation        5,089,382 0.50 %
Danske Bank A/S         5,041,720 0.50 %
KLP Aksje Norge Indeks VPF         4,604,708 0.46 %
Citibank NA New York Branch         3,907,920 0.39 %
VPF Nordea Kapital          3,523,822 0.35 %
Other shareholders          408,782,394  40.46 %
Total number of shares excluding treasury shares         1,010,229,255  100.0 %
Treasury shares at 31 December 2012         13,050,000  
Total number of shares including treasury shares        1,023,279,255  

No ordinary or extraordinary dividend has been distributed in 2012.  No dividend has been proposed for 2012.   
 

Equity continues
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Interest-bearing liabilitiesNote 16

         
       Effective
       interest   
NOK mill  Ticker OSE Currency Amount Interest Maturity rate 2012 2012 2011 2012 2011
            
Non-current interest-bearing bonds:           
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010606197) DNO14 NOK  560,0  NIBOR + 7.5% 11.04.16 10.18 %  567.0   534.1  560.0   560.0 
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010606189) DNO13 USD  140.0  LIBOR + 7.5% 11.04.16 8.05 %  795.9   764.5  779.3   839.0 
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010270523) DNO05 USD  17.3  LIBOR + 3.5% 06.06.12   -     103.7   -     103.7 
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010283732) DNO07 NOK  48.0  Fixed 7.215% 12.10.12   -     47.8   -     47.8 
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010283724) DNO06 NOK  105.5  NIBOR + 3.5% 12.10.12   -     104.2   -     105.5 
Bond loan (ISIN NO0010478019) DNO11 USD  1.3  Fixed 6.445% 12.10.12   -     8.0   -     7.8 
            
Borrowing issue costs           -14.7   -21.6 
Total interest-bearing bonds        1,362.9   1,562.3   1,324.6   1,642.4             
of which classified as current liabilities          -     265.0

DNO completed a bond issue of approximately USD 240 million in April 2011, split between a USD tranche of USD 140 million and a NOK tranche of 
NOK 560 million. The bond issue has a five-year tenor and carries a floating interest rate of LIBOR/NIBOR + 7.50 percent. The purpose of the loan 
was refinancing and general corporate purposes. DNO agreed in connection with the bond issue to purchase the aggregate of USD 170.3 million and 
NOK 307.5 million of its various outstanding bond issues. The bond issue has been listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

DNO has settled the bond loans DNO05, DNO06, DNO07 and DNO11 during 2012.

There are two covenants related to the two bond loans (DNO14 and DNO13), which require that DNO should have a minimum equity ratio of 25 
percent up to the fourth quarter of 2012, and a minimum equity ratio of 30 percent onwards and to maturity date. At 31 December 2012, DNO 
satisfies all loan agreement requirements.

There are no commitments related to further drawdown on the bond loans.

THE MATURITY OF INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES IS AS FOLLOWS:
      31 December
NOK mill         2012 2011
0–12 months          -     265.0 
Between 1 and 2 years          -     -   
Between 2 and 5 years          1,324.6   1,377.4 
Over 5 years          -     -   
Total interest-bearing liabilities         1,324.6   1,642.4 
  

The carrying amounts of the group’s interest-bearing liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:  
      31 December
NOK mill         2012 2011
NOK          553.8   704.4 
USD          770.8   937.9 
Total interest-bearing liabilities        1,324.6   1,642.4

Fair value Carrying value
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Provisions for other liabilities and chargesNote 17

      31 December  
NOK mill         2012 2011
   
Non-current   
Asset retirement obligations *         17.8   17.1 
Other long-term obligations **         166.7   156.5 
Total non-current provisions for other 
liabilities and charges          184.5   173.6 
   
Current   
Other provisions and charges **         772.2   869.5 
Total current provisions for other liabilities and charges       772.2   869.5 
   
Total provisions for other liabilities and charges         956.6   1,043.1

* Asset retirement obligations (AROs) are related to future well closure, decommissioning and removal expenditures for oil installations in Kurdistan. The obligations are 
imposed and defined by national and international legal requirements. No significant removal costs are expected in connection with the onshore activity in Yemen or Oman. In 
accordance with the production sharing agreements, the production facilities and the operating equipment will be transferred to the authorities when the fields are no longer 
commercial or at license expiry.

** Included in other long-term obligations is provision for the Water Purification Project (WPP) in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. The WPP is capitalized and depreciated over 
field life. The WPP liability will not be payable until a payment mechanism is in place and proceeds from export sale are received on a regular basis. The monthly installments 
are contingent on defined gross revenue levels and will be fully recovered through cost oil. The WPP liability is recorded at net present value, where the unwinding of interest 
is charged to profit or loss. Most of the WPP liability of NOK 728 million is classified as short-term and included in other provisions and charges at year-end 2012. There is 
uncertainty related to when the monthly installments will be payable. In DNO’s calculations, the first payment is estimated to be paid during 2013. Changes in the timing of the 
payments may change the net present value of the liability and the calculated interest. Instead of the WPP, DNO may on similar terms alternatively support a different capacity 
building project, as determined by the KRG.

Provision for production bonus for the Tawke license of NOK 110.2 million is included in other provisions and charges. Provision for production 
bonus for the Erbil license is NOK 27.5 million, where NOK 5.3 million is classified as current and the remaining part is classified as non-current.

Included in other provisions and charges is also provision for landowner compensation for the Tawke field (NOK 16.7 million) and provision for 
costs related to security (oil police) in the Kurdistan region of Iraq (NOK 11.7 million).

       Asset
       retirement Other non- Other
NOK mill       obligation current current Total
     
Balance at 1 January 2011        14.9   388.3   435.8   839.0 
     
Charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive income:     
 - Additional provisions        2.7   77.9   73.9   154.4 
 - Unused amounts reversed or reclassified       -0.5   -309.7   359.8   49.7 
Balance at 31 December 2011       17.1   156.5   869.5   1,043.1 
     
Charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive income:     
 - Additional provisions        1.4   118.2   50.0   169.7 
 - Unused amounts reversed or reclassified       -0.7   -108.1   -147.4   -256.2 
Balance at 31 December 2012       17.8   166.7   772.2   956.6
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Commitments and  
contingencies

Note 18

a) Lease obligations
DNO leases offices at Stranden 1, Aker Brygge, with an annual rent of 
NOK 5.2 million. DNO moves to temporary offices in June 2013 while 
current offices are being refurbished and will move back in 2014, with 
an annual rent of NOK 10.2 million for an expanded office space. The 
agreement is for 10 years, starting in 2014 when the new premises will 
be available for DNO.

DNO also rents offices in Dubai, Yemen, Oman, Ras Al Khaimah, Tunis 
and London. For the London office, the annual rent is approximately 
NOK 1.3 million and the lease expires in March 2015. In Tunis, the an-
nual rent is approximately NOK 240,000 and the lease expires in June 
2013. In Dubai the annual rent is approximately NOK 3.8 million and 
the agreement expires in 2014. For the Erbil office, the annual rent is 
approximately NOK 4.5 million and the agreement expires in 2015. In 
Ras Al Khaimah, the annual rent is approximately NOK 0.6 million and 
the agreement expires in 2013. In Oman, the annual rent is approxi-
mately NOK 0.4 million and the agreement expires in 2013. For the 
Sana’a office, the annual rent is approximately NOK 1.6 million and the 
agreement expires in 2015.

b) Legal disputes
As of 31 December 2012, DNO is involved in the following legal cases 
and disputes. 

The Norwegian National Authority for Investigation and Prosecu-
tion of Economic and Environmental Crime (ØKOKRIM) has imposed 
a fine of NOK 27 million on the Company for alleged failures to 
comply with the Securities Trading Act. ØKOKRIM has charged the 
Company with lack of disclosure to the market in respect to the sale 
of 43,873,960 treasury shares in October 2008. This charge was 
reviewed and dismissed by the Stock Exchange Appeals Committee 
in 2009, although the Company was fined NOK 800,000 for failure 
to provide required information to the administration of the Oslo 
Stock Exchange. DNO International is of the opinion that the new 
ØKOKRIM fine and the reopening of a previously settled case are in 
violation of fundamental legal provisions against double jeopardy. 
Furthermore, the Company disputes the allegation that it has en-
gaged in market manipulation. 

Petrolia matter: Petrolia Invest AS (Petrolia) and Erik J. Frydenbø 
(Frydenbø), who jointly control approximately one percent of DNO’s 
issued share capital, lodged a claim for compensation up to a value 
of USD 1.04 million for damages allegedly suffered as a result of 
the merger of RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries into DNO.  
The merger was adopted at DNO’s general meeting of 1 November 
2011. Petrolia and Frydenbø have alleged that the Saleh field located 
offshore Ras Al Khaimah, and which formed part of the consider-
ation upon which terms of the merger were agreed, is of no value.  
DNO argued principally that the claim should be dismissed, and in a 
judgment found in favour of the Company on 17 January 2013 was 
awarded legal costs in the amount of NOK 850,000. Petrolia and 
Frydenbø have appealed the judgement.

IOR matter: On 26 November 2012, Increased Oil Recovery Limited 
(IOR) issued a writ claiming a payment of USD 5 million with the ad-
dition of default interest. The basis for the claim is that the merger 
of RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries into DNO, adopted at 
the general meeting of 1 November 2011, triggered a broker fee of 
two percent of the value of RAK petroleum PCL subsequent to an 
agreement between IOR and DNO. The Company has submitted that 
there is no legal basis for this claim, and that the court must find in 
favour of DNO. The main hearing in this matter is currently sched-
uled to be held in June 2013.

Social taxes on IOR consultancy fee: In 2012, the Borgarting Court 
of Appeal ruled in favor of DNO in the tax dispute regarding the 
consultancy agreement with Increased Oil Recovery AS. The ruling 
implies that DNO will not be liable for any employer’s social security 
contributions on the remuneration paid to Increased Oil Recovery 
AS. The ruling was appealed by the State to the Norwegian Su-
preme Court, but the appeal was dismissed by the Supreme Court 
and the result is therefore final.

Yemen group contribution: The dispute is related to group contribu-
tion from DNO Yemen AS to DNO Iraq AS, where the tax office did 
not consider DNO Iraq AS to have taxable foreign income eligible 
for group contribution. DNO won in the city court. The tax office has 
appealed and will be heard by the appeals court on 23 January 2014. 
This is only a principal case with no material accounting or cash con-
sequences. DNO cannot see that there are any new facts or jurispru-
dence that would change the conclusions of the court.

No provisions have been recognized in the financial statements re-
lated to these cases and disputes as the criteria in IAS 37 is considered 
not to be fulfilled as of 31 December 2012.

c) Contractual obligations/license commitments  
 
NOK mill    2013
 
Drilling and exploration     950.0
Field development    800.0
Total contractual obligations/license commitments 
related to future investments   1,750.0

d) Guarantees at 31 December 2012
Parent company guarantees have been issued to the Kurdistan 
Regional Government and the Ministry of Oil and Minerals Yemen for 
PSA/PSC obligations. The parent company guarantees that it shall 
make available to the subsidiaries DNO Iraq AS and DNO Yemen AS, 
the financial and technical resources necessary for them to fulfill their 
obligations according to the PSAs/PSCs. 

e) Liability for damages/insurance
The group’s operations involve risk for damages, including pollution. 
Installations and operations are covered by an operations insurance 
policy.

f) Other
The parent company is subject to certain tax audits by the Norwegian 
IRS. The company expects no material effects from the audits.

A cost oil audit for the Kurdistan licenses for the period 2004–2011 is 
currently being performed by the Federal Government in Bahgdad. 
No final report has yet been issued for this audit.
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Earnings per shareNote 20

    Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
   
Net profit attributable to ordinary  
equity holders of the parent    1,039.6   653.2 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
(excluding treasury shares)     1,014.4   934.6 
   
Effect of dilution:   
Options    -     -   
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding  
treasury shares) adjusted for the effect of dilution   1,014.4   934.6 
   
Earnings per share, basic    1.02   0.70 
Earnings per share, diluted    1.02   0.70 
   

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attribut-
able to equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the period, excluding ordinary shares purchased 
and held as treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted av-
erage number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. DNO does not have any potential 
dilutive shares per year-end.   

Group companiesNote 21

 
 Business Ownership and Company’s
NOK mill address  voting interest (in %) equity
DNO Yemen AS Oslo  100.0  1,911.6
DNO UK Ltd London 100.0  -30.2
DNO Invest AS Oslo  100.0  52.9
DNO Tunisia AS Oslo  100.0  -6.4
DNO Iraq AS Oslo 100.0  1,806.3
DNO Mena AS Oslo 100.0  -105.4

Related party disclosureNote 22

The following table provides details of the group’s related party 
transactions in 2012. See also Note 5 on remuneration.  
 
   Years ended
    31 December
Related party Transaction 2012  2011
   
RAK Petroleum PCL Service agreement  4.7    -   
Increased Oil  Project consulting/ 
Recovery AS Business development  
 agreement  -      1.8 
 (Terminated in 2011)  
Kver AS Bergen Representative office  
 – rent/administration  
 agreement  -      2.5 
 (Terminated in 2011)  
Petrolia ASA Drilling and well advisory  
 services  -      3.0 
 (Terminated in 2011)  
Other Coverage of legal costs   -      3.3 
   4.7    10.6

Description of transactions with related parties: 
 

RAK Petroleum PCL 
DNO International ASA has entered into an agreement with RAK Pe-
troleum PCL for services including administrative support, commercial 
and legal support and certain expenses. The annual service fee is USD 
1 million. 
 

Increased Oil Recovery AS (IOR) – Former related party 
DNO has had a project consulting/business development agreement 
with IOR AS, where the former chairman of the board, Berge G. Larsen 
holds an ownership interest. The agreement was terminated after 
Berge G. Larsen left the DNO board in June 2011. 
 

Kver AS – Former closely related party 
DNO has had an administrative agreement with Kver AS, a company 
controlled by Berge G. Larsen. The agreement was terminated after 
Berge G. Larsen left the DNO board in June 2011. 
 

Petrolia ASA - Former related party 
DNO has had a consulting agreement with Petrolia ASA for drilling 
and well advisory services. Berge Gerdt Larsen is the chairman of 
Petrolia ASA and holds an ownership interest in Petrolia ASA. The 
agreement was terminated after Berge G. Larsen left the DNO board 
in June 2011. 
 

Other 
DNO has, in connection with legal cases and court proceedings 
involving inter alia DNO, companies associated with certain DNO key 
employees, consultants and directors and their related parties, cov-
ered third parties’ legal costs awaiting the final outcome of such cases 
and proceedings. All such cost coverage has been terminated by DNO. 
DNO has claimed reimbursement and will continue to seek reimburse-
ment of all third party legal costs covered by DNO. 
 

In addition to the above mentioned transactions, there are also trans-
actions between group companies.  
 
Overhead expenses in the parent company – DNO International ASA – 
are charged to the subsidiaries based on allocation of hours provided 
by the parent company. 

NOK mill

Trade and other payablesNote 19

     Years ended 31 December
NOK mill   2012 2011
   
Trade creditors    50.3   10.5 
Public duties payable    10.3   8.8 
Prepayment from customers    0.2   0.4 
Other accrued expenses    161.8   66.1 
Total trade and other payables   222.6   85.8 
   

Other accrued expenses also include working capital related to partici-
pation in oil and gas licenses.    

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 
30 to 60 day terms. Other payables are non-interest bearing and have 
an average term of one to two months.   
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Significant transactions in 
2012 and events after the 
 balance sheet date

Note 23

SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS/EVENTS IN 2012   

Completion of the DNO-RAK MENA merger and capital increase 
The transaction was completed and registered at the Norwegian Register 
of  Business Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret, Brønnøysund) on 10 January 
2012. See Note 11 for further information.  

Following the completion of the merger, RAK Petroleum PCL holds 
438,379,418 ordinary shares in DNO, representing 42.8 percent of the 
issued share capital. 
   
Partial payments for export   
In December, DNO received  a payment of USD 160 million from the Kurd-
istan Regional Government (KRG) for distribution to the foreign members 
of the Tawke joint venture as partial payment for past oil exports of oil 
from the Tawke field in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. DNO’s share of the 
payment is USD 116 million (NOK 651 million) which has been recognized 
as revenue in December. The remaining balance has been transferred to 
DNO’s partner Genel Energy plc. 

Based on the uncertainties related to the timing of the establishment of a 
payment mechanism, DNO will only recognize revenues from export sales 
based on cash received.    

Update on reserves   
In May, DNO released updated estimates setting its remaining proved 
plus probable (2P) company working interest reserves at 502 MMbbls 
(including condensate and other liquids) and 165 Bcf of gas at 31 March 
2012. This was up from a total of 372 MMbbls at 31 December 2011. The 
new figures are contained in a Competent Person Report prepared by 
independent petroleum consultants DeGolyer and MacNaughton.   
  
The revised figure for oil, an increase of 35 percent over the 31 Decem-
ber 2011 estimate, incorporates data from wells recently completed or 
underway at the Tawke field located in the Kurdistan region of Iraq. DNO’s 
remaining proved plus probable company working interest share of 
Tawke reserves is 455 million MMbbls at 31 March 2012 compared to 346 
MMbbls at 31 December 2011.

West Bukha-4, Oman  
DNO completed the West Bukha-4 well, Block 8 offshore the Sultan-
ate of Oman, in the end of October. The well flowed on a 54/64 inch 
choke 7,000 barrels of 39° API oil and 15 million cubic feet of gas per 
day through a test separator. At nearly 6,000 meters, West Bukha-4 is 
the longest reach well drilled offshore Oman.  
 
Benenan-3, the Kurdistan region of Iraq   
In November, DNO announced that the Benenan-3 well drilled on its 
Erbil license in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, encountered an additional 
210 meter oil column in the Najmeh reservoir. This is expected to more 
than double the Benenan field’s gross 2P oil-in-place volumes from 300 
MMbbls to an estimated 600–700 MMbbls. The well produced 800–1,000 
bopd of 12–16° API gravity oil from an open hole test in the Lower Najmeh 
interval, having earlier confirmed movable oil from an open hole test in 
the Bekhme formation.  
 
Executive changes – managing director stepping down  
On 28 December, Helge Eide announced that he would step down as 
managing director of DNO, effective from 31 December 2012. DNO has 
instigated a search for a replacement and in the interim period has 
named Bjørn Dale, its General Counsel to the additional position of Acting 

President/Managing Director. Under Eide’s termination agreement, he will 
continue to advise the Company on strategy and business development. 
His agreement with respect to three years salary at termination of work is 
carried forward in his new capacity as strategic advisor to the board, and 
has consequently no effect on the 2012 accounts. 

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 10 April 2013, the Company provided an operational update, noting 
that the Tawke-17 (Tawke Deep) exploration well in the Kurdistan region 
of Iraq had successfully encountered oil and gas shows in previously 
untested Triassic and Jurassic intervals underlying the main Cretaceous 
zones that have been developed to date.  In order to further assess the 
potential of the Tawke Deep structure an extensive testing program has 
been initiated.  The Company confirmed that operations elsewhere were 
continuing in line with expectations.

On 23 April 2013, the Company announced that it had entered into 
a  Production Sharing Contract (PSC) covering Block SL18 onshore 
 Somaliland. The 12,000 km2 block adds substantial exploration acreage to 
DNO’s portfolio in an area that is both prospective and undrilled.  Having 
been active across the Gulf of Aden in Yemen since the late 1990’s, the 
opportunity falls within the Company’s geographical and geological 
sphere of expertise. Studies have commenced ahead of an extensive 
seismic program planned for 2014.
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Company working interest proven and probable (2P) 
 reserves and resources* after royalty (unaudited) 

Note 24

MMboe NORTHERN EUROPE YEMEN KURDISTAN OMAN UAE AFRICA DNO GROUP

 Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Reserves Resources Total

1 January 2011  -     3.3   10.8   2.1   183.4   10.1 - - - -   -     1.5   194.2   17.0   211.2 
Discoveries. additions and extensions  -     -     -     0.1   7.9   1.1   -     -         7.9   1.2   9.1 
Acquisition of reserves/resources  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -    - - - -
Divestment of reserves/resources  -     -3.3   -     -     -     -     -     -     - - - - -     -3.3   -3.3 
Revision of previous estimates  -     -     0.5   -1.4   183.8   8.0   -     - - - - -     184.4   6.6   191.0 
Year 2011 production  -     -     -1.8   -     -12.8   -     -     - - - - -     -14.6   -     -14.6 
31 December 2011  -     -     9.5   0.9   362.3   19.2   - - - - -     1.5   371.9   21.6   393.5 
Discoveries. additions and extensions  -     -    -  -    - 6.1  -     -     - - - - -     6.1     6.1   
Acquisition of reserves/resources  -     -     -     -     -     -     26.5    15.2  20.3 - - 5.8     46.8     21.0     67.8   
Divestment of reserves/resources  -     -     -     -     -     -     -    -  - - - -1.5     -     -1.5     -1.5   
Revision of previous estimates  -     -    0.3 1.3 115.4 34.1  -     -    -  - - - 115.8     35.4     151.2   
Year 2012 production  -     -    -1.5 - -10.4 - -2.1  - - - -     -     -14.0     -    - 14.0
Total reserves and resources              
31 December 2012  -     -     8.4   2.2   467.3   59.5   24.4     15.2 20.3 - - 5.8   520.3   82.6   603.0

  YEMEN KURDISTAN OMAN UAE DNO GROUP 
Million boe  Reserves Reserves Reserves Reserves Reserves
31 December 2011  5.9  96.3  -    - 102.1
31 December 2012  5.5 118.0 21.8  20.3 165.6

* Reserves according to Annual Statement of Reserves released 29 April 2013, classification as in Norwegian Petroleum Directorate (NPD) class 1–3. Resources correspond 
to class 4–7 in NPD definitions. The figures represent best estimate (2P base case). The 2012 reserves evaluation and report was prepared by independent petroleum consul-
tants DeGolyer and MacNaughton.

As discussed above in the accounting principles, estimation of oil and gas reserves and resources involves uncertainty. The figures above represent 
management’s opinion of the most likely quantity of economically recoverable oil and gas estimated at year-end 2012, given the information at the 
time of reporting. The estimates have a large spread especially in fields where we have limited data. The uncertainty will be reduced as more informa-
tion becomes available through production history and reservoir information. In addition, for fields in the decline phase with limited remaining volumes, 
fluctuations in oil prices will have a significant impact on the profitability and hence the economic cut-off time for production from the fields.

DNO’s year-end 2012 proven and probable (2P) reserves are estimated at 520.3 MMboe on a CWI basis, which comprised of 495.4 million barrels (MMb-
bls) of oil (including condensate and other liquids) and 140.1 billion cubic feet (Bcf) of natural gas. The 40 percent increase in 2012 was driven principally 
by upward revisions at the Tawke field in the Kurdistan region of Iraq and reserve additions from the merger of RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries 
into DNO.

2P oil reserves for the Tawke field, adjusting for 2012 production were 447.7 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis. Also in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, 2P 
reserves for the Benenan and Bastora oil discoveries on the Erbil license were 19.6 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis.

In Yemen, 2P oil reserves, adjusting for 2012 production were 8.4 MMbbls net to DNO on a CWI basis.

2P reserves associated with the assets acquired from RAK Petroleum PCL, adjusting for 2012 production were 44.7 MMboe, which comprised of 19.7 
MMbbls of oil (including condensate and other liquids) and 140.1 Bcf of natural gas net to DNO on a CWI basis.

In addition to its class 1-3 2P CWI reserves, the Company held 82.6 MMboe in contingent resources, class 4-7 at year-end 2012.

The ICE forward curve for Brent Blend at 31 December 2012, adjusted for quality differences, has been used by DNO as a basis for calculating the economi-
cal remaining reserves.

Working interest shares in Oman, Yemen and the Kurdistan region of Iraq include DNO’s share of cost oil resulting from carried interests. 

The production figures include diesel used as fuel.

* Reserves according to NPD class 1–3 only.

Net entitlement reserves in Yemen, Oman and the Kurdistan region of Iraq are based on economic evaluations of the Production Sharing 
 Contracts and include a volume related to the notional tax paid on behalf of the contractors by the government.

The following table reflects DNO’s net entitlement (after royalty) proven and probable reserves*
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1 January–31 December

NOK 1,000        Note 2012 2011
   
OPERATING REVENUES   
Other operating revenues        2  12,338   23,301 
Total operating revenues         12,338 23,301
   
OPERATING EXPENSES   
Exploration expenses        4 1,342 -218
Ordinary depreciation        7 1,509 1,033
Impairment        7  -    33,073
Payroll and payroll-related expenses       3 91,853 77,833
Other operating expenses        4  76,641  57,199
Total operating expenses         171,346 168,920
   
OPERATING PROFIT/- LOSS         -159,007 -145,619
   
Net other financial items        5 32,201 -69,385
   
PROFIT/- LOSS BEFORE TAXES        -126,807 -215,004
   
Income taxes        6  -     -  

ANNUAL PROFIT/- LOSS         -126,807 -215,004
      
Transferred from/to other equity        -126,807 -215,004
Total allocations         -126,807 -215,004
   
Earnings per share, basic        18 -0.13 -0.23
Earnings per share, diluted        18 -0.13 -0.23

ASSETS    
 Years ended 31 December 
NOK 1,000        Note 2012 2011

FIXED ASSETS     
Tangible fixed assets   
Oil and gas properties        7  -     31,894 
Other tangible assets         7 3,265   2,172 
Total tangible fixed assets          3,265   34,066 
   
Financial fixed assets   
Shares in subsidiaries        8  3,005,991   1,784,046 
Intercompany receivables        19  587,739   1 381,355 
Other investments        8  2,525   -   
Total financial fixed assets          3,596,255   3,165,401 
   
Total fixed assets          3,599,519   3,199,467 
      
CURRENT ASSETS   
Trade and other receivables        9  12,463   15,523 
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted       10  8,918   7,656 
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted       10  1,343,284   1,520,687 
Total current assets          1,364,664   1,543,866 
   
TOTAL ASSETS          4,964,184   4,743,333 
   

Income statements

Balance sheets
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    Years ended 31 December 

NOK 1,000        Note 2012 2011

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Paid-in capital   
Share capital          255,820   237,464 
Treasury shares         -3,263 -20,000
Share premium account          808,910   251,634 
Other paid-in capital         503,339  -   
Total paid-in capital        11  1,564,807   469,098 
Retained earnings   
Retained earnings          850,465   977,271 
Total retained earnings        11  850,465   977,271 
   
Total shareholders’ equity          2,415,272   1,446,370 

LIABILITIES   
Provisions for liabilities and charges   
Other liabilities and charges          6,969   3,702 
Total provision for liabilities and charges         6,969   3,702 
   
Other long-term liabilities   
Long-term intercompany debt       19  1,130,693   1,553,423 
Bond loans        13  1,324,602   1,377,400 
Total other long-term liabilities         2,455,295   2,930,823 
   
Current liabilities   
Interest-bearing short-term debt       13  -   264,964 
Non-interest bearing short-term debt       14  86,648   97,474 
Total current liabilities          86,648   362,438 
   
Total liabilities          2,548,912   3,296,963 
   
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         4,964,184   4,743,333 
   
Collateral        13  
Guarantees        12  
Financial instruments         15 

Oslo, 30 April 2013

 Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani  Gunnar Hirsti  Shelley Watson
 Executive Chairman  Deputy Chairman  Board Member

 Marit Instanes  Karen Sund  Lars Arne Takla Bjørn Dale
Board Member  Board Member  Board Member Acting President/ 
   Managing Director



NOK 1,000         Note 2012 2011
 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Profit/-loss before tax         -126,807 -215,004
Taxes paid        6  -     -   
Depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets      7 1,509 34,106
Impairment of financial assets       5 17,928     236,331   
Gain-/loss on sale of operating assets and securities        8 30,086 -171,636
Changes in net current assets and other accruals        28,388 49,017
Net cash flow from operating activities        -48,896 -67,186

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Payments made for investments in oil and gas properties      7 -2,602 -5,483
Payments received on disposal of tangible fixed assets       1,622  -   
Payments made for acquisitions of bonds, securities, stocks and shares      -3,871  -   
Payments received on disposal of shares       8 1,690 521,418
Net cash flow from investing activities in subsidiaries        335,233 504,594
Net cash flow from investing activities        332,072 1,020,529

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
New interest-bearing debt        13 -    1,309,110
Repayment of interest-bearing debt       13 -279,256 -1,527,397
Purchase of treasury shares and options       11 -106,967 -557,924
Sale of treasury shares and options       11  -     -   
Proceeds from issuance of shares       11  -     -   
Net cash flow -used in/from financing activities        -386,379 -776,210
   
Effects of change in currency (cash and cash equivalents)       -72,938 22,837
   
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January        1,528,343 1,328,374
Net change in cash and cash equivalents        -176,141 199,969
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December       10 1,352,202 1,528,343
   
Hereof restricted cash and cash equivalents        8,918 7,656

Cash flow statements
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Accounting principlesNote 01

General
The financial statements of DNO International ASA (the Company) 
are presented in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and 
Norwegian generally accepted accounting principles. The accompany-
ing notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Use of estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the balance sheet dates and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expense during the reported periods. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

Currency
The financial statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK), 
which is the functional currency of the Company. Cash items denomi-
nated in foreign currencies are converted using exchange rates on the 
balance sheet date. Realized and unrealized currency gains and losses 
are included in the annual profit (loss). Foreign currency transactions 
are recorded using exchange rates on the date of transaction.

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the DNO group have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and have been presented separate from the parent 
company accounts.

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are recorded at 
historical cost. 

If the market value of the investment is lower than the carrying 
value, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis of the 
investment is established.

Valuation and classification of balance sheet items
Current assets and short-term liabilities include items due less than 
one year from draw-down and items related to the operating cycle. 
Other assets/liabilities are classified as fixed assets/long-term liabili-
ties. Shares and investments not intended for permanent ownership 
are classified as current assets. 

Shares, bonds, certificates, etc.
Shares, bonds, certificates, etc. classified as current assets are valued 
at the lower of their historical cost and market value. Other shares 
classified as fixed assets are valued at their cost price and impaired in 
the case of permanent and significant decline in value. Money market 
funds are valued at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments 
with insignificant interest rate risk and with original maturities of three 
months or less.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment charges. Capital lease assets are record-
ed at the present value of future lease obligations or fair value if lower. 

Capitalized costs for oil and gas properties are depreciated using 
the unit-of-production method. The rate of depreciation is equal to 
the ratio of oil and gas production for the period to proved and prob-
able developed and undeveloped reserves. In addition to capitalized 
cost, estimated future investments that have been considered in the 
calculation of the Company’s reserves are added to the basis for 

depreciation. For capitalized acquisition costs the rate is equal to the 
ratio of oil and gas production for the period to proved and probable 
reserves.

The Company records impairment provisions when the book value 
of oil and gas properties – or other assets where separate cash flows 
can be identified – exceeds discounted future expected cash flows. 
The impairment amount is the difference between the book value and 
the fair value of the asset. Capitalized costs relating to production are 
depreciated under the unit-of-production method. 

Liabilities relating to the acquisition of license interests, for which 
the Company has entered into long-term bank financing agreements, 
are classified as long-term liabilities.

Amortization of capital lease assets is included in Depreciation, 
depletion and amortization.

Machinery and equipment is depreciated using straight-line 
method based on estimated useful life. Estimated useful life varies 
between 3–5 years for these assets.

 
Exploration and development costs for oil and gas properties 
The Company employs the successful efforts method to account 
for exploration and development costs. All exploration costs, with 
the exception of acquisition costs of licenses and drilling costs of 
exploration wells, are charged to expense as incurred. Drilling costs 
of exploration wells are temporarily capitalized pending the evalu-
ation of potential existence of oil and gas reserves. If reserves are 
not found, or if discoveries are assessed not to be technically and 
commercially recoverable, the drilling costs of exploration wells are 
expensed. Costs of acquiring licenses are capitalized and presented 
as tangible assets, and periodically assessed for impairment. All 
costs of developing commercial oil and/or gas fields are capitalized. 
Pre-production costs are expensed as incurred.

Interest expenses and own expenses relating to development projects 
Interest expenses and own expenses relating to development projects 
are capitalized and depreciated under the unit-of-production method. 
Expenses related to financing are capitalized and amortized over the 
loan period.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are computed according to the liability method. Based 
on the tax rates and tax provisions applicable on the balance sheet 
date, deferred taxes are computed on temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of the Company’s assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the carrying amount of the Company’s assets 
and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred tax benefits and deferred 
tax liabilities in the same tax regime are netted in the balance sheet. 
 Capitalization of deferred tax benefit presupposes that future applica-
tion can be rendered probable.

Pension obligations
The Company records pension schemes according to the Norwegian 
accounting standard for pension costs. The Company has contribution 
plans for its employees. For contribution plans, only the contributions 
paid during the period are expensed. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenues from services are recorded when the service has been 
performed.

Maintenance and repairs 
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Significant costs 
considered to increase the production capacity or to extend the useful 
economic life of the facilities are capitalized.  



Accounting principles  
continues

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowances for doubtful accounts are made for foreseeable losses on 
trade receivables.

Contingent gains/losses
According to Norwegian accounting standards relating to contingent 
items, provisions are made for contingent losses that are probable and 
quantifiable, while contingent gains are not taken to income.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is based on the indirect method. Cash 
equivalents include bank deposits and liquid funds maturing in less 
than three months. 

Other operating revenues

Salaries, pensions, 
 remuneration, shares,  
options and s everance

Note 01

Note 02

Note 03

NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Other operating revenues    12,338   23,301 
Gain from sale of license interests   -     -   
Total other operating revenues  12,338 23,301

Other operating revenues relate to sale of hours to subsidiaries at 
arm’s length terms.  

Payroll expenses (NOK 1,000)  2012 2011
Salaries, bonuses, options etc.   64,606   67,384 
Employer’s payroll tax expense  
incl. payroll tax on options     14,277   8,497 
Pensions    3,066   2,372 
Other personnel costs    16,018   6,449 
Reclassification of payroll and payroll-related  
expenses to exploration and production costs  -6,115 -6,869
Payroll and payroll-related expenses   91,853   77,833 
Average number of man-labour years  44 38
    

Payroll expenses relating to participation in non-operated licenses 
are classified as exploration and production costs in the profit or loss 
statement.
    
Pensions    
DNO has a defined contribution scheme for employees in the 
 Company. The  pension costs in the 2012 accounts are related only 
to premiums for the employees of the Company. DNO meets the 
 Norwegian requirements for mandatory occupational pension 
 (obligatorisk tjenestepensjon).    

DIRECTOR, EXECUTIVE AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION  
    
Remuneration paid to the directors of the board  2012 2011
Berge G. Larsen, former Executive Chairman   441,666   307,000
Trygve Bruvik, former Deputy Chairman   -     129,250
Elin Karfjell, former Board member   -     140,250
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman   1,658,334   -   
Gunnar Hirsti, Deputy Chairman   929,375   289,500
Shelley Watson, Board member   833,125   152,750 
 Marit Instanes, Board member   800,000   306,000 
Lars Arne Takla, Board member   175,000   -   
Karen Sund, Board member    545,417   -   
Total    5,382,917   1,324,750

The principles for remuneration to the board of directors were 
changed in 2012, resulting in both 2011 and 2012 fees paid in 2012.  
   
The 2012 figures include remuneration for the period from 9 June 2011 
to 31  December 2012. The 2011 figures include remuneration paid for 
the period from June 2010 to June 2011. Included in the 2012 figures 
is NOK 425,000 which has been paid as fees for work related to 
the audit committee, the remuneration  committee and nomination 
 committee to Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Gunnar Hirsti, Marit Instanes 
and Shelley Watson.     

Note 03

Remuneration to  
Managing Director  
and key management  
in 2012 (NOK mill) Salary Bonus Pension Other Total
Helge Eide, former  
Managing Director *   3.97   1.55   0.06   0.64   6.22
Bjørn Dale, Acting President/ 
Managing Director 2.71   0.50   0.06   0.11   3.37
Magne Normann,  
SVP Development  3.44   0.60   0.06   0.29   4.39
Tore Lilloe-Olsen,  
VP Exploration  2.48   0.60   0.06   0.12   3.25
Trond Myrseth,  
VP Operations 2.50   0.60   0.06   0.12   3.28 
Haakon Sandborg,  
VP Chief Financial Officer  2.16   0.60   0.06   0.12   2.94
Tom Bratlie,  
Director of Corporate Communications  
and Public Affairs  2.11   0.60   0.06   0.10   2.86 
Anita Hjerkinn Aarnæs,  
Director of Human Resources  1.93   0.25   0.06   0.08   2.32 
      
   
* Helge Eide’s employment as Managing Director terminated on 31 December 
2012. His agreement on severance payment of three times annual salary has been 
carried forward in his new capacity as strategic advisor to the board of directors. 
General Counsel Bjørn Dale has been named to the additional position of Acting 
Managing Director.   
     

No loans have been granted and no guarantees have been issued for 
executives, shareholders or directors.    
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Salaries, pensions, 
 remuneration, shares, options 
and s everance continues

Note 03

DECLARATION REGARDING DETERMINATION OF SALARY AND OTHER REMU-
NERATION TO THE MANAGING DIRECTOR AND OTHER SENIOR EMPLOYEES

The management remuneration for 2012 was in accordance with the 
directions approved by the general meeting in June 2012. Annual 
bonus for 2012 varied between one and three month’s salary for all 
employees.
     
According to the article in the Norwegian Act relating to public limited 
liability companies § 6–16a, cf § 5–6 (3), the general meeting shall 
consider the board’s declaration regarding determination of salary 
and other remuneration to the general manager and senior employees 
for the coming financial year. The board will propose the following 
declaration for the annual general meeting to consider:  
   
The board of directors of DNO International ASA has since 2003 had 
a remuneration committee which consider questions related to the 
compensation to the managing director and key management. When 
determining the methods that shall be used for evaluating the remu-
neration and possible bonus, options and other incentive arrangements, 
the committee shall ensure that the size of the remuneration reflects the 
duties and responsibilities of the employees, and that the arrangements 
shall also contribute to the long term value added for the Company’s 
shareholders.
    

SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD BY DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVES  
AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONELL AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012
   
Directors of the Board and key management  Shares Options
Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani, Executive Chairman *   -     -   
Gunnar Hirsti, Deputy Chairman (Hirsti Invest AS)  240,000   -   
Shelley Watson, Board member *   -     -   
Marit Instanes, Board member   18,288   -   
Lars Arne Takla, Board member   10,000   - 
Karen Sund, Board member    10,000   -   
Helge Eide, former Managing Director    1,515,000  -
Bjørn Dale, Acting President/Managing Director   -     - 
Magne Normann, SVP Development    1,771,996   -   
Tore Lilloe-Olsen, VP Exploration   100,000    - 
 Trond Myrseth, VP Operations  -  -
Haakon Sandborg, VP Chief Financial Officer   -    -
Tom Bratlie, Director of Corporate Communications 
and Public Affairs    10,000  -
Anita Hjerkinn Aarnæs, Director of Human Resources  -     -   
Total    3,675,284   -   
    
* Shelley Watson and Bijan Mossavar-Rahmani were nominated by RAK Petroleum 
PCL, the largest shareholder which as of 31 December 2012 holds 43.39 percent of 
the shares in DNO (adjusted for treasury shares, see Note 15 in the consolidated 
financial statements).    
    

Except from synthetic share options, no options were expensed in 
2012. The share option program ended on 30 June 2012. 
 
 
AUDITORS’ FEES  

All figures are exclusive of VAT (NOK 1 000)  2012 2011
Auditors’ fee    1,590   1,400 
Other financial auditing    4,107   1,712 
Total, auditing fees    5,697   3,112 
Other assistance    35   8 
Tax assistance    4,294   1,678 
Total auditors’ fees    10,026   4,797

Fixed salary  
No upper or lower limit for the determination of fixed salary to key 
management has been set by the board of directors for the coming 
financial year beyond the main principles set out above.    
   
Variable elements   
In addition to the fixed salary, the Company has the following arrange-
ments in order to keep management priorities in accordance with 
goals and strategies, set by the board of directors:

Annual bonus  

Bonus arrangements have been in place for several years to ensure 
priority for important business objectives. The annual bonus is maxi-
mized to three months salary. Target figures are partly financial or op-
erational, including health, safety and environment.  

Share-based bonus scheme  

Up to the end of June 2012, DNO had a share-based bonus scheme. 
The objective of the scheme has been to ensure a continuous high 
focus on developing value for shareholders, in addition to strengthen-
ing the incentive program for management and resource persons in 
the Company. 

Payment under the scheme has been calculated on the rise in the 
Company’s share price in the bonus period, within specified share 
price intervals. No shares or ordinary options have been granted under 
this bonus scheme.  
    
All employees including key management as defined above, have been 
part of the scheme. All other ordinary bonus payments have been 
deducted in the share-based bonus payment. The share-based bonus 
scheme was terminated on 30 June 2012. Total expensed in 2012 was 
NOK 2.5 million. 

An employee share-saving plan has been introduced in 2013, where 
employees can save parts of their salary in Company shares.  
  
Severance pay agreements  
Severance pay agreements (equal to one or two times annual salary) 
have also been entered into with the following key employees in DNO 
International ASA: Bjørn Dale, Magne Normann, Tore Lilloe-Olsen, 
Trond Myrseth, Haakon Sandborg, Tom Bratlie and Anita Hjerkinn 
Aarnæs.



Note 04 Note 06

Note 05

EXPLORATION EXPENSES  
 
NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Exploration expenses   1,342 -218
  
Total exploration expenses   1,342 -218
  

Exploration expenses were positive in 2011 mainly due to reversal and 
repayment of previous estimated costs for a relinquished block. 
 
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES  
 
NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Lease expense – buildings and equipment   8,836   9,809 
Other office costs    16,169   15,310 
Travel expenses    7,055   4,413 
Legal expenses   52,742   22,817 
Consultant fees     36,773   51,111 
Other general and administrative costs   6,853   6,809 
Management fees to group companies  -82,216 -53,070
Loss from sale of PP&E    30,430   -   

Total other operating expenses   76,641   57,199 
  

Legal expenses are higher in 2012 mainly due to the merger process 
with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries, preparations for a 
 possible dual listing and the ØKOKRIM case.  
  
Loss from sale of PP&E is related to sale of the license interest in 
Equatorial Guinea. For more information on the sale, see Note 7. 

NOK 1,000   2012 2011
  
Taxes payable    -     -   
Change in deferred taxes    -     -   
Income taxes    -     -   

 
EFFECTIVE TAX RATES  
 
NOK 1,000   2012 2011
  
Profit/- loss before taxes   -126,807 -215,004
  
Expected income tax according to nominal tax rate (28%) -35,506 -60,201
Adjustment of deferred tax assets not capitalized  34,321 17,385
Tax-free gain/loss on sale of shares  -93 -48,058
Change in previous years   620 76,992
Other items   658 13,881
  
Total income taxes    -    - 
Effective tax rate (including change in deferred taxes) 0 % 0 %

Exploration expenses/ 
other operating expenses

Taxes

Net other financial items

NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Interest received    4,153   18,282 
Interest received from group companies   177,677   94,788 
Gain on foreign exchange    33,232   27,085 
Other financial revenues    103   1,816 
Net gain/-loss on sale of securities   344   171,636 
Total financial income    215,508   313,607 
  
Interest expense   -139,628 -146,661
Interest expense group companies  -     -   
Loss on foreign exchange   -25,751  -   
Impairment/Reversal of impairment financial assets  -17,928 -236,331
Other financial expenses    -     -   
Total financial expenses   -183,307 -382,992
  
Net other financial items   32,201 -69,385
  

The increase in interest received from group companies is mainly due 
to loan facilities with new group companies following the merger with 
RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries on 10 January 2012.

The net gain on sale of securities in 2011 was related to gain on sale of 
shares in Det norske oljeselskap ASA. In 2012 the net gain relates to 
sale of shares in Calvalley Petroleum Inc.

In 2012, the receivable from DNO UK Ltd has been impaired by NOK 
7.4 million (2011: NOK 25 million) and the receivable from DNO Tunisia 
AS has been impaired by NOK 10.5 million (2011: NOK 177 million). 
 

 
THE TAX EFFECT OF TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES  
AND LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD  
 
NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Property, plant & equipment   -368 -9,550
Other fixed items (receivables, abandonment, etc.)  -130,536 -117,058
Losses carried forward   -303,447 -273,422
Total, basis for deferred taxes/(tax assets)  -434,352 -400,030
Deferred tax asset allowance   434,352 400,030
Total deferred taxes/(tax assets)  -     -   
Capitalized deferred tax assets   -     -   
Capitalized deferred tax liabilities  - -
  

Tax rates effective at 31 December 2012 have been used to calculate 
deferred taxes. The tax rate is 28 percent for revenues in Norway.
  
The tax loss carry forward is NOK 303 million (28 percent of NOK  
1,082 million) as of year-end 2012. The carrying forward period for the 
unused losses in Norway is indefinite.

The Company is subject to certain tax audits by the Norwegian IRS. 
The Company expects no material effects from the audits. 
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Note 07

Note 08

Property, plant and equipment

Subsidiaries and other investments

  License  Exploration  Fields in   Other  Total
NOK 1,000  costs  costs  development  tangible assets  PP&E
Cost 1 January 2012       69,729    8,574    78,302 
Additions 2012   -      -      -      2,602    2,602 
Disposals 2012   -      -     -69,729  -     -69,729
Transfers 2012       -     -      -   
Cost 31 December 2012   -      -      -      11,176   11,176 
Accum. depreciation 1 January 2012  -      -     -37,835  -6,402  -44,237
Depreciation 2012   -      -       -1,509  -1,509
Impairments 2012   -     -     -      -      -   
Accumulated depreciation disposals  -            -      -   -  
Disposals and transfers 2012   -      -      37,835    -      37,835 
Acc. depr. & impairments 31 December 2012  -      -      -     -7,911  -7,911
Book value 31 December 2012  -      -      -     3,265    3,265 
Book value 31 December 2011  -      -      31,894    2,172    34,066 
     

Exploration costs are capitalized pending the evaluation of potential existence of oil and gas reserves.
  
In 2012 DNO’s five percent interest in Block P in Equatorial Guinea was sold to Crown Energy and a loss of NOK 30.4 million has been recorded in 
the profit and loss during the year.
 
Other tangible assets (office equipment and IT system) are depreciated using a linear method based on estimated useful life of three to five years.

Subsidiaries   Company’s  Ownership and Company’s Company’s Company’s Book 
owned by   business voting interest  share capital  equity in profit/-loss in value in 
DNO International ASA   address  (in %) in  1,000 NOK 1,000 NOK 1,000 NOK 1,000
      
DNO Yemen AS   Oslo 100% NOK 291,000  1,911,591 216,092 481,000
DNO UK Ltd   London 100% GBP 0 -30,154 -9,523  -   
DNO Iraq AS   Oslo 100%  NOK 600  1,806,297 1,006,509  1,252,416 
DNO Tunisia AS    Oslo 100%  NOK 900  -6,407 -30,354  18,225 
DNO Invest AS   Oslo 100% NOK 8,000 52,877 -1,899  50,000 
DNO Mena AS   Oslo 100% NOK 100 -105,379 -105,582  1,204,350 
Total       3,628,825    1,075,243 3,005,991
      

Other investments      
Other investments of NOK 2.5 million relate to shares in Calvalley Petroleum Inc.     
      
The subsidiary DNO Mena AS holds the assets acquired in connection with the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries in January 
2012. For more information on the merger, see Note 11 in the consolidated accounts.       
  
A cash contribution of NOK 17.7 million (USD 3 million) to DNO Tunisia AS was made in June in connection with a debt conversion whereby a 
receivable of NOK 183.4 million on DNO Tunisia AS was converted to equity.



Note 11 Shareholders’ equity

    Share  Treasury, shares  Treasury, shares Share premium  Other paid- Other 
NOK 1,000   capital  number (1,000)  amount  account  in capital  equity Total

Shareholders’ equity on 1 January  2011 237,464  -     -    369,756 419,802 1,192,275 2,219,297
Purchase of treasury shares including options  -     80,000  -20,000  -    -537,924  -    -557,924
Sale of treasury shares including options  -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Transferred to share premium account   -     -     -    -118,122  118,122   -     -   
Loss for the year  -     -     -     -     -    -215,004 -215,004
Shareholders’ equity on 31 December 2011 237,464 80,000 -20,000  251,634   -    977,271 1,446,370
 
Shareholders’ equity on 1 January 2012 237,464  80,000  -20,000 251,634 -  977,271  1,446,370
Purchase of treasury shares including options  -     13,050  -3,263  -    -103,861  -    -107,123
Consideration shares RAK MENA merger  -    -80,000  20,000   -    607,200  -     627,200 
Share issue   18,356   -     -     557,276   -     -     575,631 
Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -    -126,807 -126,807
Shareholders’ equity on 31 December 2012 255,820  13,050  -3,263 808,910 503,339 850,465 2,415,272
      

In January 2012, DNO completed a share issue in accordance with the resolution approved by the EGM. The share capital was increased by NOK 
18,355,585.75 by issuing 73,422,343 new shares as a partial consideration for the merger with RAK Petroleum PCL’s MENA subsidiaries.  
     
Following the capital increase, the share capital in DNO International ASA is NOK 255,819,813.75 comprized of 1,023,279,255 shares of NOK 0.25 
each. All issued shares are fully paid. All shares have equal voting and dividend rights.        
 
For other information regarding the Company’s equity and shareholders, see Note 15 and Note 23 in the consolidated accounts.

Note 09

Note 10

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

NOK 1,000         2012 2011
Trade receivables          840   439 
Prepayments and accrued income         9,622   7,031 
Other current receivables         2,000  8,053 
Total other current receivables        12,463 15,523

NOK 1,000         2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted        1,343,284 1,520,687
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted        8,918 7,656
Total cash and cash equivalents        1,352,202 1,528,343

The cash is mainly in USD and NOK.
  
Restricted cash relates to employees’ tax deduction.  
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Note 19 Intercompany

LONG-TERM INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES   
 
NOK 1,000  Currency 2012 2011
DNO UK Ltd  GBP  -   - 
DNO Iraq AS  USD  94,239   1,360,993 
DNO Tunisia AS  USD  25,145   5,000 
DNO Invest AS  NOK  54   15,362 
DNO Mena AS  USD  468,301   -
Total long-term intercompany receivables   587,739   1,381,355 
   
LONG-TERM INTERCOMPANY DEBT   
 
NOK 1,000  Currency 2012 2011
DNO Yemen AS  USD  1,130,693   1,553,423 
Total long-term intercompany debt   1,130,693   1,553,423 
  

Intercompany receivables and debt are interest bearing with an 
 average interest rate of 8.51 percent charged for 2012 and 5.47 percent 
for 2011. 

A receivable of NOK 183.4 million from DNO Tunisia AS was converted 
to equity in June. The receivable from DNO UK Ltd was impaired by 
NOK 7.4 million in 2012. 
  
The long-term NOK receivable from DNO Yemen AS was settled in 
2011.
   
The receivable from DNO Tunisia AS was impaired by NOK 177 million 
in 2011. The receivable from DNO UK Ltd was impaired by NOK 25 
 million in 2011.   

Note 14

Note 15

Current liabilities

Financial instruments  
and risk management

Note 12 Guarantees and commitments

For information regarding guarantees and commitments, see Note 18 
in the consolidated accounts.

Note 13 Interest-bearing liabilities

See Note 16 in the consolidated accounts for information on other 
interest-bearing liabilities as all are relevant to DNO International ASA. 
   

Note 18 Earnings per share

NOK 1,000   2012 2011
    
Net loss attributable to  
ordinary equity holders of the parent   -126,807   -215,004 
    
Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares)    1,014.4   934.6 
    
Effect of dilution:    
Options    -     -   
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding  
treasury shares)  adjusted for the effect of dilution   1,014.4   934.6 
    
Earnings per share, basic   -0.13 -0.23
Earnings per share, diluted   -0.13 -0.23

NOK 1,000   2012 2011
Accounts payable    22,913   10,413 
Public duties payable     4,240   3,843 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     59,495   83,217 
Total non-interest-bearing current liabilities   86,648   97,474 
  

Included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities are 
 provisions for incurred costs.

Note 16 Related party disclosure

Overhead expenses in the parent company, DNO International ASA are 
allocated to the subsidiaries, based on how much they have used the 
services provided by the parent company.  
  
The parent company has loan facilities with all subsidiaries. The loans 
are interest bearing with DNO’s average interest rate on borrowings 
and a commission fee. 

See Note 22 in the consolidated accounts for further description of 
transactions with related parties.  
  

See Note 9 in the consolidated accounts for further information on 
financial instruments and risk management.  
  

Note 17 Contingencies and events  
after the balance sheet date

For information on contingencies and events after the balance sheet 
date, see Note 18 and Note 23 in the consolidated accounts.
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Glossary and definitions

2D seismic 
A group of 2D seismic lines acquired 
 individually

3D seismic 
Multiple and closely spaced seismic lines 
acquired together in a grid formation

AGM
Annual General Meeting

API gravity
An American Petroleum Institute measure of 
how heavy or light petroleum is compared to 
water. The lighter the liquid, the higher the 
degree API

Appraisal well   
A well drilled to follow up a discovery and 
evaluate its commercial potential

Basement 
The rock underlying the typical oil-bearing or 
oil-generating formations

bbls
Barrels of oil

Bcf
Billion cubic feet

Black-Scholes model 
A mathematical model of a financial market 
containing derivative investment instruments 
from which the Black–Scholes formula can be 
derived for the pricing of options

boe 
Barrels of oil equivalent

bopd/boepd
Barrels of oil per day/barrels of oil equivalent 
per day

Capital employed
Equity plus interest-bearing debt

CET
Central European Time

Company
DNO International ASA

Company working interest (CWI)
The percentage interest ownership DNO has 
in reserves and production within a specified 
contract area after deducting the royalty from 
gross revenues and including DNO’s share of 
cost oil resulting from carried interests 

Company working interest reserves
Reserves based on company working interest 
production

Condensate 
Condensates are a portion of natural gas in 
the gaseous phase at temperature and pres-
sure of the reservoirs but, when produced, 
are in the liquid phase at surface pressure 
and temperature

Contingent resources
Quantities of petroleum which are estimated, 
on a given date, to be potentially recoverable 
from known accumulations, but which are 
not currently considered to be commercially 
recoverable, or where a PDO has not yet 
been submitted

Contractor 
An oil company operating in a country under 
a PSA/PSC on behalf of the host government, 
for which it receives either a share of produc-
tion or a fee

Corporate Governance Code
The Norwegian Code of Practice for corpo-
rate governance published by the Norwegian 
Corporate Governance Board on 21 October 
2010, as amended

Cost oil
The oil (or revenues) used to reimburse the 
contractor for exploration costs, development 
capital costs and operating costs

Crude oil 
Crude oil is the portion of petroleum that 
exists in the liquid phase in natural under-

ground reservoirs and remains liquid at 
atmospheric conditions of pressure and 
temperature

D&M
DeGolyer and MacNaughton Corporation

DD&A 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

DNO
DNO International ASA

DNO group
The company and its consolidated subsidiaries

EBITDA 
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortization

Farm-in
To acquire an interest in a license from 
another party

Farm-out
To assign an interest in a license to another 
party

FDA cost 
Finding, developing and acquisition cost

Finding cost 
The amount of money spent per unit (barrel 
of oil or oil equivalent) to acquire reserves. 
Includes discoveries, acquisitions and revi-
sions to previous reserve estimates

Government take 
The sum of royalties and governmental share 
of profit oil, including that of a government-
controlled enterprise

HSSE
Health, safety, security and environment

Hydrocarbons
Compounds containing only the elements 
of hydrogen and carbon, which may exist as 
solid, liquid or gas
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IAS
International Accounting Standards

IRS
Internal Revenue Service

KRG
Kurdistan Regional Government

LIBOR
London inter-bank offered rate

License or permit
Area of specified size, which is licensed to a 
company by the government for production 
of oil or gas

MENA
Middle East and North Africa

MMbbl, MMbbls
Million barrels

MMboe 
Million barrels of oil equivalent

MMcfd
Million cubic feet of gas per day

MMscf
Million standard cubic feet

Natural gas 
Natural gas is the portion of petroleum that 
exists either in the gaseous phase or is in so-
lution in crude oil in natural underground res-
ervoirs, and which is gaseous at atmospheric 
conditions of pressure and temperature

Net entitlement 
The percentage interest ownership after 
deducting royalty and the government share. 
Includes volumes related to the income tax 
paid by the government on behalf of the 
contractors

Net entitlement reserves 
Reserves based on net entitlement production

Netback 
EBITDA adjusted for taxes paid

NIBOR
Norwegian inter-bank offered rate

Operator
A company that organizes the exploration 
and productions programs in a permit or 
license on behalf of all the interest holders in 
the permit or license

Oslo Stock Exchange
Oslo Børs ASA

PP&E
Property, plant and equipment

Production Sharing Agreement/Production 
Sharing Contract (PSA/PSC)
A contractual agreement between a contrac-
tor and a host government, whereby the 
contractor bears all exploration costs, risks, 
development and production costs in return 
for a stipulated share of the production 
resulting from this effort

Profit oil 
Production remaining after royalty and cost 
oil, which is split between the government 
and the contractors according to the prevail-
ing contract terms (PSA/PSC)

Prospective resources
Deposits that are estimated, on a given date, 
to be potentially recoverable from accumula-
tions yet to be discovered

Reserves
Volumes of hydrocarbons that can be 
expected to be produced from known accu-
mulations with the plans that are approved or 
likely to be approved in the near future. Re-
serves must further satisfy four criteria: they 
must be discovered, recoverable, commercial 
and remaining based on the development 
project(s) applied

Royalty 
A fraction of gross oil production, before any 
attribution to cost oil, payable to a govern-
mental body

Seismic data
A principal source of information used to aid 
exploration for new hydrocarbon deposits 
and manage or enhance production from 
known reservoirs by utilizing acoustic meas-
uring technology to generate an image of the 
subsurface 

Share(s)
Ordinary shares in DNO with a nominal value 
of NOK 0.25

Shareholder(s)
Shareholder(s) of the Company

SOMO
State Oil Marketing Organization of Iraq

SPE
Society of Petroleum Engineers

Spud or Spudding 
Initiation of drilling operations

STOIIP
Stock tank oil initially in place

Tcf
Trillion cubic feet of gas

Upstream 
The upstream oil and gas sector is also 
commonly referred to as the exploration and 
production (E&P) sector. Upstream activities 
include the search for potential crude oil and 
natural gas deposits, drilling of exploratory 
wells, and subsequently drilling and operat-
ing the wells and associated infrastructure 
that recover and bring the crude oil and/or 
natural gas to the surface
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